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LETTER OF TRANSMITTAL

HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES,
COMMITTEE ON ETHICS,
Washington, DC, August 1, 2017.

Hon. KAREN L. Haas,
Clerk, House of Representatives,
Washington, DC.

DEAR Ms. HaAS: Pursuant to clauses 3(a)(2) and 3(b) of rule XI
of the Rules of the House of Representatives, we herewith transmit
the attached report, “In the Matter of Allegations Relating to Rep-
resentative Ben Ray Lujan.”

Sincerely,
SusaN W. BROOKS,
Chairwoman.
THEODORE E. DEUTCH,
Ranking Member.
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House Calendar No. 76

REPORT

115TH CONGRESS
HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES 115-272

1st Session

IN THE MATTER OF ALLEGATIONS RELATING TO
REPRESENTATIVE BEN RAY LUJAN

AuGUST 1, 2017.—Referred to the House Calendar and ordered to be printed

Mrs. BROOKS of Indiana, from the Committee on Ethics,
submitted the following

REPORT

In accordance with House Rule XI, clauses 3(a)(2) and 3(b), the
Committee on Ethics (Committee) hereby submits the following Re-
port to the House of Representatives:

I. INTRODUCTION

On May 11, 2017, the Office of Congressional Ethics (OCE)
transmitted to the Committee a Report and Findings (OCE’s Refer-
ral) regarding Representative Ben Ray Lujan. OCE reviewed alle-
gations that Representative Lujan violated laws, House rules, and
other standards of conduct by (1) improperly conducting campaign
or political activity from the floor of the House of Representatives;
(2) improperly soliciting campaign contributions from a federal
building; and (3) improperly using an image of a House of Rep-
resentatives floor proceeding for campaign and political purposes.!

OCE found that there was “substantial reason to believe that
Representative Lujan conducted campaign or political activity from
the House Floor, solicited a campaign contribution from a federal
building, or used an image of a House Floor proceeding for cam-
paign or political purposes.”2 For that reason, OCE recommended
that the Committee further review these allegations.? However,
OCE acknowledged that “the evolving nature of electronic commu-
nications and campaign solicitations sometimes presents novel
issues that are not directly addressed by the House Ethics Man-
ual,” and that OCE’s review “raised difficult questions about the

10CE’s Referral at 1 (Appendix A).
2]d. at 1, 16.
31d. at 1.
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application of House rules to solicitations via email.”4 OCE sug-
gested that “Members may benefit from additional guidance re-
garding campaign activities and electronic communications.” 5

The Committee agreed that this was an area where additional
guidance could be useful, and did further review the allegations.
Following its review, the Committee concluded that the evidence is
insufficient to warrant further action against Representative
Lujan. Specifically, the Committee did not find that Representative
Lujan engaged in campaign or political activity, or solicited cam-
paign contributions, from the House Floor or any other federal
building. The Committee did find that Representative Lujan’s cam-
paign consultant used an image of House proceedings from the
House recording system in a campaign communication, which was
an inadvertent, technical violation of House Rule V, clause 2(c)(1).
Members are ultimately responsible for actions taken in their name
that they delegate to third parties. Thus, Members should take rea-
sonable steps to ensure that their campaign committees or consult-
ants comply with all applicable laws, rules, and regulations. How-
ever, given the limited nature of the violation, as well as Rep-
resentative Lujan’s subsequent efforts to prevent any recurrence of
this issue, the Committee did not find that a sanction was war-
ranted.

Accordingly, the Committee unanimously voted to dismiss this
matter, publish this Report, and take no further action. Upon pub-
lication of this Report, the Committee considers the matter closed.

II. PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND

OCE commenced a preliminary review of this matter on Feb-
ruary 4, 2017. On March 6, 2017, OCE initiated a second-phase re-
view. On May 5, 2017, the OCE Board voted five to one to adopt
the Findings and refer the matter to the Committee with a rec-
ommendation for further review.

The Committee received OCE’s referral on May 11, 2017. The
Committee issued voluntary requests for information to Represent-
ative Lujan, and he responded by voluntarily providing documents
and other information to the Committee. In total, the Committee
reviewed over 1,250 pages of materials, including the transcripts of
four voluntary interviews.

On July 27, 2017, the Committee unanimously voted to release
this Report and take no further action with respect to Representa-
tive Lujan.

III. HOUSE RULES, LAWS, REGULATIONS, AND OTHER
STANDARDS OF CONDUCT

Federal law, 18 U.S.C. §607, makes it “unlawful for . . . Mem-
bers of Congress, to solicit or receive a donation of money or other
thing of value in connection with a Federal, State, or local election,
while in any room or building occupied in the discharge of official
duties by an officer or employee of the United States, from any per-
son.” According to the House Ethics Manual, “[tlhe prohibition
against House Members or employees soliciting campaign or polit-
ical contributions in or from House offices, rooms, or buildings is

41d. at 15.
51d.
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very broad.”® With one minor exception—an allowance for Mem-
bers to solicit campaign contributions from other Members in
House buildings—“the prohibition applies to all forms of solicita-
tions—solicitations made in person, over the telephone, or through
the mail.” The Ethics Manual specifically notes that a Member may
not prepare or make a campaign communication in a House build-
ing, even if the Member uses his own phone or other communica-
tions device.”

A separate statute, 31 U.S.C. § 1301(a), requires that “appropria-
tions shall be applied only to the objects for which the appropria-
tions were made except as otherwise provided by law.” Based on
this statute, the Committee has long cautioned Members and
House employees against the use of House buildings for unofficial
activities. With respect to the use of official resources, including
House buildings, for campaign or political activity, the Ethics Man-
ual states that the statutory prohibition is absolute:

A provision of the Members’ Handbook permits the inci-
dental personal use of House equipment and supplies
“when such use is negligible in nature, frequency, time
consumed, and expense.” However, this policy applies only
to incidental personal use of those resources, and not to
their use for campaign or political purposes.8

In addition, the Ethics Manual states that “the House rooms, of-
fices, and buildings are considered official resources, and as such,
they [should] not be used for the conduct of any campaign or polit-
ical activity.”® “Among the specific activities that clearly may not
be undertaken in a congressional office . . . are the solicitation of
contributions; the drafting of campaign speeches, statements, press
releases or literature; the completion of FEC reports; the creation
or issuance of a campaign mailing; and the holding of a meeting
on campaign business.” 10

The purpose of these laws and rules is generally to preclude cam-
paign or political activity from taking place in a congressional of-
fice. However, the Committee has recognized that there are certain
limited activities that, while related to a Member’s campaign, may
properly take place in a congressional office. The Committee’s view
has been that it would be impractical and unnecessary to attempt
to prohibit these specific activities. In this regard, the Committee
has long advised that certain very limited and very specific activi-
ties are permissible.11

The Committee’s jurisdiction is of current House Members, offi-
cers, and employees. However, many Members delegate certain
campaign communications functions to outside entities. Antici-

6 See House Ethics Manual (2008) (hereinafter “Ethics Manual”) at 144.

7See id. at 144-45 (“A telephone solicitation from a House office or building would not be per-
missible merely because the call is billed to a credit card of a political organization or to an
outside telephone number, or because it is made using a cell phone in the hallway. Similarly,
when a House Member or employee makes solicitation calls somewhere else, such as at one of
the campaign committee offices, and has to leave a message, the individual should not leave
his or her House office telephone number for the return call. In addition, a fundraising mailing
should not be either prepared or assembled in a House room or office, even if no House equip-
ment or supplies are used in the process.”).

8]d. at 126 (emphasis in original).

9Id. at 145 (emphasis in original); see also id. (“In addition, the rules issued by the House
Office Building Commission concerning the use of the House office buildings prohibit the solic-
iting of contributions in the buildings other than for certain charitable purposes.”)

10]d. at 124 (emphasis in original).

117d. at 132-35.
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pating this practical reality, the Ethics Manual states that “under
these rules, a Member or employee must take reasonable steps to
ensure that any outside organization over which he or she exercises
control—including the individual’s own authorized campaign com-
mittee or, for example, a ‘leadership PAC’—operates in compliance
with applicable law.” 12

With respect to use of images from the House Floor, House Rule
V, clause 1, provides that “[t]he Speaker shall administer, direct,
and control a system for close-circuit viewing of floor proceedings
of the House,” and clause 2(c) states that “[cloverage made avail-
able under this clause, including any recording thereof—(1) may
not be used for any partisan political campaign purpose.”13 The
Ethics Manual further explains that “[blroadcast coverage and re-
cordings of House Floor proceedings may not be used for any polit-
ical purpose under House Rule V, clause 2(c)(1).” 14

IV. BACKGROUND

On June 22 and June 23, 2016, Representative Ben Ray Lujan,
Representative for New Mexico’s 3rd District, participated in a sit-
in on the House Floor. The sit-in was an organized attempt by
Democratic Members to force a vote on the “No Fly No Buy” bill
prior to adjourning for the July 4th recess.’> Representative Lujan
joined the sit-in around midday on June 22, 2016,1¢ and partici-
pated in the sit-in until he left and went home after 7:00 AM on
June 23.17 According to Representative Lujan, he did not remain
on the House Floor throughout the entire sit-in. Instead, he recalls
leaving the House Floor for a pre-scheduled “lunch or [] meeting
outside of the building.” 18 Representative Lujan also stated that he
“left for a bit of time and then [] came back to the floor during the
night,” 12 and recalled leaving the House Floor to take bathroom
breaks and to walk “outside to the front of the building of the Cap-
itol, just [to] get a breath of air.”20 In addition, Representative
Lujan told OCE that “[tlhere were people gathering outside the
Capitol, so members would leave periodically to go and either just
stand with the crowd or speak to the crowd.”21

12]d. at 123.

13House Rule V.

14 Ethics Manual at 128.

15 See Exhibit 5 to OCE’s Referral (attaching June 22, 2016, Boulder Strategies email explain-
ing Representative Lujan’s call for action via the sit-in).

16 Representative Lujan’s June 22, 2016, calendar indicates that he was scheduled to take
lunch at 11:30 AM, see Exhibit 7, and email correspondence from Representative Lujan’s staff
indicates that he was “heading to the floor” at 12:13 PM, see Exhibit 8, and that he cancelled
12:30 PM and 2:30 PM meetings to remain on the House Floor, see Exhibit 9. When questioned
regarding what time he joined the sit-in on the House Floor, Representative Lujan stated that
he could not recall the exact time but that it was around lunchtime. See Exhibit 1 to OCE’s
Referral, Interview of Representative Lujan at 24.

17Exhibit 1 to OCE’s Referral, Interview of Representative Lujan at 22-24; Exhibit 1 (6:32
AM message indicating that Representative Lujan was still on the House Floor and had been
asked to speak “during the 7 o’clock hour.”). Emails produced by Representative Lujan also indi-
cate that at 9:37 AM on June 23, 2016, he was en route to a meeting at the offices of the Demo-
cratic Congressional Campaign Committee (hereinafter “DCCC”), and he arrived there shortly
after 9:45 AM. See Exhibit 2 & Exhibit 4.

18 Exhibit 1 to OCE’s Referral, Interview of Representative Lujan, at 23-25.

19]d. at 23-24.

20]d. at 24.

21]d.
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A. REPRESENTATIVE LUJAN’S EMAIL TO A CAMPAIGN VOLUNTEER

On June 22, 2016, at 3:00 PM, while Representative Lujan was
on or near the House Floor for the sit-in, he received an email from
Representative Michelle Lujan Grisham’s campaign committee. The
email stated that Representative Lujan Grisham was “literally on
the House floor,” and requested that the recipients “add your name
to this petition,” which related to the “No Fly No Buy” bill.22 The
email did not request a campaign contribution.23

At 4:02 PM, Representative Lujan forwarded Representative
Lujan Grisham’s email to a volunteer for his campaign (Campaign
Volunteer),24¢ with a one-sentence email stating “Get something
out.”25 The email was sent from Representative Lujan’s personal
email account to Campaign Volunteer’s personal email account, and
the email did not provide additional details regarding what Rep-
resentative Lujan wanted to “get out.” 26 Representative Lujan does
not recall whether he was on the House Floor, inside the Capitol,
or inside any other federal building at the time he forwarded the
email to Campaign Volunteer.27

B. THE JUNE 22, 2016, CAMPAIGN EMAIL BY BOULDER STRATEGIES

Representative Lujan’s principal campaign committee, People for
Ben, contracted with Boulder Strategies, a private political con-
sulting firm, to handle campaign solicitations and petitions through
“lolnline fund-raising and digital strategy.”28® Boulder Strategies’
responsibilities included creating a calendar of when to send tar-
geted email correspondence based on current events, the news
cycle, and items relevant to Representative Lujan’s voting base.29
Boulder Strategies sent both “solicitations for contributions and
also [] emails that were petitions, asking people to sign on with dif-
ferent policy issues” to Representative Lujan’s supporters through-
out the 2016 election cycle.30 Representative Lujan left the decision
whether a particular occasion called for a petition or a solicitation
up to Boulder Strategies because Boulder Strategies was using a
technology called HubSpot.31 HubSpot is a marketing software

22 Exhibit 2 to OCE’s Referral.
23]d.

24 Campaign Volunteer is the Chief of Staff for the DCCC, but Representative Lujan has as-
serted that he was acting in his personal capacity in assisting Representative Lujan’s campaign.
See June 2, 2017, Letter from Representative Lujan to Chairwoman Brooks and Ranking Mem-
ber Deutch (hereinafter “Representative Lujan Submission”), at 6. During the course of the sit-
in, it appears Campaign Volunteer’s email correspondence with Boulder Strategies, Representa-
tive Lujan, and Representative Lujan’s campaign committee was limited to emails from his per-
sonal email account.

25 Exhibit 2 to OCE’s Referral.

EG Ex{libit 1 to OCE’s Referral, Interview of Representative Lujan at 34-35; Exhibit 2 to OCE’s
referral.

27While it is unclear where Representative Lujan was located at 4:02 PM, Representative
Lujan’s submissions indicate he was conferring with staff members regarding sit-in related
interviews sometime between 3:35 PM and 3:58 PM. See Exhibit 3; Exhibit 1 to OCE’s Referral,
Interview of Representative Lujan at 34 (“I was in and out of the Capitol quite a bit. I don’t
remember exactly where I was when I sent [the 4:02 PM email to Campaign Volunteer]”.).

28 Exhibit 1 to OCE’s Referral, Interview of Representative Lujan at 6.

29 Exhibit 3 to OCE’s Referral, Interview of DCCC Chief of Staff at 17-18.

30 Exhibit 1 to OCE’s Referral, Interview of Representative Lujan at 9; Exhibit 3 to OCE’s Re-
ferral, Interview of DCCC Chief of Staff at 20 (“It wasn’t just solicitations. It was—it was just
content delivery as well.”).

31 Exhibit 1 to OCE’s Referral, Interview of Representative Lujan at 31-32 (“I don’t know that
it’s up to Aaron to make a decision of whether something is a petition or if it’s an online solicita-
tion for money. That’'s what Boulder Strategies was hired to do and that’s their job.”); Exhibit
3 to OCE’s Referral, Interview of DCCC Chief of Staff at 56 (“They were in charge of his entire

Continued
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platform that was used by Boulder Strategies to test the type of
messages and content that best captured public attention, and to
determine which messages were ideal for generating fundraising
revenue.32

Campaign Volunteer told OCE he viewed Representative Lujan’s
email to “Get something out” as a suggestion and did not convey
the message to Boulder Strategies because Boulder Strategies al-
ready had email correspondence addressing the “No Fly No Buy”
bill scheduled to be released on June 22, 2016.33 Indeed, after the
Orlando shooting prompted the 2016 “No Fly No Buy” bill, Boulder
Strategies scheduled multiple emails to be released on Representa-
tive Lujan’s behalf regarding the bill, bill-related events, and the
general issue of gun violence in America.34

On June 22, 2016, at 7:11 PM, the President of Boulder Strate-
gies sent an email 35 to Representative Lujan’s campaign committee
staff and to Campaign Volunteer, requesting that they review a
draft message on behalf of People for Ben.36 According to the Presi-
dent of Boulder Strategies, the “e-mail was a continuation of a se-
ries of e-mails [Boulder Strategies had] been doing on [the] No Fly
No Buy” bill.37 Boulder Strategies “simply took an e-mail that was
already in the pipeline,” which they “were already planning to
send,” and “inserted the first line of the e-mail that talked about
[Representative Lujan] being on the floor to make it relevant for
the day’s topic.” 38

The message included a link redirecting recipients to a contribu-
tion page allowing them “to make a contribution if they so
choose.” 39 Representative Lujan told OCE that he did not review
the draft, propose any language with respect to the draft, or par-
ticipate in the decision whether to include the contribution link.40
Neither OCE nor the Committee obtained any information to the
contrary.

The email was ultimately sent at approximately 8:15 PM on June
212,(12(2116,41 to People for Ben supporters, with the following text in-
cluded:

e-mail program. They are the people who physically clicked ‘send’ with their technology HubSpot
or whatever they used to, like, message test and see which e-mails get more clicks and less
clicks and how to include e-mail solicitations and all that other stuff, right. They were sort of
the keeper of the keys when it came to that kind of stuff.”).

32 Exhibit 3 to OCE’s Referral, Interview of DCCC Chief of Staff at 21 (“they had a technology
called HubSpot that basically they would like message test things . . . and from whatever tech-
nology that they had they could decide like, wow, people are really paying attention to, like,
you know, this issue or that issue or whatever.”); id. at 22 (“It was kind of like a known fact
that if an e-mail came across . . . if it had a solicitation within it that they had already identi-
fied that that was a subject matter via this technology HubSpot, that could potentially yield a
good amount of campaign donations online.”).

33]d. at 71-72 (“[Blased on what was happening I knew that there, that they were already
doing their thing here to create content, and so I, I didn’t do anything.”).

34]d. at 31-36, 46-47.

35Boulder Strategies sent their emails on Representative Lujan’s behalf from their offices in
Boulder, Colorado. Id. at 67.

36 Exhibit 5 to OCE’s Referral.

2; ;];hibit 4 to OCE’s Referral, Interview of President of Boulder Strategies at 6.

39]d. at 8.

40 Exhibit 1 to OCE’s Referral, Interview of Representative Lujan at 36-37 (explaining that
Representative Lujan played no role in the drafting or editing of the email); see also id. at 16—
17 (explaining that Boulder Strategies sent Representative Lujan drafts of solicitations and peti-
tions for the first few months of 2016, but stopped sending drafts after that and “[als far as
editing or drafting or anything like that, I had—I never did that.”); id. at 22 (“I think early
on, I may have received them. But later, E-mails would get sent out to whatever list Boulder
Strategies had, without me seeing them or editing them at all.”).

41 See Exhibit 10.



Friend,

Today I join countless colleagues on the House floor to
demand action that will make our country safer.

Facts matter—and the facts are that right now a sus-
pected terrorist can go into a gun store and purchase a
military-style assault rifle. In what world do we think
that’s a good idea?

Sign our pledge if you demand a vote on the bipartisan
No Fly, No Buy bill.

My Republican colleagues would rather go on a 4th of
July recess before voting on this time-sensitive bill. That’s
why we’re on the House floor demanding action.

Enough is enough—no bill, no break. Full stop. SIGN
HERE.

I'm a strong believer in our Second Amendment rights to
bear arms, but also recognize that our system is broken
when it’s too easy for a powerful gun to get in the hands
of someone who wants to hurt us.

The Orlando shooter, who was interviewed by the FBI
just a couple years earlier, was able to legally purchase an
AR-15, military-grade assault rifle.

Stand up if you support our sit-in.

At a minimum, we must come together, put aside our
politics, and pass this commonsense measure.

Thank you,

Ben Ray

CONTRIBUTE

Paid for and authorized by People for Ben.

Based on all of the evidence the Committee collected, it is not
clear where Representative Lujan was physically located when
Boulder Strategies released this message.

C. THE JUNE 23, 2016, CAMPAIGN EMAIL BY BOULDER STRATEGIES

On June 23, 2016, at 9:29 AM, Campaign Volunteer sent an
email to the President of Boulder Strategies and the People for Ben
campaign staff.42 The email stated “[pllease get another email
ready for this morning. The members will have been on the floor
for 24 hours, as of 11:00 this morning. We need to do a $$ ask on
this.”43 Campaign Volunteer’s request was based on a perceived
impending shift in the news cycle away from the sit-in and the “No
Fly No Buy” bill.44

Boulder Strategies complied with the request, and the June 23,
2016, email was sent to a campaign distribution list at 11:11 AM.45
The email contained an image of the House Floor that was ob-
tained from an Associated Press news article.#6 The original source
of the image appears to be the House Broadcast network; Boulder

42 Exhibit 6 to OCE’s Referral.
43]d

44Exhibit 3 to OCE’s Referral, Interview of DCCC Chief of Staff at 74-75 (“before [T] the
news cycle moved to another subject which it often does very quickly I had suggested to them
that we should probably send out another e-mail based on everything that was going on because
the news cycle was probably about to shift.”).

45 See Exhibit 11 (Boulder Strategies’ email confirming that the June 23, 2016, “Email is out”).
Boulder Strategies sent their emails on Representative Lujan’s behalf from their offices in Boul-
der, Colorado. See Exhibit 3 to OCE’s Referral, Interview of DCCC Chief of Staff at 67.

46 Exhibit 3 to OCE’s Referral, Interview of DCCC Chief of Staff at 66.



8

Strategies included a citation to the image that stated “Credit to
House Television via AP.”47
The email from Boulder Strategies read as follows:

Friend,

As we pass the 11 am hour in Washington DC, my
Democratic colleagues and I have now been on the House
floor for greater than 24-hours, staging a sit-in to demand
a vote on the bi-partisan No Fly, No Buy bill.

Despite the fact that Speaker Ryan has turned off the
cameras and the microphones, I will stand with my col-
leagues to call for a vote on commonsense legislation that
keeps guns out of the hands of those on the FBI Terrorist
Watch List.

Do you stand with us? Chip in $24 towards our emer-
gency fundraising goal—$1 for every hour we’ve been in
the well of the House Chamber demanding action.

A moment of silence on the House floor is simply not
enough to honor the lives of those we have lost. We need
action to keep guns out of the hands of suspected terrorists
and it begins with a vote right here on the House floor.

Tell the GOP: It’s simple—No Fly, No Buy, No Break.
Click to contribute $24 (or whatever you can) right now to
show your support!

As I said in my email last night, this is a matter of na-
tional security. We must come together to pass this com-
monsense bill.

Thanks for having our back,

—Ben Ray

Representative Lujan left the Capitol around 7:00 AM on June
23, 2016, and went home to sleep.4® An email from Representative
Lujan’s staff at 9:37 AM indicated he was on his way from his
home to a meeting off the Capitol grounds at the DCCC office
building.4® Based on this and other contemporaneous emails, it
does not appear that Representative Lujan was in a federal build-
ing when Campaign Volunteer sent his email to Boulder Strate-
gies.50 It is possible that Representative Lujan was on the House
Floor at 11:11 AM on June 23rd, when Boulder Strategies sent the
second sit-in related email to supporters; the email suggested that
he was “now” on the Floor, and communications between Rep-
resentative Lujan’s staff indicated that he was hoping to return to
the floor after his 9:45 AM meeting at the DCCC.51 However, given
that Representative Lujan did not actually write, review, or send
the June 23 email to his supporters,2 the statement that he was
“now” on the Floor may have been mere puffery, or based on an
expectation of what Representative Lujan would do, rather than
his actual movements. And the internal communications between

47Exhibit 4 to OCE’s Referral, Interview of President of Boulder Strategies at 12.

48 Exhibit 1 to OCE’s Referral, Interview of Representative Lujan at 22—-24; Exhibit 1 (6:32
AM message indicating that Representative Lujan was still on the House Floor and had been
asked to speak “during the 7 o’clock hour.”); Exhibit 2.

49 See Exhibits 2 & 4.

50 See Exhibit 4 (9:37 AM email indicating that Representative Lujan was heading to a meet-
ing at the DCCC office building but would “be a few minutes late to the 9:45” AM meeting).

51 See Exhibit 2.

52 Exhibit 1 to OCE’s Referral, Interview of Representative Lujan at 38-39.
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Representative Lujan’s staff do not indicate whether he actually re-
turned to the Floor before the sit-in concluded.

V. FINDINGS

A. SOLICITATION OF CAMPAIGN CONTRIBUTIONS AND OTHER CAMPAIGN
ACTIVITY IN HOUSE BUILDINGS

1. Representative Lujan’s email did not solicit campaign contribu-
tions

As previously discussed, Representative Lujan did not personally
send the June 22 and June 23, 2016, emails to supporters that
were the subject of OCE’s Referral. Instead, Representative Lujan’s
campaign consultant, Boulder Strategies, sent the two messages to
supporters on behalf of Representative Lujan’s campaign com-
mittee, People for Ben. However, if the Committee found that Rep-
resentative Lujan, while on the House Floor, directed a third-party
to solicit campaign contributions, such conduct would raise serious
questions about compliance with at least the spirit of 18 U.S.C. §
607, which prohibits the solicitation of campaign contributions from
a federal building.53 However, in this case, the evidence does not
establish any improper conduct by Representative Lujan with re-
spect to either the June 22 or June 23 emails from Boulder Strate-
gies.

As a threshold matter, it does not appear that either campaign
email was actually sent at the direction of Representative Lujan.
Boulder Strategies told OCE that the June 22 email to supporters
was already planned and largely prepared at the time Representa-
tive Lujan told Campaign Volunteer to “Get something out.” 54
While the June 23 email was not planned and prepared in advance
of the sit-in, it was created at the direction of Campaign Volunteer,
with no input or direction from Representative Lujan.55 Boulder
Strategies did send drafts of the June 22 and June 23 emails to
Representative Lujan’s campaign committee before releasing them,
but it does not appear that those drafts were shared with Rep-
resentative Lujan.5¢ This is significant because campaign commit-
tees are permitted to work, independently but simultaneously, on
campaign matters while a Member is working on official House
business.57

53 House Rule XXIII, clause 2, requires Members to adhere to the spirit as well as the letter
of the Rules of the House.

54 See Exhibit 4 to OCE’s Referral, Interview of President of Boulder Strategies at 6 (“We had
done a series of emails about this t0p1c already. Then when the sit-in began on the House floor,
we simply took an email that was already in the pipeline, we were already planning to send
an email of this type, and we simply inserted the first line of the email that talked about him
being on the floor to make it relevant for the day’s topic.”).

55 Kxhibit 3 to OCE’s Referral, Interview of DCCC Chief of Staff at 58-60 (“Did you have any
communication with Representative Lujan before you sent that communication to Boulder Strat-
egies about another e-mail? [Answer]: No. Mr. Payne: So for two days you had no communica-
tion with [T] Representative Lujan? [Answer]: That’s correct.”).

56 Exhibit 4 to OCE’s Referral, Interview of President of Boulder Strategies at 7-11 (indicating
that the President of Boulder Strategjes crafted the language of the June 22 and June 23 emails
himself, without input from Representative LuJan that Representative Lujan was not provided
drafts of the emails, and that Representative Lujan did not sign-off on the messages).

57 See Committee on Standards of Official Conduct, Investigation of Alleged Improper Political
Solicitation, 99th Cong., 1st Sess. 19 (1985) (“In view of the foregoing, since the DCCC had no
knowledge of Wilhelm’s actions on its behalf, it follows that the DCCC should not be held liable
for whatever actions Wilhelm took vis-a-vis the solicitation efforts, particularly as regards any
alleged violation of 18 U.S.C. 602 or 607. From this it, therefore, also follows that, absent any

Continued
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Further, the evidence does not show that when Representative
Lujan gave the direction to “Get something out,” he meant that his
campaign consultants should send a solicitation for campaign
funds. Representative Lujan forwarded an email that another
Member sent to supporters with a petition related to the “No Fly
No Buy” bill. The other Member’s email did not include any solici-
tation of campaign contributions.5® Thus, to the extent Representa-
tive Lujan intended his campaign to “get out” a similar petition,
there would be no solicitation, and no violation of 18 U.S.C. § 607.
It is worth noting that Representative Lujan gave Boulder Strate-
gies the discretion to determine whether any particular email they
sent from his campaign committee would be a solicitation or some-
thing else.?® Thus, he created a condition in which an ambiguous
instruction to Boulder Strategies could be read, and implemented,
either way. Moreover, as previously discussed, the Committee holds
Members responsible for ensuring that campaign consultants who
work on their behalf follow all applicable laws, rules, regulations,
and other standard of conduct.60 In this case, however, there is no
evidence that Representative Lujan expected, or should have ex-
pected, that when he forwarded a petition from another Member’s
campaign to his own campaign consultants, that would result in a
campaign solicitation.

Accordingly, the Committee did not find that Representative
Lujan violated either the letter or the spirit of the federal law pro-
hibiting the solicitation of campaign donations from a federal build-
ing.

2. The record does not show that Representative Lujan engaged in
campaign activity in a House building

While the evidence does not establish that Representative
Lujan’s email to “Get something out” solicited campaign contribu-
tions, there is a separate question whether, by sending the email,
he engaged in any campaign or political activity from a House
building. Doing so would violate both a federal statute, 31 U.S.C.
§ 1301(a), and regulations from the Committee on House Adminis-
tration (CHA). As previously discussed, the Committee and CHA
have made clear that even “incidental” campaign or political activ-
ity in a House building is not permitted.6!

Representative Lujan’s email, on June 22, 2016, to Campaign
Volunteer, with the direction to “Get something out” about the sit-
in was clearly campaign or political activity. This inference is sup-
ported by the message that Representative Lujan forwarded with
his direction, which was a petition about the sit-in from another
Member’s campaign to her supporters,52 and by Campaign Volun-
teer’s role with Representative Lujan’s campaign, and as a conduit
between Representative Lujan and the paid campaign consultants
at Boulder Strategies.

DCCC responsibility for the solicitations, the respondents should similarly not be held liable for
Wilhelm’s actions.”).

58 See Exhibit 2 to OCE’s Referral.

59 Exhibit 1 to OCE’s Referral, Interview of Representative Lujan at 9, 31-32; Exhibit 3 to
OCE’s Referral, Interview of DCCC Chief of Staff at 56.

60 Ethics Manual at 123.

61 See id. at 126.

62 See Exhibit 2 to OCE’s Referral.
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However, any allegation that Representative Lujan engaged in
campaign or political activity from a federal building would require
proof that Representative Lujan was on the House Floor or in an-
other federal space when he sent out his sole email at issue here,
the instruction to “Get something out.” 63 After reviewing all of the
available evidence, including C—SPAN footage of the sit-in, Rep-
resentative Lujan’s testimony to OCE,%* and contemporaneous
emails and text messages from and between the Member and his
staff, the Committee could not establish Representative Lujan’s lo-
cation when he forwarded another Member’s petition to Campaign
Volunteer. Without some proof of Representative Lujan’s location,
the Committee will not find that he violated the letter or spirit of
federal law or House regulations regarding campaign activity in
House buildings.

Nonetheless, the Committee cautions all Members that drafting,
editing, commenting on, or sending campaign or political commu-
nications from a House building is not permitted. The Committee
has long recognized that there are certain limited campaign or po-
litical activities that, while related to a Member’s campaign, may
properly take place in a congressional office.> However, sending a
direction to a campaign consultant or volunteer to “Get something
out” does not fall within the very limited and very specific excep-
tions to the general rule. In this age of always-on mobile commu-
nications, Members may find it impractical or unreasonable to have
to exit a House building before sending a three-word campaign
email. However, that is what the relevant law, rules, and regula-
tions require.

B. BOULDER STRATEGIES’ USE OF AN IMAGE OF THE HOUSE FLOOR IN
THE JUNE 23, 2016, CAMPAIGN SOLICITATION

The Committee found that Boulder Strategies’ use of a still
image of the House Floor 6% in campaign correspondence on behalf
of People for Ben was a technical violation of House Rule V, clause
2(c)(1), which prohibits partisan use of the “system for close-circuit
viewing of floor proceedings of the House,” which the Speaker ad-
ministers, directs, and controls.

While Representative Lujan’s submission to the Committee ar-
gues that Rule V only prohibits use of video footage from floor pro-
ceedings and not still images,®7 this interpretation finds no support
in the express language of Rule V or the guidance historically dis-
pensed by the Committee. House Rule V prohibits the use of
“[cloverage made available under this clause, including any record-
ing thereof.” 68 Limiting the term “coverage” to video recordings
when the provision expressly lists “recording[s]” as simply one ex-
ample of coverage would be inconsistent. Further, in a 2014 “Pink

63 See id.

64 Representative Lujan recalled that he was on and off the House Floor, and in and out of
the Capitol building, during the sit-in. See Exhibit 1 to OCE’s Referral, Interview of Representa-
tive Lujan, at 23-25.

65 Ethics Manual at 132-35.

66 This image was not sourced from C—SPAN’s rebroadcast of images that House Members
were broadcasting from their phones, using third-party, nonofficial mobile applications, after the
House Floor cameras were turned off. Rather, as previously discussed, the still image that Boul-
der Strategies used came from an Associated Press article, which included a screen shot from
the cameras that are part of the House broadcasting system.

67 Representative Lujan Submission at 9-10.

68 House Rule V, Clause 2(c).
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Sheet” distributed to all Member offices, the Committee made clear
that Members may not re-use an image of floor proceedings pub-
lished by a third-party, if the Member could not use that image in
the first instance.®?

Representative Lujan’s submission to the Committee indicates
that the image was originally sourced from the House Broadcast
network, although the video capture was made by the Associated
Press and published by them as a still image. Thus, Representative
Lujan’s campaign committee and consultant did not directly source
the image from the House recording system, but made derivative
use of it.70 However, the Committee’s guidance has made clear that
such a derivative use is not permissible.

Representative Lujan has presented evidence that he was not
aware that Boulder Strategies would include a still image of the
House Floor in its email correspondence, and that he played no
part in creating or reviewing the correspondence.”’* The Committee
has long held that Members of the House are responsible for ensur-
ing that individuals speaking on their behalf comply with applica-
ble House rules.”2 The Committee believes such a Rule is necessary
to ensure that individuals do not rely upon third parties to cir-
cumvent relevant House rules.”3 In this case, the Committee is sat-
isfied that, after Boulder Strategies sent the email that was the
subject of OCE’s Referral, Representative Lujan took steps to pre-
vent a recurrence of this issue, by instructing Boulder Strategies
that “[als a standing rule from here out,” “[w]e will not be using
any images of the [Hlouse floor in any of our emails.” 74 In addi-
tion, while the Committee disapproves of any violation of House
rules, given the totality of the circumstances here, this is not the
type of conduct that would merit any further action. Indeed, the
Committee regularly addresses allegations of violations of House
Rule V in an advisory manner, rather than investigating each such
allegation.

VI. CONCLUSION

As noted by OCE, “the evolving nature of electronic communica-
tions and campaign solicitations sometimes presents novel issues
that are not directly addressed by the House Ethics Manual.” 75
The Committee agreed that this is an area where additional guid-
ance could be useful.

Although the Committee did not conclude that Representative
Lujan made, or directed the making of, campaign solicitations from

69 See Memorandum from the Committee to all Members, “Campaign Activity Guidance,” Aug.
15, 2014, at 16 (available at  http:/ethics.house.gov/sites/ethics.house.gov/files/
20140815%20Pink%20Sheet.pdf).

70 Exhibit 4 to OCE’s Referral, Interview of President of Boulder Strategies at 12.

71While a draft of the June 23, 2016, email including the image of the House Floor was cir-
culated to Campaign Volunteer and Representative Lujan’s campaign committee approximately
thirty minutes before its release, there is no evidence that Representative Lujan’s campaign
committee reviewed the message before it was released, and Campaign Volunteer appears to
have provided an expedited sign-off on the draft message.

72 See Ethics Manual at 123.

73In a likely oversight, Representative Lujan’s agreement with Boulder Strategies includes a
provision that Boulder Strategies shall “comply with the applicable Federal Election Commis-
sion regulations, as well as any other applicable federal or state laws,” but does not contain a
similar requirement with respect to compliance with House rules. See Exhibit 5.

74 Exhibit 6; Exhibit 4 to OCE’s Referral, Interview of President of Boulder Strategies at 12
(after a follow-up conversation, “[wle agreed not to use further images from the house floor, re-
gardless of their sourcing, going forward”).

75 OCE’s Referral at 15.
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the House Floor or any federal building, the Committee cautions all
Members that use of a third party to send campaign correspond-
ence does not absolve them of their responsibility to ensure cam-
paign correspondence complies with applicable laws and House
rules. A Member’s campaign committee or consultants may release
campaign correspondence on the Member’s behalf at any time, re-
gardless of where the Member is. However, Members are reminded
that, subject to very limited exceptions, they may not conduct cam-
paign or political activity from a House building, whether hallway,
office, or cafeteria, and thus, they may not draft, edit, or send cam-
paign communications, or direct the drafting, editing, or sending of
such communications, from a House building. This rule, which is
embodied in federal law, applies even where the Member is using
a personal or campaign communications device, and even if they
are not using the House internet system.

With respect to the use of a screen shot sourced from the House
recording system, the Committee found that the campaign consult-
ant’s actions did violate House Rule V, and that Representative
Lujan is ultimately responsible for that violation. However, there
is no evidence that Representative Lujan was aware of the decision
to use the image before it was included in a campaign solicitation,
and Representative Lujan and his campaign have taken steps to
prevent any recurrence of this issue in the future. For these rea-
sons, the Committee does not believe that any sanction of Rep-
resentative Lujan would be appropriate.

The Committee has determined to take no further action in this
nllattgr, and upon publication of this Report, considers the matter
closed.

VII. STATEMENT UNDER HOUSE RULE XIII, CLAUSE 3(c)

The Committee made no special oversight findings in this Report.
No budget statement is submitted. No funding is authorized by any
measure in this Report.
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CONFIDENTIAL

Subject to the Nondisclosure Provisions of H. Res. 895 of the 110" Congress as Amended

OFFICE OF CONGRESSIONAL ETHICS
UNITED STATES HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES

REPORT
Review No. 17-8362

The Board of the Office of Congressional Ethics (“the Board™), by a vote of no less than four
members, on May 5, 2017, adopted the following report and ordered it to be transmitted to the
Committee on Ethics of the United States House of Representatives.

SUBJECT: Representative Ben Ray Lujén

NATURE OF THE ALLEGED VIOLATION: In June 2016, Representative Lujan requested that
his congressional campaign committee issue communications during a “sit-in” demonstration.
The committee issued emails stating Representative Lujan was on the House floor at the time the
emails were sent. One of the emails specifically requested a campaign contribution and
contained an image of the House floor.

If Representative Lujdn conducted campaign or political activity from the House floor, solicited
a campaign contribution from a federal building, or used an image of a House floor proceeding
for campaign or political purposes, then he may have violated House rules, standards of conduct,
and federal law.

RECOMMENDATION: The Board recommends that the Committee on Ethics further review
the above allegation because there is substantial reason to believe that Representative Lujan
conducted campaign or political activity from the House floor, solicited a campaign contribution
from a federal building, or used an image of a House floor proceeding for campaign or political
purposes.

VOTES IN THE AFFIRMATIVE: 5
VOTES IN THE NEGATIVE: 1
ABSTENTIONS: 0

MEMBER OF THE BOARD OR STAFF DESIGNATED TO PRESENT THIS REPORT TO
THE COMMITTEE ON ETHICS: Omar S. Ashmawy, Staff Director & Chief Counsel.

Page 1 of 16
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CONFIDENTIAL

Subject to the Nondisclosure Provisions of H. Res. 895 of the 1 10" Congress as Amended
FINDINGS OF FACT AND CITATIONS TO LAW

Review No. 17-8362
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CONFIDENTIAL

Subject to the Nondisclosure Provisions of H. Res. 895 of the 110™ Congress as Amended

OFFICE OF CONGRESSIONAL ETHICS
UNITED STATES HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES

FINDINGS OF FACT AND CITATIONS TO LAW
Review No. 17-8362

On May 5, 2017, the Board of the Office of Congressional Ethics (hereafter “the Board™)
adopted the following findings of fact and accompanying citations to law, regulations, rules and
standards of conduct (in ifalics). The Board notes that these findings do not constitute a
determination of whether or not a violation actually occurred.

I. INTRODUCTION

A. Summary of Allegations

1. OnJune 22 and 23, 2016, Representative Lujan participated in a “sit-in” on the floor of
the House of Representatives. On June 22, Representative Lujan requested that his
campaign committee “get something out” related to the sit-in. Representative Lujan may
have been on the House floor or inside a federal building when he made the request.

2. Representative Lujan’s campaign committee then sent an email with language stating that
Representative Lujan was on the House floor at the time. The email contained links so
that potential visitors to the site could make campaign contributions to his campaign
committee.

3. OnJune 23, Representative Lujan’s campaign committee sent another email that again
contained language that Representative Lujan was on the House floor. That email
specifically requested a campaign contribution and also contained an image of the House
floor.

4. The Board recommends that the Committee on Ethics further review the above allegation
because there is substantial reason to believe that Representative Lujan conducted
campaign or political activity from the House floor, solicited a campaign contribution
from a federal building, or used an image of a House floor proceeding for campaign or
political purposes.

B. Jurisdiction Statement

5. The allegations that were the subject of this review concern Representative Ben Ray
Lujén, a Member of the United States House of Representatives from the 3rd District of
New Mexico. The Resolution the United States House of Representatives adopted
creating the Office of Congressional Fthics (hereafter “OCE”) directs that, “[n]o review
shall be undertaken... by the board of any alleged violation that occurred before the date
of adoption of this resolution.”" The House adopted this Resolution on March 11, 2008.

H. Res. 895, 110th Cong. §1{e) (2008) (as amended).
Page 3 of 16
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Because the conduct under review occurred after March 11, 2008, review by the Board is
in accordance with the Resolution.

C. Procedural History

6. The OCE reccived a written request for preliminary review in this matter signed by at
least two members of the Board on February 3, 2017. The preliminary review
commenced on February 4, 2017.% The preliminary review was scheduled to end on
March 5, 2017.

7. On February 6, 2017, the OCE notified Representative Lujan of the initiation of the
preliminary review, provided him with a statement of the nature of the review, notified
him of his right to be represented by counsel in this matter, and notified him that
invoking his right to counsel would not be held negatively against him.

8. At least three members of the Board voted to initiate a second-phase review in this matter
on March 3, 2017. The second-phase review commenced on March 6, 2017. The
second-phase review was scheduled to end on April 19, 2017.

9. On March 6, 2017, the OCE notified Representative Lujan of the initiation of the second-
phase review, notified him of his right to be represented by counsel in this matter, and
notified him that invoking his right to counsel would not be held negatively against him.

10. The Board voted to refer the matter to the Committee on Ethics for further review and
adopted these findings on May 5, 2017.

11. The report and its findings in this matter were transmitted to the Committee on Ethics on
May 11, 2017.

D. Summary of Investigative Activity

12. The OCE requested testimonial and in some cases documentary information from the
following sources:

(1) Representative Lujan;
(2) Representative Lujan’s Former Communications Director;

(3) The Democratic Congressional Campaign Committee (“DCCC”) Chief of
Staff; and;

(4) The President of Boulder Strategies.

* A preliminary review is “requested” in writing by members of the Board of the OCE. The request for a
preliminary review is received by the OCE on a date certain. According to H. Res. 895 of the 110" Congress, as
amended (hereafier “the Resolution™), the timeframe for conducting a preliminary review is 30 days from the date of
receipt of the Board’s request.

Page 4 of 16
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1. REPRESENTATIVE LUJAN MAY HAVE VIOLATED HOUSE RULES,
STANDARDS OF CONDUCT, AND FEDERAL LAW BY REQUESTING THAT A
CAMPAIGN COMMITTEE COMMUNICATION BE ISSUED WHILE ON THE
HOUSE FLOOR

A. Applicable Law, Rules, and Standards of Conduct

13. House Ethics Manual

“Official resources of the House must, as a general rule, be used for the performance of
official business of the House, and hence those resources may not be used for campaign
or political purposes . . . .”

“The House buildings, and House rooms and offices . . . are supported with official funds
and hence are considered official resources. Accordingly, as a general rule, they may
not be used for the conduct of campaign or political purposes.”

“Among the specific activities that clearly may not be undertaken in a congressional
office or using official House resources (including official staff time) are the solicitation
of contributions; the drafting of campaign speeches, statements, press releases or
literature; the completion of FEC reports; the creation or issuance of a campaign
mailing; and the holding of a meeting on campaign business.”

“The prohibition against House Members or employees soliciting campaign or political
contributions in or from House offices, rooms, or buildings is very broad. "6 The House
Ethics Manual also explains, “the House rooms, offices, and buildings are considered
official resources, and as such, they are not [sic] be used for the conduct of any
campaign or political activity, including the solicitation of contributions.””

“Moreover, under these rules, a Member or employee must take reasonable steps to
ensure that any outside organization over which he or she exercises control — including
the individual’s own authorized campaign committee or, for example, a ‘leadership PAC’
— operates in compliance with applicable law.”

In addition, “[a]nything supported with official funds is an official resource, including
congressional offices. The House Office Building Commission, comprised of the Speaker,
the Majority Leader, and the Minority Leader, has issued regulations governing the use
of House facilities. These regulations generally ban solicitation and commercial activity,
limit photography, restrict use of meeting rooms to congressionally related purposes, and
impose various health and safety restraints. In addition, as is true of all official

* House Ethics Manual (2008} at 123-24 (emphasis in original).
‘Id at127.

® Id. at 124 (emphasis in original).

“Id. at 144.

7 Id. at 145 (emphasis in original),

S 1d at122.

Page 5 of 16
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resources, congressional offices may not be used for the conduct of campaign or political
activities.”

“Broadcast coverage and recordings of House floor proceedings may not be used for any
political purpose under House Rule 5, clause 2(c)(1). In addition, under House Rule 11,
clause 4(b), radio and television tapes and film of any coverage of House commitiee
proceedings may not be used, or made available for use, as partisan political campaign
material to promote or oppose the candidacy of any person for public office.”

14. 18 U.S.C. § 607
(a) Prohibition (1) In general -

It shall be unlawfidd for any person to solicit or receive a donation of money or other
thing of value in connection with a Federal, State, or local election from a person who is
located in a room or building occupied in the discharge of official duties by an officer or
employee of the United States. It shall be unlawful for an individual who is an officer or
employee of the Federal Government, including the President, Vice President, and
Members of Congress, to solicit or receive a donation of money or other thing of value in
connection with a Federal, State, or local election, while in any room or building
oceupied in the discharge of official duties by an officer or employee of the United States,
from any person.

B. Representative Lujdn Participated in a Sit-in on the House Floor from June 22,
2016 to June 23, 2016

15. Representative Lujan participated in a June 22, 2016 “sit-in” on the floor of the House of
Representatives.'’ He told the OCE that he was in his office during a meeting and saw on
C-SPAN that House members were gathering on the House floor concerning the “No-fly,
No-buy” bill."> He did not recall what time he made the decision o go to the House floor
and participate, but told his staff to “clear the day.”'* Representative Lujdn’s
participation in the sit-in began on June, 22, 2016, continued overnight, and ended on
June 23, 2016."

16. Representative Lujén described to the OCE various instances when he may not have been
directly on the House floor, or in the Capitol complex during the sit-in.

17. Representative Lujan stated that on June 22, 2016, he recalled an afternoon meeting
“around” lunchtime where he left the Capitol in a vehicle.'” He then came back to the

% Id. at 325,

0 7d. at 128.

‘i Transeript of Interview of Rep. Lujén, Mar. 2, 2017 (“Rep. Lujan TOI”) (Exhibit 1 at 17-8362_0024)
:; Id. at 17-8362_0024-25,

.
¥ Id. at 17-8362_0027.

Page 6 of 16
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g

House floor later on June 22, 2016, “during the night.”16 From that time, Representative
Lujan stated that he was on the House floor “off and on” until the morning of June 23,
2016."

. Representative Lujén told the OCE that during the sit-in, crowds had gathered outside the
Capitol and members would sometimes leave the Capitol to greet the crowds.'® He did
not say whether he took part in greeting the crowds. Representative Lujén also stated that
“bathroom breaks, walking outside to the front of the building of the Capitol, just to get a
breath of fresh air. . .” and getting a drink of water were all reasons Members may have
left the House floor during the sit-in demonstration.'®

. When describing the timeframe when he may have left the House floor, after his
afternoon meeting, and into the night, Representative Lujén stated that it “wasn’t just
during the time that the sun went down . . . what I would describe as nighttime. It was
throughout that period that I would [leave the House floor].”*

. Representative Lujan told the OCE that he concluded his participation in the sit-in and
“walked home” on June 23, 2016 at “6:00 or 7:00"AM.

C. During the Sit-in Representative Lujin Requested that His Campaign Issue a

Communication

. On June 22, 2016 at 3:00PM, Representative Lujan received an email from
Representative Michelle Lujan Grisham’s campaign committee concerning the “No-fly,
No-buy” bill, claiming that Representative Lujan Grisham was “literally on the House
floor ... ."*" The email asked recipients to “add your name to this petition . . . " The
email did not appear to request a campaign contribution.

:j Id. Rep. Lujén later told the OCE that he returned from the meeting “later on that day” instead of at night. Id.
1

*® Id. at 17-8362_0026.

Y Id. at 17-8362_0026, 28.

* 1d. at 17-8362_0028.

! Email from Rep. Michelle Lujan Grisham’s Campaign Committee to Rep. Lujén, June 22, 2016 (Exhibit 2 at 17-
8362_0061).

Page 7 of 16
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22. At 4:02PM the same day, Representative Lujn forwarded the email to the DCCC Chief
of Staff, directing him to “Get something out”> At the time, the DCCC Chief of Staff
was Representative Lujdn’s primary contact for campaign messaging with Boulder
Strate%ics, an online fundraising and digital strategy firm Representative Lujn hired in
2016.°

Michelle
Lulan Gels
LERMOLRAT o LONSH

ey Bern,

¥ Hrerathy dn the Mouse Howr with dovens of sy Danoo
detand & vole on the "No fly, po buy” gun safety big,

ilengues &

et sl with the gun egldemis in s sountey. i yoi: are on the “noly”
i should not be allowed T buy & gun, Period.

But Spsaker Pavt Fyan has refused & st us vole on s lesug before we
brask for oy planted revess. Wa arervl lsaving uni! he does. House
Dernnorats have hat enough — we zre fred of b hy sorme
Fapublicans and the MRA.

\se eese can wall, sk your nave o s petiion and
s bR USVOTE,

Hoou ik e
foll Bpeakor Bys

Sincaraly,

Michets Lulan Grigham
1.8, Congrassworan

23. Representative Lujan could not recall where he was physically located at 4:02PM o June
22,2016.*° When asked if it was possible that he sent the email while in a House
building or within the Capitol complex; he responded that “[ think anything’s — it’s
possible, but I was — like 1 said, depending on where I was moving to or moving from,”*

24, Representative Lujn told the OCE that upon receiving the email from Representative
Lujan Grisham’s campaign committee, he thought that “Michelle had a good idea” and
that his intention was to tell the DCCC Chief of Staff to “get something out.”*’

* Email from Rep. Lujdn to the DCCC Chief of Staff, June 22, 2016 (Exhibit 2 at 17-8362_0061).

* Rep. Lujén TOI (Exhibit 1 at 17-8362_0008-09). The DCCC Chief of Staff had previously worked in Rep.
Lujan’s congressional office and continued to provide services to Rep. Lujan’s campaign committee in a volunteer
capacity. Transcript of Interview of the DCCC Chief of Staff, Mar. 1, 2017 ("DCCC Chief of Staff TOI™) (Exhibit 3
at 17-8362_0070).

3: P;IepA Lujan TOI (Exhibit 1 at 17-8362_0036).

I

7 Jd. at 17-8362_0032.
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CONFIDENTIAL

Subject to the Nondisclosure Provisions of H. Res. 895 of the 110™ Congress as Amended

25.

26.

27.

28.

29.

30.

The OCE asked Representative Lujén repeatedly about the meaning and intention behind
telling the DCCC Chief of Staff to “get something out.”” Representative Lujan told the
OCE that he wanted the DCCC Chief of Staff to “Get a message out, maybe get
something out, take a ook at this good idea . . .” and “It was to tell [the DCCC Chief of
Staff] get something out, I guess. So I guess something similar [to Representative Lujén
Grisham’s email], yeah. Get something out.”*

He stated further that “Michelle had a good idea here to say she wanted to create some
attention that whatever — all the work that people were doing, and lend your voice to say,
sign a petition and say, let us vote . . . This wasn’t a solicitation for money, that was in
this email . . . it was my hope that we could get something out that would ask people to
lend their voices.**

Representative Lujan told the OCE that he recalled that Boulder Strategies generally
would “send solicitations for contributions and also send emails that were petitions,
asking people to sign on with different policy issues.”

In this instance, Representative Lujan told the OCE that both the DCCC Chief of Staff
and Boulder Strategies had the authority to decide whether the campaign message would
be in the form of a petition or solicitation for campaign contributions.!

After receiving the email from Representative Lujan to “get something out,” the DCCC
Chief of Staff told the OCE that he did not believe the message from Representative
Lujan was a “directive to go get something out.”** He believed “it was him Jjust like
expressing that he thought this was either a good way to talk about the issue, or maybe he
thought the [email from Representative Lujan Grisham] looked good or something, kind
of left up to my own interpretation a little bjt.”

In contrast to the DCCC Chief of Staff’s testimony, the President of Boulder Strategies
told the OCE that he was “instructed” to send a campaign email on behalf of
Representative Lujan’s campaign committee on June 22, 2016 and that although he could
not recall specifically who issued the instruction, typically it would have been from the
DCCC Chief of Staff.™

3 1d. at 17-8362_0029-30.

¥ Id. at 17-8362_0032,

%0 Id. at 17-8362_0011.

! Id. at 17-8362_0033-35.

; DCCC Chief of Staff TOI (Exhibit 3 at 17-8362_0120).
Id.

* Transcript of Interview of President of Boulder Strategies, Feb. 28, 2017 (“Boulder Strategies President TOI™)

(Exhibit 4 at 17-8362_0172).
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Subject to the Nondisclosure Provisions of H. Res. 895 of the 110™ Congress as Amended

D. Representative Lujdn’s Campaign Committee Sent an Email Stating that
Representative Lujan Was on the House Floor

31. At 7:11PM on June 22, 2016, roughly three hours after Representative Luj4n asked the
DCCC Chief of Staff to “get something out,” the President of Boulder Strategies sent an
email to members of Representative Lujan’s campaign committee staff and the DCCC
Chief of Staff, requesting that the recipients “Please review for immediate send . . .” and
stating that “Immediate $$ after action after the form submit.”**

FOR INMEDIATE APEROVAL Fw: Preview Message - Rich Text - Staying on the
Filoor
‘;'E;,VJ;;!\-?Z 20';’3: ﬂ( 7:1‘! é?ﬁ

Nick Passanants «|
T B <} . Aaron Jarves Tagito < Angels Rarnirez
E | Stove Fizer , Amir Salerzaden

Flease roview for immediate send,

Weo're imaking one changs o iha landing eage fonn {ramaving 1hs trump question].

Immedials §3 after action efier the form submit,

32. The President of Boulder Strategies told the OCE that “Immediate $$ after action after
the form submit” meant that if someone “clicked on the link that says ‘Sign or Pledge’ . .
. then it would automatically redirect to a contribution page to where they would then be
able to make a contribution if they so choose.”*® He stated that he was not directed to
add that feature by Representative Lujan or his campaign staff but that it was “standard
practice” for “most petitions” that Boulder Strategies created.”’

% Email from President of Boulder Strategies to Rep. Lujan campaign staff and DCCC Chief of Staff, June 22, 2016
(Exhibit 5 at 17-8362_0183).

z: Boulder Strategies President TOI (Exhibit 4 at 17-8362_0172).
Id.

Page 10 of 16



25

CONFIDENTIAL

Subject to the Nondisclosure Provisions of H. Res. 895 of the 110" Congress as Amended

33. The email discussed above accompanied a draft email shown below that would become
the first campaign committee email issued on June 22, 2016 regarding the sit-in.”® The
email concludes with a “contribute™ link.”” The contribute link was “permanent” on any
Boulder Strategies email, according to the DCCC Chief of Staff,

BEN RAY .

LUJAN

P,

heiign e M Roor b shesridnd attion Hal vl pale ot

L nens s suspested terrost san go nto & g shore
B whiad workd do we thin that's a.guod idew?

Bl verpledun I 0w domand 3 et an Bw hinartisen o Sy Ne By i,

fen Ry

Thank yrst,

skt ratier o om &R 914
18 (s the Fouse fioor dema

6 Defirs votng o Biis e

Peic S gt suihor

*® Jd. After edits were made to this draft by Boulder Strategies and Rep. Lujan’s campaign staff] an almost identical

version was used as a final campaign email,
39 Id

“ DCCC Chief of Staff TOI (Exhibit 3 at 17-8362_0106-07).
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Subject to the Nondisclosure Provisions of H. Res. 895 of the 110" Congress as Amended
34. The text of the draft email reads:

Today I join countless colleagues on the House floor to demand action that will make our
country safer. Facts matter - and the facts are that right now a suspected terrorist can go
into a gun store and purchase a military-style assault rifle. In what world do we think
that's a good idea?

Sign our pledge if you demand a vote on the bipartisan No Fly, No Buy bill,

My Republican colleagues would rather go-on a 4th of July recess before voting on this time-
sensitive bill. That's why we're on the House floor demanding action. Enough is encugh — no
bill, no break, Full stop. SIGN HERE,

I’m a strong believer in our Second Amendment rights to bear arms, but also recognize that our
system is broken when it's too easy for a powerful gun to get in the hands of someone who
wants to hurt us.

The Orlando shooter, who was interviewed by the FBI just a couple years earlier, was able to
tegally purchase an AR-15, military-grade assault rifle.

Stand up if you support our sit-in,

At a minimum, we must come together, put aside our politics, and pass this commonsense
measure.

Thank you,

Ben Ray

CONTRIBUTE

Paid for and authorized by People for Ben.”

35. Although Representative Lujan asked the DCCC Chief of Staff to “get something out” on
June 22, 2016, the President of Boulder Strategies told the OCE he created the “House
floor” language shown in the email and that Representative Lujan did not take part in the
email’s creation.”” Representative Lujén corroborated this information.*

36. The President of Boulder Strategies also told the OCE that the email was part-ofa
“series” of campaign emails “on this topic” that had been issued “at least a week prior.”"

* Email from Boulder Strategies President to Rep, Lujén campaign staff and DCCC Chief of Staff, June 22,2016
(Exhibit 5 at 17-8362_0183-84) (emphasis in original). Underlined portions appear to be hyperlinks to additional
webpages.

* Boulder Strategies President TOI (Exhibit 4 at 17-8362_0171).

“ Rep. Lujan TOI (Exhibit 1 at 17-8362_0038).

“ Boulder Strategies President TOI (Exhibit 4 at 17-8362_0170).
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Subject to the Nondisclosure Provisions of H. Res. 895 of the 110" Congress as Amended

E. Representative Lujdn’s Campaign Committee Sent Another Email Stating that
Representative Lujdn Was on the House Floor and Specifically Réguested
Campaign Contributions

37. On June 23, 2016 at 9:29AM, the DCCC Chief of Staff sent an email to the President of
Boulder Strategies and Representative Lujin’s campaign staff, requesting “another email
ready for this morning. The members will have been on the floor for 24 hours, as of
11:00 this morning. We need to do a $$ ask on this.”*

Anothef “Sit Iﬁ" kE:'nail

Aagron Polltisal Thy Jun 23, 2016 af 309 AR
To: Nick Pagsaranta IR o Stodin SEEEESS———

Ploase gel ancther gmall viady for s mbming, The membars will heve baen o the floor for 28 hours, ay of R0 s
maming. We nesd ta o & §5 ask on this.

38. The June 23, 2016 draft email shown below would become the second campaign
committee email issued regarding the sit-in *

M UTAN

g

s we pankte Ham Bour n Higton DO, asy LA s aiied ¥ have
siow basn on the House Hoor for grastar thi 24-howrs, staging & sitin to desand
vote on the Yiparilsan No Fiy, Mo Suy bit

3 5 T
1 that kawos uns

Speakesr Ryars s tumed o the bamers
o far & vt gn
an ine PO Terrorst Watsh List,

swre S s

st of thy hands
fmpie - No Py, No Buy. Mo SIL N Break, Click to contrfbite §38

eing gont <3 for
1 right rie to show yous supps

i anfion.

ra you stard with ua? CGhip T $38 lnwards su
avery hour vty baen b the wadl of by s

A promant of sttenes o tha House foue e o 1ot suough to hator . Wy ot some
thoss wo have fost. Wo aed sefis e Bty of
amd B haghos wity & it ot on he Mouse

Thaniss or Baving obr bick,

Bt fay

* Email from DCCC Chief of Staff to Boulder Sirategies President and Rep. Lujdn’s campaign staff, June 23, 2016

(Exhibit 6 at 17-8362_0186).
* Email from the President of Boulder Strategies to the DCCC Chief of Staff, er al., June 23, 2016 (Exhibit 7 at 17-

8362_0188-89).
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CONFIDENTIAL

Subject to the Nondisclosure Provisions of H. Res. 895 of the 110" Congress as Amended
39. The text of the draft email reads:

As we pass the 11 am hour in Washington DC, my Democratic colleagues and I have now
been on the House floor for greater than 24-hours, staging a sit-in to demand a vote on the
bi-partisan No Fly, No Buy bill.

Despite the fact that Speaker Ryan has turned off the cameras and the microphones, I will stand
with my colleagues to call for a vote on commonsense legislation that keeps guns out of the
hands of those on the FBI Terrorist Watch List.

Do you stand with us? Chip in $24 towards our emergency fundraising goal -- $1 for every hour
we’ve been in the well of the House Chamber demanding action.

A moment of silence on the House floor is simply not enough to honor the lives of those we
have lost. We need action to keep guns out of the hands of suspected terrorists and it begins
with a vote right here on the House floor.

(Image from video provided by House Television shows House Speaker Paul Ryan at podium

© attempting to bring House back in order late on night of June 22, 2016 as Democrats stand up
from sit-in to hold up signs with names of mass shooting victims / Credit: House Television via
AP)

Tell the GOP: It’s simple -- No Fly, No Buy. No Bill, No Break. Click to contribute $24 (or
whatever you can) right now to show your support!

As I'said in my email last night, this is a matter of national security. We must come together to
pass this commonsense bill,

Thanks for having our back,
-Ben Ray"’

40. Representative Lujan and the President of Boulder Strategies both stated that
Representative Lujan played no part in drafting the second email on June 23, 2016.%°

41. However, the President of Boulder Strategies told the OCE that he believed “there was a
conversation prior to lsending the email] . . . about the Congressman wanting to time this
email appropriately.”® Although he could not identify who specifically told him about
Representative Lujan’s desire to time the email appropriately, the President of Boulder
Strategies assumed that the DCCC Chief of Staff told him.”

47
.
“ Rep. Lujén TOT (Exhibit 1 at 17-8362_0041); Boulder Strategies President TOI Exhibit 4 at 17-8362_0174).
:z Boulder Strategies President TOI (Exhibit 4 at 17-8362_0174-75).
1d.
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Subject to the Nondisclosure Provisions of H. Res. 895 of the 110® Congress as Amended

42.

43.

44,

45,

46.

He stated that the second email “was an email that was not on the calendar. Tt was not
one that we had already prepared. It was one that they asked for specifically to be added
to the schedule for the morning.”’

Concerning the use of a photograph of the House floor, Representative Lujan’s Former
Communications Director told the OCE that he believed he became aware of the
photograph’s usage after the President of Boulder Strategies informed him “a couple
days” after the second email was sent.” The President of Boulder Strategies told the
Former Communications Director that the photo came from a “news account and not
directly from the floor.”

The President of Boulder Strategies told the OCE that he had a conversation with
Representative Lujan’s campaign staff about the photo and “whether the usage met
certain standards.”™* He stated that “we agreed not to use further images from the House
floor, regardless of their sourcing, going forward, despite that the email went through the
appropriate approval process . . . It was a photograph that we sourced from an AP article
that was syndicated in thousands of papers across the country that day.”™

In sum, Representative Lujén may have conducted campaign or political activity by
requesting that his campaign committee “get something out” while on the House floor or
in a federal building. The committee then sent two emails stating that Representative
Lujan was on the House floor and connected campaign contributions to the sit-in, A
photograph of the House floor was also used in one of the emails as partisan political
campaign material.

The Board notes that Representative Lujan was cooperative throughout the review. The
Board recognizes that the evolving nature of electronic communications and campaign
solicitations sometimes presents novel issues that are not directly addressed by the House
Ethics Manual. This review raised difficult questions about the application of House rules
to solicitations via email. Ultimately, according to House standards of conduct, Members
are also responsible for the activities of their outside organizations, including their
congressional campaign committees. The Board believes that Members may benefit from
additional guidance regarding campaign activities and electronic communications.

3 i Boulder Strategies President TOI (Exhibit 4 at 17-8362_0173).
> Transcript of Interview of Rep. Lujén’s Former Comm, Director, Feb. 28, 2017 (Exhibit 8 at 17-8362_0204-05).
% Id. at 17-8362_0205.

54
5

. Boulder Strategies President TOI (Exhibit 4 at 17-8362_0176).
Id.
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Subject to the Nondisclosure Provisions of H. Res. 895 of the 110™ Congress as Amended

III. CONCLUSION

47.

48.

49.

50.

On June 22 and June 23, 2016, Representative Lujan’s congressional campaign
committee sent campaign emails stating that Representative Lujan was on the House
floor contemporaneous with the email’s issuance.

The first email, on June 22, was specifically requested by Representative Lujén during a
time when he may have been on the House floor or in a federal building. Although the
email did not make an overt request for a campaign contribution in the email text, it may
have provided links so that viewers could make a contribution to Representative Lujan’s
campaign committee.

The second email, on June 23, contained similar language to the first and specifically
requested a campaign contribution. The second email also contained an image of the
House floor.

For the reasons stated above, the Board recommends that the Committee on Ethics further
review the above allegation because there is substantial reason to believe that
Representative Lujan conducted campaign or political activity from the House floor,
solicited a campaign contribution from a Federal building, or used an image of a House
floor proceeding for campaign or political purposes.
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Transcript of Interview of Congressman Ben Ray Lujan
Conducted on March 2, 2017

Interview of CONGRESSMAN BEN RAY LUJAN, held

at the offices of:

CONGRESSMAN BEN RAY LUJAN

2231 Rayburn House Office Building
50 Independence Avenue, SW
Washington, DC 20219

(202) 225-6190

Pursuant to agreement before Colleen L. Darkow,
Court Reporter and Notary Public of the District of

Columbia.

PLANET DEPOS
888.433.3767 | WWW.PLANETDEPOS.COM
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Transcript of Interview of Congressman Ben Ray Lujan
Conducted on March 2, 2017

APPEARANCES

ON BEHALF OF CONGRESSMAN LUJAN:

BRIAN G. SVCBODA, ESQUIRE
RACHEL L. JACOBS, ESQUIRE
PERKINS COIE, LLP

700 Thirteenth Street, NW
Suite 600

Washington, DU 20005

(202) 654-6200

ON BEHALF OF THE CFFICE OF CONGRESSIONAL

ETHICS:

KEDRIC PAYNE, ESQUIRE

HELEN EISNER, ESQUIRE

U.S8. HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES
OFFICE OF CONGRESSIONAL ETHICS
425 3rd Street, SW

Suite 1110

Washington, DC 20024

(202) 225-9739

PLANET DEPOS
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Transcript of Interview of Congressman Ben Ray Lujan
Conducted on March 2, 2017
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Transcript of Interview of Congressman Ben Ray Lnjan
Conducted on March 2, 2017

PROCEEDINGS

CONGRESSMAN BEN RAY LUJAN,

INTERVIEW BY COUNSEL FOR THE

OFFICE OF CONGRESSIONAL ETHICS

BY MR. PAYNE:

Q. Good morning, Congressman.
A Good morning.
Q. So, as I just stated, you were presented

with the False Statements Act; is that correct?
A, Correct.
0. And you were advised that it does applﬁ/;

we advised you that?

A, Correct.
Q. Let me just begin with a little bit of
background.

Are you familiar with Boulder Strategies?

A. Yes.
Q. And what is Boulder Strategies?
A. Boulder Strategies is a consulting group

that does online strategy, fund-raising.
Q. And do they assist your campaign with

those type of services?

PLANET DEPOS
888.433.3767 | WWW PLANETDEPOS.COM
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Transcript of Interview of Congressman Ben Ray Lujan
Conducted on March 2, 2017

A. We hired, or I hired Boulder Strategies to
do some work this last election cycle for me, for

People for Ben.

Q. And when did you hire Boulder Strategies
exactly?
A. I don't know. . Sometime at the end of 2015

or into 2016.

0. And what specifically did you want them to
do for you?

A. Online fund-raising and digital strategy.

Q. And digital strategy, can you ine me a
little bit more details of what you mean by that?

A To work with helping me with, I guess,
Twitter, Facebook, things of that nature.

Q. And with whom havé you communicated at
Boulder Strategies; who are vour contacts there?

A. I rarely visit with them, with any of
principals there. I think I had some of the
initial conversations, when we hired them, with one
of the principals. I couldn't even tell you with

whom.

And predominantly Aaron, I believe, Aaron

PLANET DEPOS
888.433.3767 | WWW.PLANETDEPOS.COM
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Transcript of Interview of Congressman Ben Ray Lujan
Conducted on March 2, 2017

Trujillo, who is a Dtrip (Phonetic) staff, also
helps me ~- volunteers, helps me with my efforts on
my campaign, is the individual that communicates
with them predominantly.

Q. aAnd was Aaron involwved in the hiring of

Boulder Strategies?

A. Yes.
(o How did you find Boulder Strategies?
A. Word of mouth. And then we were looking

for a group, and we sat down with three or four
different entities, and then ultimately decided on
Boulder Strategies.

I think Boulder did some work for
Congressman Polis and it may have been just word of

mouth, so something like that.

Q. Do you know Nick Passanante?

A, I think he's one of the principals there.
Q. Do you believe you've met Nick before?

A. I think he's the gentleman that we sat

with when we were looking to hire a digital
strategist.

Q. Do you routinely communicate then with

PLANET DEPOS
838.433.3767 | WWW.PLANETDEPOS.COM

17-8362_0009



18

19

20

21

22

40

Transcript of Interview of Congressman Ben Ray Lijan
Conducted on March 2, 2017 8

Boulder Strategies?
It sounds like you're saying that you were
not the main contact with the organization.
A, I don't routinely communicate with Boulder
Strategies in any way; online, E-mail, phone.
Q. Now, when Boulder Strategies ~~

Al Gr in person I guess I should say, yeah;

Q. Okay. When Boulder Strategies is going to
send one of these online fund-raising
communications ~- and I'm assuming those are
E-mails; is that correct?

A. So Boulder Strategiles predominantly, I
think -- I don't know that they do anything else
for online or for electronic solicitations other
than E-mails.

MR. SVOBODA: One thing, just so the
record's clear, we've been talking back and forth
in the present tense, but we're talking about what
happened during 2016, correct? That Boulder
Strategies no longer is engaged by People for Ben.

MR. PAYNE: Oh, let's clarify that for the

record.

PLANET DEPOS
888.433.3767 | WWW.PLANETDEPOS.COM
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Transcript of Interview of Congressman Ben Ray Lujan
Conducted on March 2, 2017

BY MR. PAYNE:

Q. So is Boulder Strategies -- are they
retained by your campaign at this time?

A, Boulder Strategies no longer does work. for
my campaign, for People for Ben.

Q. And when did that end?

A. I want to say at the end of this last
election cycle, so maybe sometime right after
November of '16.

Q. And why did that relationship end?

A, Just decided not to use Boulder Strategies
any more. There were some questions during the
campaign, and it was just time to move on.

Q. So during the time period when Boulder
Strategies was retained by your campaign, you're
saying they would send out E-mail with campaign
contribution solicitations? »

A, So Boulder Strategies, it's my
recollection that Boulder Strategies would send
sclicitations for contributions and also send
E-mails that were petitions, asking people to sign

on with different policy issues.

PLANET DEPOS
888.433.3767 | WWW.PLANETDEPOS.COM
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Transcript of Interview of Congressman Ben Ray Lujan
Conducted on March 2, 2017 10

Q. Have you ever requested that Boulder
Strategies send out any particular solicitation?

A, I don't recall asking Bouldex specificaliy
to send out a particular solicitation. But early
on with hiring Boulder Strategies, I definitely
would mavbe suggest different areas of attention as
I would see other members sending out E-mails, and
I would suggest, vyou know, what about a kind of an
idea of something like this, but never directly
with Boulder that I can recollect.

You know, I would visit with other pedple,
maybe someone like Aaron, and offer an ldea. But
that was early on in the process in January. And
then things just started moving along and it was

rare for me just to jump in and even offer ideas.

[o 8 Let me make sure I follow what you just
said.

A, Yeah.

Q. So arcund January of 2016, vou would

suggest to Boulder Strategiles certain E-nmails that
they may send, but you would do that directly with

Boulder Strategies or indirectly?

PLANET DEPOS
888.433.3767 | WWW.PLANETDEPOS.COM
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A. I would not ~- I rarely, if ever,
communicated directly with Boulder Strategies. If
I ever had an idea, it would be just talked about
or -- with Aaron or someone like Aaron I guess, to
communicate that. And, I mean, sometimes I think
did them, sometimes they didn't.

Q. Okay. So you would talk to Aaron and he
would know to then speak with Boulder Strategies
about your idea of an E-mail solicitétion?

A, I would heope that he would talk to Boulder
Strategies. Like I said, sometimes they did
E-mails and sometimes those ideas came to fruition,
sometimes you wouldn't see anything that reflected
whatever you -- whatever was suggested.

Q. And you mentioned it could be Aaron or
someone else.

Who are the other potential people who you

may have communicated an idea with during that time

pefiod of early 2016, that would then be
communicated to Boulder Strategies?
A. Aaron or Drew Stoddard. If Drew and I

were I were having a conversation about this.

PLANET DEPOS
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Q. And who is Drew?
A. Drew Stoddard is my former communications

director in the office, no longer with the office.

Q. And what was his role with your campaign?

Al Drew volunteered on the campaign in
different capacities, predominantly giving me idéas
of some, you know, maybe taiking points or visiting
with him about how we could communicate with
supporters. ’

I'd share ideas with him as well, and he'd
share those either with Aaron or I'm guessing with.
Boulder Strategies directly. I‘don‘t know what his
line of communication was directly with Boulder or
with Aaron.

Q. Who else from vour congressional office
would work on these matters for your campaign,
whether that's volunteer basis or --

A. My chief of staff, Angela Ramirez, would
volunteer as well.

Q. Anyone else?

A. Predominantly, the two of them. My

district director sometimes would occasicnally

PLANET DEPOS
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17-8362_0014




10

11

1z

13

45

Transeript of Interview of Congressman Ben Ray Lujan
Conducted on March 2, 2017 13

volunteer, but that was more, you know, knocking
doors or something on the weekends. That's kind of
the work that Jennifer would do to volunteer.

Q. And your district director was not
invelved in Boulder Strategies services?

AL No. I very much doubt. I'm not aware of
Jennifer being invelved in any of those
conversations.

Q. Whe on your campaign staff would
communicate with Boulder Strategies?

A, Tara Lujan, if anyone, would communicate

with Boulder Strategies. But predominantly, it

would be --
Q. What is -~
A, Tara Lujan, no relation, served as our

campaign director, campaign manager during this
last cycle. But Tara, I don't believe that Tara
had direct communications with Boulder Strategies
on online work.

Predominantly it was Aaron that would
communicate with them. Aaron is the gentleman as

well, that when I sat down to hire Boulder
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Strategies, that process was with BRaron. Yeah.

Q. Now, why was Aaron the main contact with
Boulder Strategies?

A, I trust Aaron. I think that Aaron's very
thorough in how he scrutinizes contracts and
scrutinizes the process, and that's why Aaron was
the person.

Q. How do you know Aaron?

A, Jeez, we grew up in the same community,
and Aaron began working on my campalgn sometime
back in 2007. Was part of my official office from
a ledge perspective.

Left the coffice and then joined the DCCC
some years later when I was appointed chair, and is
still working with the DCCC today.

Q. Youkmentioned that he'd started working
with your office, I think, around 2007.

When did yvou first meet Aaron?

A. Not my office, on my campaign.
Q. Cn your campaign, okay.
Al Yeah, so I wasn't sworn in until 2009.
And Aaron may have joined -- I don't know if Aaron
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joined in 2007 or 2008. Sometime in that
timeframe.

I wouldn't say that I knew Aaron
personally. I knew Raron because we grew up in thek
community. Small communities, families go to the
same churches, we went to the same high school.

He's a lot younger than I, some years, I
don't know, ten or more years, eight or more years,

something like that.

Q. But no relation?
A No.
Q. And I want to now Jjust make sure I

‘understand your role in general when it comes to

E-mail solicitations.

S0 when E-mail solicitations were going to
be sent, you've explained that you wouldn't
necessarily tell Boulder Strategies directly to

send an E-mail; is that correct?

A. That's correct.
[e What was your role in solicitations,; what
did you do?
A, With online?
PLANET DEPOS
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O. Correct.

A. So we hired Boulder Strategies to assist
us in reaching out to supporters via E-mail., And
early on, I think there -- if my recollection
gserves me correct, there would be ideas that might
be shared with staff like Aaron about E-mails that
I might see from other members of Congress. I
guess you get pub on different lists as well.

So if you see E-malls that good, you can
say, hey, that sounds like a nice idea or maybe
something like that. You would send something
early on and say, hey, take a look at this one or,
you know, I received this today, take a look at it.
But that was predominantly it,

As far as editing or drafting or anything
like that, I had -- I never did that.

Q. Would they send -~ they meaning your
campaign or Boulder Strategiles, would they send
drafts to you for approval before they were sent
out?

A. Early on, there ~-- I think there were

drafts that may have been sent to us, or sent to
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me. But like I said, it’'s my recollection that
that was early in the process.

And that stopped happening through, I
don't know, maybe after the first quarter, maybe
after the first month. It wasn't normal practice
after, if ever.

Q. Ckay, so just so I have the time period
straight. You're saying maybe from January to
March approximately 2016, they would send you
drafts, but then that stopped a little bit after

that time period?

A. I would say 1f it lasted that long. But
I'm thinking that it -~ you know, it's probably
speculation, but it was early in the process. So

maybe the first month, maybe into February, but I
couldn't tell you that it continued to happen after
that.

I just know that that wasn't the process
going in as we were moving, you know, through the
campaign and I was traveling or we saw even
different reports coming in from Boulder with what

the success or what they were not doing with their
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online solicitations.

Q. Now, most companies that have -- that
provide these type of services, send online
solicitations quite freguently, but I'm not sure
about Boulder Strategies. ‘

How often would you say they were sending
out online solicitations?

A. It appeared that they treated different
clients differently, and other clients may have
received -- gotten more BE-mails go out. I don't

think that my campaign had a lot of E-mails going

out.
Q. So per week, would you estimate?
A, I couldn't even tell you.
0. Would you say more than one?
A, Sometimes yes, sometimes no. I really

couldn't tell you, but I know the volume was not
what I saw that other members would show or that
yvou would see with other.

I think Boulders could probably answer
that guestion better, give you a report ox

something.
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MR. SVOBODA: And Kedric, so the record is
clear, when you refer to solicitations, you mean
not simply the direct asks for money but also the
petitions to which the congressman referred,
correct? Any sort of E-mail that they might sénd
as part of the E-mail program?

Q. That is correct, I'm referring to how you
define solicitations, which falls into two
categories; the campaign contribution solicitatioﬁs

as well as petitions.

A, Ckay, thank yvou. And yes, the answer
still holds true. I'm not certain of the volume of
what they were sending out. It just didn't seem

like there was a blg volume.

O. How often would you send E-malls that you
might forward along indirectly to them about what
other members were doing so that they would send
out E-mail solicitations?

A. I don't know that it was on a regular
basis. It would be if you would read something
that seemed like a good idea and you pass it along.

Sometimes you read something that was a
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good idea and you just -- it didn't get passed
élong. I don't know that I could put a number of
how many that -- that was.

Q. But you are saying that you saw other
members sending out multiple E-mails, so I'm
assuming you're receiving multiple E-mails.

And would it be like once week you may
forward something along to Aaron or someone else to

say, look at this, or whatever you referred to

earlier?
A. It probably was either once a week, once
avery few weeks., It was random. It just depends

on when you would see something that you thought,
hey, this -- this looks like something we should
consider,

And like I said, just because I sent it
didn’t always mean that Boulder would do something
with that idea that I would see anyway.

Q. But when you sent it, these type of
forwards, what did -~ you wanted them to consider
sending something as a result of you forwardiﬁg?

A. I would send, vyou know, like an E-mail to

PLANET DEPOS
888.433.3767 | WWW.PLANETDEPOS.COM

17-8362_0022




et

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

53

Transcript of Interview of Congressman Ben Ray Lujan
Conducted on March 2, 2017 21

Raron, for example, if I received it from another
member, whatever their team was.

And it wasn't even from another member,
it's whoever their online consultant was or whoever
was doing work like Boulder Strategies.k and say,
hey, take a look at this, what do you think.

BY MS. EISNER:

Q. And just to clarify, you said earlier thét
the policy sort of changed earlier on, there might
have been some communications about receiving
drafts but that changed later. What --

A, I think it's unfair to describe it as
policy. I mean, I think early on, you know, you
hire a consultant and you say, hey, I want to see
kind of what vou're doing a little bit more. So
you know, kind of include me in what's happening.

But then you establish a trust with a
team, you hope that they're doing the job they're
supposed to be. And so you tell the team, hey, you
have autonomy, keep moving. And I would say that's
what it was like early on in the -

Q. Understood. And my use of policy wasn't
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-- doesn't necessarily have to be binding, just
kind of what was happening in practice.

But as far as kind of final
communications, whether they were solicitations or
petitions, would you always receive those types of
E-mails?

Al I think early on, I may have received
them. But later, E-mails would get sent out to
whatever list Boulder Strategiles had, without me
seeing them or editing them at all.

Q. Okay.

BY MR. PAYNE:

Q. I want to now just talk about the sit-~in

that happened in Congress around June 22nd, 2016;

do you recall that?

A. I do.

Q. And you participated in that sit~in?

A. I did.

Q. When did you begin participating in the
sit-in?

A, Sc I was in a meeting and C-span was on

and I saw that members began to go to the floor and
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I don't even know that I had the volume on. I
turned the volume on at that time and saw that the
members were going down and reading something to
the Speaker or whoever was in the chair and it was
clear that this was about 'No~Fly No-Buy' and that
members were gathering on the floor,
And so I don't know what the ﬁime was, but
I made decision at that time with the staff and T
said, I'm going to the floor, to which they
replied, you know, you have some -~ you have a
schedule today.
and I told them, I'm going to the floor.

Clear the day, let me know if there's anything that
we have to do or if there's some people that we can
still meet with maybe during the day, but I'm going
to the floor. And I went to the floor.

Q. and then when you went to the floor, how .
long did you stay on the floor?

A, So I was on the floor off and on until the
next morning for the -- I sat there for a period of
time and then we had a lunch or we had a meeting

outside of the building.
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So I left for a bit of time, I don't know
how much time, but I left for a bit of time and
then I came back to the floor during the night.

There were people gathering outside the
Capitol, so members would leave periodically to go
and either Just stand with the crowd or speak to
the crowd. You know, bathroom breaks, walking
outside to the front of the bullding of the
Capitcocl, just get a breath of air, and then go back
in.

So from the time I went in to the time
that T left, it was 6:00 or 7:00 a.m. the next

morning with times that I left in between, T would

say.
Q. Okay. Let me just walk through it again.:
A, Okay.
Q. 50 when you went there before lunch?
A. I don't know if it was before lunch, but

it was somewhere in that timeframe. That sounds

about right.

Q. And then you left for lunch?
Al There -- I wouldn't say it was for lunch.
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There was a meeting in the afternoon sometime. I
think it was a lunch meeting, I'm not sure. But
there was something in the afternoon that I
remember leaving the Capitol and the actual, you
know, getting in a vehicle and going somewhere.

And then came back later on that day. And
then once I came back that day, I didn't leave the
building in a car. As a matter of fact, I even
walked home the next morning at whatever it was,
6:00 or 7:00,

But, you know, the crowds again were
gathering and so we'd go inside and outside of the
Capitol Building to the front there, in front of
the steps or in front just to chat with another
member, like I said, just to get a little bit of
that cold air on your face that night.

Q. So at nighttime, vou were there after
lunch when you returned from this meeting?

A. Uh-huh.

Q. And then at night, you would go out where
the crowds were gathered ocutside of the Capitol?

A. So from the time that I returned in and
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out, like, you know, I don't know if it was every
hour or every whatever it was. Well, you're
sitting there on the floor and your legs kind of
get a little tight. You know, you want to get a
drink of water or something.

S0 you get up pericdically, stretch your
legs, go outside, just take a breath of air or
something and then just =-- and go back in.

But that wasn't just during the time that -
the sun went down, what I would describe as
nighttime. It was throughout that periced that T
would do that.

Q. And do you recall that a E-maill was sent
out from your campalgn on June 22Znd about the
sit-in?

A, I don't recall. After E-mails were shown
to me, then it was clear that something was sent
out from Boulder Strategies, but I didn't recall.

Q. And let me show you this E-mail, which I'm
sure you've seen, that's Bates-stamped THRL 0098.

If you can just walk me through what's

going on here., So it's an E-mail from Ben Lujan to
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Aaron Trujillo, and it says, get something out.

Can you just explain to me, what does that
mean, what is this E-mail that you forwarded to
him, and all the context?

A. So this is an example of an E-mall that
you would see that you might receive from another
member from their people and that I saw it.

You know, Michelle is asking in this
E-mail from her folks for people to lend their
voices to be heard, right, sort of this is a
petition. And so when I saw this, I forwarded it
to Aaron, you know, get something out.

Q. Aand why did you forward it to Aaron?

A. Aaron’s a person that I would communicate
with on things like this.

Q. And what did you mean by, get something
out; get what out?

Al Get a message out, maybe get something
out, take a look at this good idea.

Q. Get a similar E-mail to the one that's
from Michelle Lujan Grisham; is that what you mean?

A. Get something out.
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Q. But do you -~

A. It's just that. So get something out I
think just means that there's different members
that do different things, different strategists
that do different things.

Boulder Strategies created E-mails,
content, whatever it was. So get something out I
think just means that, get something out.

Q. So this E-mail assumes that what youk
referenced before, what you intended for Aaron to
speak with Boulder Strategies about getting out an
E-mail solicitation?

A. I would say that I would ask Aaron to
reach out. And like I said, sometimes there wers
communications, sometimes there weren't.

Q. But djust so I follow with this E-mail, did
you intend that Aaron would discuss with Boulder
Strategies this idea of a message to get out to
your E-mail list?

A. It was to tell Aaron get something out, I
guess. So I guess something similar, yeah. Get

something out,
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Q. And Boulder Strategiles would send that
out?
A, Boulder -~ again, Boulder -- so I think

the way that you started the questioning was asking
who the consultant was. The consultant that was
hired to do online work was Boulder Strategies.

Q. Okay.

A. Boulder Strategies sent BE-maills out,
whether it was petitions‘or it was online
solicitations or anything like that. So Boulder
Strategies is the group that would send things out
or not send things out.

Q. Ckay, okav.

A. Often times the reason they’re not doing
work any more is because they wouldn't send things
out as well. But it was up to Bouldexr Strategies.

. I think you and I are on the same page, I

think I understand you. So let me just run through

it again.

You sent it to Aaron with the idea that
Aaron would send this to the people who get E-mails

out, Boulder Strategies?
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A. With the idea that at least Aaron would
talk to them about something. Like I said,
scmetimes they, Boulder Strategies, would send
something out, sometimes they wouldn't.

But the idea here was to get something to
Aaron, say talk to them and say I guess in this
case, it was get something out.

Q. Now, I've gone through the technical part.
Now we're just getting to the why.

Why did you want to send out a message at
this point?

Al Well, you know, Michelle, I think, had a
good idea here to say she wanted to createysome
attention that whatever =-- all the work that people
were doing, and lend your voice to say, sign a
petition and say, let us vote.

I -- you know, there's petitions that you
send out to folks that say, we just need your voice
to be heard. This wasn't a sclicitation for money,
that was in this E-mail at all.

And so I think there's different tools.

Like I said earlier, Boulder Strategies would
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either send petitions out or they would send direct
asks for contributions for money.

This was a request from Michelle to people
to say lend your veoice, sign a petition. And I
thought that was a good idea, so that's what I
said, is get something out. And it was my hope
that we could get something out that would ask
people to lend their voices.

Q. Now, was Aaron to understand the
distinction between sending out an E-mail that is a
solicitation for a petition versus solicitatién for
a campalgn contribution?

A, I don't know. The E-mail, you can see it
for yvourself, it's a -~ this doesn't ask for money.

And when I said, get something out, right, it's --

I'm -- do you want me to read this into the record
oxr ==

Q. It's in the record when I --

A. I think that's what this says, is get
something out. So it's -- I don't know that it's

up to Aaron to make a decision of whether something

is a petition or if it's an online solicitation for
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money.

do and that's their job.

Q.

distinction between whether or not it's going to be
a solicitation for campaign contribution or

solicitation for petition?

AL

with an online strategy and presence for online
programs,

petitions.

would create different E-mails depending on what

they thought would work and what wouldn't work in

reaching

educating them through petitions or asking them to
lend their voices, or if they would send an online

solicitation. But Boulder would do that, that's my

belief.
Q.

campaign

either a

petition

That's what Boulder Strategies was hired to

So Boulder Strategies makes the

Boulder Strategles was hired to come up
whether it was for money or if it was for

And so Boulder, it's my understanding,

out to the community, and not only

So it was vour belief that once your
communicated with Boulder, it would be
campalgn solicitation, or an E-mail

solicitation, but it could be either/or
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the moment they were notified by your campaign?

A. I bélieve s0. You know, whether someone's
asking Boulder for a petition or for an online
solicitation, they're the experts.

And I think that Boulder Strategies should
know what strateqy they're deploying based on their

practices and why they do the work they do.

Q. And did Aaron respond to this E-mail?

A. No.

Q. How do vou know? I mean, just --

A. Because you all had me do a search to see

if there were any E-mails. 2and, you know, in the
timeframe that you sent me, that's what I found.

Q. Do you think you had any conversations
with Aaron at this time about the reguest to get
something out?

A. I don't remember that I did.

MR. SVOBODA: And at this time, you mean
the 22nd?

MR. PAYNE: That's correct, the 22nd 2016.
Let me ~- right, I mean, at this happening.

MR. SVOBODA: Contemporaneously with the
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sending of the E-mail.
MR, PAYNE: So let me rephrass it.
BY MR. PAYNE:

Q. Before any E-mail was sent on June 22nd,
2016, did you have any conversation with Aaron
about sending an E-mail?

A, I don't remember that I did.

When vou sent this E-mail, where were you?

O

3¢ this E-mail says it's 4:02 p.m., June 22nd,
2016; where were you?

A. I don't remember where I was. It was in
the afternoon during the sit-in. So, you know, I
was in and out of the Capitol quite a biﬁ. I don't
remember exactly where I was when I sent it.

Q. Is it possible that you sent it while you

were within the House, Capitol Building?

A I think anything's -- it's possible, but I
was —-- like I séid, depending on where I was moving
to or moving from. But it was that afternoon

clearly at four o'clock.
Q. pid you -~ well, let me show you the

actual E-mail. Let met me back up once again.
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This E-mail account, benraylujan@me.com,
what is that E-mail account?

A. That was a personal E-mall account of
mine.

MR, SVOBODA: And Kedric, if that ends up
being on any sort of transcript, I assume that
information will be redacted so the world doesn't
have a congressman's private E-mail?

MR. PAYNE: Well, it's going to be in that
document. We always redact the documents.

MR. SVOBODA: Fair enough.

MR, PAYNE: That's great.

MR. SVOBODA: Thank you.

MR. PAYNE: Sure.

BY MR. PAYNE:

Q. Congressman, I want to show you the E-mail
that was sent, or at least a draft, close to a
final draft of it. This is document stamped THRL
0041 through 0044.

I think I'm giving you --~ I am not giving
you the right document. Hold that though, we're

going to use that in a second.
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Al Ckay.

Q. Thank you for your patience.

A. No, sir.

Q. Instead showing you document Bates-stamped

THRI. 0036 through 0038.

Feel free to read the entire E-mail, but I
want to ask you about the draft E-mail from Ben Ray
Lujan to friends at the bottom.

A. Okay.

O. Okay. So the first sentence of the E-mail
from Ben Ray Lujan says, today I joined countless
colleagues on the House floor to demand action that
will make our country safer.

What was your role in that language being

in that BE-mail?

A. None.

Q. Did you review this language before it was
sent?

A. No.

Q. Did you approve the language?

A, Ne.

Q. Did you instruct anyone to include that
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language?

A, No.

o, And when did you first see that this
E-mail had been sent? k

AL I couldn't even tell vou.

0. Do you receive the E-mails that are sent
from your campalgn similar to the way you received
them from other members of Congress?

A. So I sometimes do., That's a -- one of the
questions that I had, is sometimes it seemed that I
would receive E-mails and other times' I would hear
from supporters that they received an E-mail, and I
would go check my inbox and I wouldn't see it.

MR. SVOBODA: Perhaps you were span
blocking vourself.

A. Whatever was happening.

Q. So you don't recall whether or not you saw
this while you were still participating in the
sit-in?

A, Uh-uh.

Q. Now, this was sent, it seems, in the

evening of Wednesday June 22nd, 2016, which is
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after you sent the request to Aaron to get
something out.

Is it your understanding that you saying
get something out led to this E-mail being sent
later in the evening?

A, Tt could be. I don't know what Boulder
Strategies was doing or not doing, if they were
already putting E-mails together for their clients
or not putting together E-mails for their clients.

Q. Let me now look at that second document

that I gave vou.

AL 00417

Q. That's correct.

A, Ckay.

Q. Again, feel free to read the entire

document, but I wanted to draw your attention to

the Ben Ray Lujan for Congress E-mail.

A. Okay.
Q. What was your role in drafting ~- well, I
should -- let me rephrase it.

What is your exact role in this E-mail

being sent?
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A, No role.
C. Did you reguest that this E-mail be sent?
A. No.

Q. Did you read any draft of the E-mail

before it was sent?

A, No.

. And did you approve the sending of this
E-mail?

Al No.

Q. When did you first learn that it had been
sent?

Al I couldn't tell you.

Q. Now, everyone knows -- well,‘I shouldn’t

say everyone,

At a given time, when there was attention
drawn to E-mails that had been sent during the
sit-in.

And do you recall that a few days later
and possibly even a few weeks later, there was
concern about your E-mails that were sent during

the sit-in?

A, There was an article or something that was -
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written about the issue, if I remember correctly.

Q. And then can you tell me more about that?
Like, what I mean is what did you learn about
potential problems with these E-mails and then-what
were your actions to deal with those concerns?

MR. SVOBODA: And here, Congressman,
vou'll want to avold conversations about that vyou
may have had with your own attorneys or that your
staff may have had with your attorneys, so.

A. I mean, I don't remember necessarily.
Scomeone may have shown me the E-mail, or not. And,
you know, when I see E-mails like this that have a
phote in them, I ask, well, where did that citation
come from.

And I, again, it's speculating, but I
could have or probably asked, like, what is this.

Q. Do you recall who you had a talk with?

AL It was probably Aaron.

MR. PAYNE: Do vou have any guestions?

BY MS. EISNER:
Q. So after that conversation with Aaron, was

there any effect on the relationship with Boulder
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or with your campalgn staff with regards te E-maills
of this nature?

A, I think Aaron said he called Boulder and
asked, you know, what they sent out because of
maybe the article, something like that. And there
were a lot of guestions as to what Boulder did and
making sure that they follow all the rules
associated with citing information.

And I believe Boulder assured Aaron that
there was -- and so this is, again, mekgettinq it
third-hand, right? Assured Aaron that this was a
photo that was taken from a news website or a
television station or something, a print medié
folks. And I don't know what other follow-up there
was after that. .

MS. EISNER: That's all I have.

MR. PAYNE: Well, Congressman, thank you
so much, If there's anything that I didn't cover,
anything that you believe may clarify something,
let me know now and we can share it with board.

CONGRESSMAN LUJAN: It seemed pretty

thorough., I don't know. Is there anything else?
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MR. SVOBODA:  No, I think we're good.
CONGRESSMAN LUJAN: Okay, thanks.

{Off the record at 8:51 A.M.}
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CERTIFICATE OF SHORTHAND REPORTER-NOTARY PUBLIC

I, Colleen Darkow, the officer before whom the
foregoing interview was taken, do hereby certify
that the foregoing transcript is a true and correct
record of the interview; that said interview was
taken by me stenographically and thereafter reduced
te typewriting under my direction; that review was
not requested; and that I am neither related to,
nor employed by any of the parties to this case and
have no interest, financial or otherwise, in its
outcome.

IN WITNESS THERECF, I have hereuntce set my hand
and affixed my notarial seal this 13th day of

March, 2017.

Colleen Darkow
Notary Public

My Commission Expires 9/14/21
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Subject to the Nondisclosere Provisions of H. Res. 895 of the 110th Congress as Amended

ERRATA SHERT

S

R b TR R |
The sentencs js missing o word snd doss nat

A 8 then, " they did e, runks Semsa withaut i,
N The Congressman was refarsing to the leglsistive
14 13 Tha wor ladgs should be changsd Io Jsg, ‘which would 56 g .
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Frow ber ujan
Gubjech Fed: Ubdate: House Dems sre slaging a sivin

Tor dron Tigle

Gt somsthing out

Begin forwarded message:
Dater Jure 28, 2016 a1 30088 BMELY

foraeny -~ " 1
Sublech: Uptebe: Hotse Dirs e stiging wad-n
Aoty RN

Michelle
Lujan Grisham
DEMDCRAT for CONGRESS

Dear Ban,

P Hiterally on the House floor with dozens of my Demovratic colleagues to
demand a vote on the "“Ne fly, no buy” gun safety Bl

it is time to deal with the gun epidemic in this country. If you are on the *no-fly”
list, you should not be allowed to buy a gun, Period,

But Speaker Paul Ryan has rafused to let us vote on this issus before we
break for our planned recess. We aren't leaving until he does. House
Democrats have had enough — we are tired of baing sitenced by some
Republicans and the NRA,

i you think the House recess ean walt, add your nams to this petition snd
tell Bnanker Ryan — LET UB VOTE,
Sinceraly,

Mithelie Lujan Grisham
U.8. Congresswoman

FAID FORBY FRIENDS OF BICHELLE {
i

iy beliers wa nesy & Cangrosswaman who wil Boht 1 ghve everyen a o o five e Amelivan
o Gishor o Eaosbinek and Tafier Shoubl you wan t unsdescibe then you 2an ek erg.

“Tivis el

BRLO00GSS

THRL_0098
17-8362_0061
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______________ %
INTERVIEW WITH THE

OFFICE OF

CONGRESSIONAL ETHICS
______________ %

Washington, DC
Wednesday, March 1, 2017

4:03 p.m.

Job No.: 137151
Pages: 1 -

Reported By: Janet A. Hamilton, RDR
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Transcript of Interview of—
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PROCEEDTINGS

BY MR. PAYNE: All right. So, (iR ve
will begin. I just want to first start with
background, and let me also back up and just say
that you were provided with the False Statements
Act; is that correct?

— That's correct.

MR. PAYNE: Okay. And we anticipate that
you will be able to sign the form but that we did
advise you or let you know that the False
Statements Act applies -~

— Certainly.

MR. PAYNE: -~ and whether or not you
signed it.

“: Certainly. I just want to
understand more about it, so ~--

MR. PAYNE: No problem. So let me begin
just by gaining a little bit of your background.
Where are you currently employed?

—: I'm currently employed at

the Democratic Congressicnal Campaign Committee.
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MR. PAYNE: And what is vour title there?

-: My title there is chief of
staff.

MR. PAYNE: How long have you been
employed there?

- I've been employed there
since January of 2015,

MR. PAYNE: And were you ever emploved
with Representative Lujan's congressional office?

—: Yes, I was.

MR. PAYNE: And when was that?

— My last date of employment
there was in 2000 -~ 2012 or 2013. After I worked
in his office I went over to the US Department of
Commerce and I worked in the Office of Legislative
and Intergovernmental Affairs there before going to
the Democratic Congressional Campaign Committee.

MR. PAYNE: And you said you ended
employment with Representative Lujan in 2012,
About how long were you employed with his

congressional office?

“: I was employed with his
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congressional office since I came to Washington, DC
which was in 2008.

MR, PAYNE: What was your title while
employed with the congressional office?

-: I had a few different
tiles. I started off as a legislative
correspondent, and I made my way up to a
legislative assistant by the time that I was
finished in his office.

MR. PAYNE: Okay. Have you ever been
employed with Representative Luijéan's campaign
committee?

B voc. 1n 2008, 2007 and
2008 I worked on his first campaign for Congress.
I was a political director for his campaign, and
then in 2009 before the 2010 reelect campaign I
took a leave of absence from my Job on the Hill,
and I went back to New Mexico for several months to
work on his first reelection campaign. I was the
campaign manager, and then after the campaign was
over I came back after my leave of absence, and I

began working in the congressional office again.
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MR. PAYNE: Okay. Do you currently
provide any services to Repreéentative Lujén's
campaign committee?

BE: 1 nean I'm in touch with
the individuals who work on his political work back
in New Mexico. I'm more of a volunteer capacity.
I'm not paid by the campaign, but, you know, I've
worked with the Congressman for many, many years.
I'm from New Mexico. I've done politics in New
Mexico, and I'11 often give my advice on just whét
I think might be good ideas or, you know, things
to, to look at in further detail, but I do that
with a number of different campaigns as well in my
rele at the Campaign Committee.

MR. PAYNE: So can you walk me through
the type of work that you currently provide to the.
campalign? I know you say it's on a volunteer
basis, but can you give more details besides just
the types?

B surc. 1f anybody who is
inveolved in his politicai campaign might have a

question about who somebody is or, you know, if
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there's an issue happening in New Mexico that I
might be familiar with, they might give me a call
and I might provide advice to them on, you know,.
how they should -~ who they should talk to, how
they might be able to handle any given issue given
the circumstances, things of that nature, because,
again, I am from New Mexico, and I've worked in New
Mexico politics. Even before I worked for
Congressman Lujén I had worked in New Mexico
politics for about four or five years before I
worked for him. So.I have a good lay of the -land,
and sometimes the people that worked on his
campaign side will just ask me questions.

MR. PAYNE: Okay. )

“: And, you know, they know
that they can call me in the evenings or whatever
like, you know, when I'm around to ask me
questions.

MR. PAYNE: You mentioned people who work
on his campaign. Who were those people who contact
you?

—: Mm-~hmm. So currently he
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has two people working on his campaign that are in
the role of finance, finance consultants, and that
would be Steve Fitzer who is his primary finance
consultant. He does work in both Washington, DC
and New Mexico, and then there's another individual
that works for Steve Fitzer and his name is Sean
Marcus, and he does primarily work in New Mexico.

MR, PAYNE: Do you do any work related to
sending out campaign e~mails for Representative
Lujan's campaign?

_: I've been involved in
providing ideas or reviewing any sort of content
that is sent out by the Congressman's e-mail
program simply because, you know, there are nuanced
ways to talk about certain issues especially if
you're trying to communicate to grassroots
supporters and things of that nature, and so like
every now and again, 1f I get an opportunity, I'11
sort of scan the e-mail to say, oh, this looks good
or, you know, you know, say this maybe a different
way or, you know, if there are any flags that I

might raise regarding an e-mail or something like
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that, I will, but it's not a consistent thing.

It's kind of just like on a case-by-case basis just
depending on whether or not I have time during the
day, you know, like if I'm, you know, I've got an
extra minute or two here or there and, and I have
time to look at things.

Sometimes, you know, like especially last
year, I will help, like if there's a conference
call with the campaign staff because last year the
Congressman had basically a fully operating
campaign with a campaign manager and their finance
consultants and Boulder Strategies who was the main
e-mail, e-mall program consultant, 1f there are,
like, conference calls or anything like that that
are scheduled for any time during the week, I'll
participate in those conference calls just
depending on what's going on during the week.

MR. PAYNE: And then what is your role in
those conference cails then?

B 1ixe 1 osaid, 1'11 just --
I'm just kind of like a volunteer; like I'1l1 listenk

and provide advice if I think something is, needs,
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you know, clarification or provide ideas sometimes,
but it's the primary function of the other
individuals to, like, execute whatever we talked
about on the phone calls. So, for example, if it's
finance related, it's Steve Fitzer; if it's e-mail
related, it's -~ it was Boulder Strategies; if it's
like field or anything related, it's whoever the
campaign manager is at any given point in time, but
I'11 just sort of like participate ig an advisory
role, but I'm basically a volunteer.

MR. PAYNE: What was your role with
Boulder Strategies? You mentioned them. How often
would you interact with Boulder Strategies?

B 1 interacted with them
quite a bit I would say, especially in the
beginning of their time as Congressman Lujén's
e-mail consultants, especially because that was a
time when they were trying to get to know the
Congressman and, you know, create content that was
maybe in his voice, if you will, the way he would
say things or the way that, you know, certain

pictures looked or things of that nature, the
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formatting of the e-mails, that kind of stuff,
because they wanted to do right by him. So I would
talk to them guite freguently to kind of just give

them advice on what I thought would, would be a

good way for them to approach any given project or

creating content and things of that nature. Sinmply
because I had worked for the Congressman for so
many years, I had worked on his campaign, you know,
I had a lot of experience with being in New Mexico
and doing politics in New Mexico, and so that was
basically the advice ﬁhat I gave him.

MR. PAYNE: ©Now, when was this?  You saié
it was when they first ca’me on, but when was that
time period?

—: It was the majority -- I'm
saying the majority of my interaction with them was
when they first started, that was very frequent.

MR. PAYNE: When did they first start?

—: Let me think. I don't
remember 1if it was late 2015 or early 2016, but at
some point in early 2016 I know that they were

fully on board, and that's when they reached out to
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me for advice and --

MR. PAYNE: Were you involved in the
hiring of Boulder Strategies?

—: I was involved in their
interview, but I didn't, like, make the decision to
hire them. There were a number of different
companies that came to. pitch Congressman Lujéan on
what services they could offer in terms of an
e-mail program, and I was sitting in on those
interviews just to hear what they had to say
because, like I said, vyou know, I would offer
advice to Congressman Lujén's campalgn, you know,
anybody that was involved in his political side
like Steve Fitzer and others. Steve Fitzer was
also in those interviews as well, but I didn't make
the decision to hire Boulder, but I was involved in
those interviews.

MS. EISNER: Who invited you to
participate in the interviews?

—: I sort of invited myself.

I mean I knew that sort of there was an open door

for me to participate in Congressman Lujan's
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campaign because I had done it for many years, and
it was something that I kind of just took upon
myself to go and sit in on those intexrviews because
I wanted to be in the loop, especially if somebody
had asked me a guestion or anything of that nature,
especially if they asked me a question about New
Mexico. So I knew that, like; it was an open
invitation. I didn't have to, like, ask for
permission, or nobody had to ask me to be involved
in that at all.

MR. PAYNE: Did you have anything else?

MS, EISNER: You can go ahead.

MR. PAYNE: So in the very beginning
which you think may have been some point early 2016
were you the main point of contact for Boulder
Strategies with respect to the campaign for
Representative Lujén?

“: I ~- I was probably one of
their main contacts simply because they were asking
me their opinion on how they should approach the
e-mail program and, you know, how widespread e-mail

use is in New Mexico and that kind of stuff just
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because I had worked on campaigns before and I kind
of just know that information from my work on
campaigns, but I would say in addition to me
another one c¢f their primary contacts was Steve
Fitzer because Steve Fitzer oversees all of the
finance operations, and included in that would be
e-mail fundraising as well. So, so part of the
e-mail program obviously sometimes is asking for
campaign donations through e-mail, and because that
had a financial component Steve Fitzer would be the
one to be the main contact for anvthing related to
that.

MR. PAYNE: Okay. BSo then you would work
on helping them draft the e-mails? And let me be
more specific. You would help Boulder Strategies
in its very beginning know the voice and know how
to draft the campaign e-mails that they would send; -
is that correct?

—: Yeah, somatimes.

MR. PAYNE: Would you also approve any
solicitation, an e-mail solicitation that Boulder

Strategies would send on behalf of the campaign?
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“: S0, so I wouldn't say
approved because I wasn't, like, the end-all be-all
voice of, like, who was in charge of the e-mail
program., There were several people that Boulder
wanted to just keep in the loop consistently about
what they're sending, and so we had this sort of
like piecemeal system where, you know, we always
knew that, that I would be on an e-mail before it
went out. They would share the content with an
e-mail before it went out with a number of
individuals, and, and Steve Fitzer and myself sort
of like took it upon curselves to be like, veah,
we'll take a look and say, like, we're good with
this or maybe we should change a line here. I
often line edited e-mails because, you know, it
didn't sound right or, vou know, there were things
that were in the e-mails that concerned ne.

For example, like there was a point in
time early on when Boulder was drafting content
where they were like using e-mail, or they were
using pictures from the Internet and pasting them

in the body of the e-mail without citing them
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properly. Sco naturally that was likeva big red
flag for me, and I said any time you use a picture
or anything -— it doesn't matter if it's, like, a
pilcture of a sunset or a pilcture of anything --
like, vou have to cite it because if, if somebody's
pilcture or intellectual property is captured in one
of our campaign e-mails, it's going to be a problem
especially if we don't cite where it comes from.

50 things like that, yes, absolutely I
would be involved in helping them figure out
before, you know, they sent an e-mail out or
something like that as it related to the content of
the e-mail.

MR. PAYNE: How about when the decision
was made to even send out campaign e-mails? How
did that -~ how would those typically start?

B so it started with -- it
started sort of blg picture with a calendar. 5o
Boulder Strategies was in charge of creating a
calendar of e-mails that would go out every month,
and their expertise was how to sort of create the

best possible structure for the calendar and then
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creating the content therein that would follow the
calendar, and that calendar was sort of based on
like current events, like what was in the news
cycle, vyou know, sort of anything that was relevant
to Congressman Lujéan’s district back home, you
know, like New Mexico's birthday or, you know,
anything like that that would go into delivering a
message to show that Congressman Luién was, you
know, very much had his pulse back in New Mexico
but has his pulse on current events across the
country, and so a yearly calendar would get
formulated, and then from there a guarterly and a
monthly calendar would get formulated, and just
depending, like, if anything popped in the news
cycle, like sometimes that would influence whether
Boulder or not created content and stuff like that.
So they also had their ear to the ground when it
came to that kind of stuff, but that's basically
how the process worked, and then, you know, they
would, you know, go back with their writers, or I
don't know if they had writers or however they digd

it, and come back to that e-mail chain that T
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described earlier where we would provide our
feedback with whatever they had created on any
given day or any given week based on what was going
on or what they had planned in the calendar,
anything lining that.

MR. PAYNE: Okay. And would you ever
initiate campaign e-mails such that, you know, you
speak to them and you instruct them to draft
something or you --

B vesn. Sometimes if T -

MR. PAYNE: -~ originate something by
e-mail?

—: Yeah. Sometimes if I
thought there was a good idea out there, I would
say, hey, we should think about deing something
like this.

MR. SVOBODA: -, you want to make
sure to let Kedric finish his question.

R on, sorry. Habit. I
thought about it.

MR. PAYNE: It just helps the record.

PR Oh, okay.
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MR. PAYNE: You mentioned your role with
the solicitations and Steve's role and Boulder
Strategles. What was the role of Representative
Lujan with these e-mails?

~: Well, first I want to
clarify. It wasn't just solicitations. It was --
it was just content delivery as well. Like that
was -~ it was like an all-encompassing program,
right. It was thanking people for being engaged.
It was sharing current events, and then sometimes
there would be a solicitation for support for the
Congressman's campalgn. So it wasn't just that,k

MR. PAYNE: ' Okay.

B »ro then can you repeat
your question again?

MR. PAYNE: Well, let mekjust -

B 1 wanted to clarify that

peint though.

MR. PAYNE: I‘fn glad yvou did. So how
would you decide whether or not the e-mail was
going to be one of these categories, that is a

thank-you versus a current event versus-a campaign
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solicitation?

" Well, Boulder would decide
because they had a technology called HubSpot that
basically they would like message test things, and
they did this for all thelr clients, right.  So we
weren't the only client that they had. They had a
number of different congressional clients and
corperate clients and organizations and things that
they do e-mail communications for, and from
whatever technology that they had they could decide
like, wow, people are really paying attention to,
like, you know, this issue or that issue or
whatever. So we never really knew what they were
going to say we should fundraise off of. It wasg
based on their recommendation as to what was
getting the most clicks. That's how they described
it; you know, this is getting a lot of clicks from
our other clients, or this is getting a lot of
clicks from what we're seeing out there through our
technology HubSpot, and then they wouldn't even
necessarily ask for our permission to say, like,

hey, we want to do a fundraising e-mail on this.
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They would write the content. It was kind of liké
a known fact that if an e-mail came across for our,
for us to kind of look at, that if it had a
solicitation within it that they had already
identified that that was a subject matter via this
technology HubSpot, that could potentially yield a
good amount of campaign donations online.

MR, PAYNE: ' Were there ever occasions
where you instructed Boulder Strategles to include
the solicitation in an e-mailz

m I can't remember
specifically, but I would probably say ves.

MR. PAYNE: And then what would you base
it on? So if they're basing the decision on
clicks -~

—: I kind of just based it on
like a gut feeling. Like if something was, like,
in the news cycle for several days, then I would
probably say, oh, hey, this might be a good idea
for a fundraising e-mail. There were many times
when they came back and they're, like, no, that's

not a good idear but I kind of just based it off of

PLANET DEPOS
888.433.3767 | WWW.PLANETDEPOS.COM

17-8362_0088




10

11

1z

13

14

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

116

Transcript of Interview of [REREREIE

Conducted on March 1, 2017 23

sort of my own political pulse, if you will, of
what I thought activists and voters aﬁd people were
paving attention to at the time.

MR. PAYNE: Now going back to the
original question which was Representative Lujén's
involvement. So what was his involvement in these
type of e-mails where they are solicitations or thé
other categories that you described?

B 5o ne would never edit
a-mails or say, like, this is something I want to
send out or anything like that. The majority of
his feedback came sort of after the fact, and also
he, for whatever reason, subscribes to a lot of
other members of Congress and organizations' e-mail
lists as well, and he would say sort of like after
the fact, so, so I'11l take our e-mail program, for
example, 1f, 1f Boulder Strategies had created the
content based on the caiendar and all the other
things and HubSpot and everything and they decided
that we wanted to send an e-mail out about climate
change, and then, vyou know, I might get an

opportunity to review it and say I'm good with

PLANET DEPOS
888.433.3767 | WWW.PLANETDEPOS.COM

17-8362_0038




10

11

1z

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

22

117

Transcript of Interview of [N

Conducted on March 1, 2017 24

this, and Steve Fitzer might get an opportunity to
review it and say he's good with it, and Boulder
decides to send that e-mail out to the list.
Congressman Lujan would comment after the fact: I
don't like how this looks. This doesn't sound like
me. You know, we need to figure out a better way
to talk about this issue because there are some
nuances there that you're not capturing, that kind
of stuff.

MR. PAYNE: Nothing positive? You said
it was always --

B 1 onean if it was positive,
you know, we didn't get any feedback sokwe felt .
like we were doing a good job.

MR. PAYNE: Okay.

—: But, you know, I mean -~

and then there were also like, you know, plenty of

times where he would maybe forward an e-mail from
anothexr list that says, oh, I think this is neat
or, like, vou know, we should look at this or
something because he liked the way either the

content looked or he liked the way that the content
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was being talked about in the e-mall and that kind
of stuff.

MR. PAYNE: So¢ he, in those situations
where he would forward something, he would send
that forward to you, or would he send it to someone
else?

“: He would more than likely
send it to me.

MR. PAYNE: And why would he send it to
you?

": Just because he and I have
a lot of face time, and we often talk about
political strategy and messaging and things of that
nature, right, and so he probably just felt more
comfortable sharing that information with me
knowing that, you know, if I have the opportunity,.
I would share that and mavbe with Boulder or with
Steve Fitrzer or anybody that was involved, his
campaign or anything like that, as opposed to
having to go to too many people to share the same
idea.

MR. PAYNE: Okay. And so -- well, I want
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to understand, are there any times where
Representative Lujén would initiate an e-mail, but
it sounds like you're saying in certain situations
he would forward something to you, and that would
start an e-mail that Boulder Strategles would send?
":; No, not necessarily,
because I think almost all of the time Boulder was
already working on creating maybe the e-mail that
he said, oh, hey, this looks neat, like a neat idea
or whatever, right. So if it was a question about
formatting or not capturing his voice properly or
not talking about an issue in the way that he
wanted to talk about the issue or whatever's.
happening, current events, that kind of stuff, that
sometimes is direct feedback that I would share
with Boulder, but in terms of, like, the actual
idea for a subject matter or things of that nature,
more often than not I would never even tell
Boulder, like, hey, Congressman Lujan really likes
this, this e-mail from so-and-so simply because I
already knew that Boulder was already working Qn‘

something because of the calendar that they,
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because on the calendar that they had created, the
weekly calendar, monthly calendar, all that kind of
stuff.

MR. PAYNE: But did he ever just say, I
need a particular e-mail sent out? So not
necessarily something that falls into this category
you described him forwarding, but he would
communicate to you, I need e-mail to go out on a
particular subiject or whatever?

— No, no. I was never
directed specifically by him to send an e-mail out
on a specific subject.

MR. PAYNE: Was anyone from the
Congressional Office involved in the solicitations
or the e-mails? I should -- let me -- you made a
good point of how you distinguish the e-mails, so
let me just speak broadly. In terms of those
e~mails that were sent by Boulder Strategies,
during the time period that you were working with
them last year 2016, were people from the
Congressional Office involved in reviewing those or

any type of approval?
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MR. SVOBODA: And Kedric, would you
distinguish between in their official capacity or
volunteer capacity or either? I mean how are --
help me to understand, to follow that.

MR. PAYNE: Well, sure. Sco answer that
part, and I can distinguish it that way.

“ Ckay. Or I can just
describe it how I understood it to be, the
situation to be.

MR. PAYNE: Okay, mm-hmm.

_ For the sake of keeping
pecple in the leop, knowing that both Steve Fitzer
and I were the individuals that were most of the
time involved in either taking a look at the e-mail
or anything like that, Boulder Strategies added the
e-mail addresses of Angela Ramirez, the personal
e-mail addresses of Angela Ramirez and Andrew
Stoddard to the e-mail chain generally, but that
was just to keep them in the loop so that when they
had an opportunity on their own personal time to
kind of review their e-mail for the day, their

personal e-mail for the day, they could see what
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was happening, but in terms of approvals, no. They
were on those e-maill chains simply to know what was
in the loop and, if they felt necessary, provide
any type of feedback that they wanted to give given
the, you know, the time when they had personal time
during the day or, you know, whatever they were
doing. I mean I don't know where they were or, you
know; I'm sure that they kept track of their own
personal time and all that kind of stuff, but it
was simply to keep them in the loop on what was
happening on any given day.

MR, PAYNE: Okay. And you mentioned that
you have face time with the member.

“: Mm-hmm,

MR, PAYNE: When did this face time
typically occur?

B 't occurred between drives
between, between his office in the DICC. So, vyou
know, he has a car and a driver, and I would wait
for him outside the Congressional Office and, vou
know, 1f he was on the way or something, I'd come

and jump in the car and chat with him for five or

PLANET DEPOS
888.433.3767 | WWW.PLANETDEPOS.COM

17-8362_0092




3

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

21

22

123

Transcript of Interview of (55 EE R

Conducted on March 1,2017 30

ten minutes, and then he does keep office hours at
the DCCC several times a day. So in those time
blocks I would get, vou know, 15 or 20 minutes with
him most days.

Sometimes on Fridays I would drive him to
the airport from his home just to get a little bit
of extra time to talk with him, and then there were
several occasions last year through my duties at
the DCCC that we actually traveled together on long
trips to California and other places, so that gave .
us plenty of time to talk in an airplane or in a
car or anything like that. So those were the times
when we would discuss his campaign. Those were the
times when we would discuss different ideas, things
of that nature, or I would keep him updated on what
was going on, that kind of stuff.

MR. PAYNE: Okay. I want to now
specifically talk about the sit-in demonstration
that happened around June 22nd, 2016.

B vo-nmm,

MR. PAYNE: And do ycu remember that

sit~in demonstration on the Hill?
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B - o

MR. PAYNE: Okay. And do you recall that
Representative Lujén's campaign sent out e-mails
related to the sit-in?

B oo

MR. PAYNE: And do you recall how many
e-mails were sent out?

B o, 1 con't. T don't re-
-= I mean two.

MR. PAYNE: Okay.

B oo it was actually not
related to the sit-in because the sit-in was
prompted by this whole no fly-no buy because of the
Orlando shooting. That was the sort of impetus of
the e-mails, right, and so when I mentioned current
events or things that were happening in the country
or, you know, issues that are important to
constituents or things of that nature, the Orlando
shooting was what prompted a bunch of e-mail action
during that time.

MR. PAYNE: Okay. I want to show you I

think one of the e-mails that you're referring
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to ~-

oo

MR, PAYNE: =~ just soO we're on the same
page.  This is document Bates stamped THRLO0Y9. Do
you need a copy?

MR. SVOBODA: I think, remember, he needs
the code that's in the lower right~hand corner.

MR. PAYNE: Do you need this at all?

MR. SVOBCDA: That's just the number that
they use so that they're able to distinguish one
document from the other, so he can give you . this,
and you and he will both know that you're talking
about the same document.

N o ic.

MR. PAYNE: Feel freé to read the entire
e-mail, but I want to draw your. attention to the
e-mail at the bottom that appears to be a draft
related to the no fly-no buy bill that you just
mentioned. ‘

N oxav

MR. PAYNE: Does this refresh your

recollection about that e-mall that was sent?
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-z About this e-mail?

MR. PAYNE: Right.

By vean, totally.

MR, PAYNE: And what was your role in
this e-mail?

_:‘ So if I remember
correctly, before this e-mail was drafted Boulder
Strategies sent out their ideas for the week or
whatever they did, and, and somewhere in the
conversation because the Orlande shooting had
happened I think it was on a Saturday night,
Saturday or Sunday -~ it was during the weekend,
right -~ so everything for that week was sort of
surrounding this, this topic, and, and then Boulder
Strategies just went to work and, and started
drafting e-mails based on what was happening
surrounding the Orlando shooting.

The -- the idea for the, for the no fly-
no buy concept or whatever, that was what Boulder
had come up with, and then they sent this e-mail
around for approval at that time.

MR. PAYNE: Okay.
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MS. EISNER: What other e-mails or
outreach had Boulder Strategies done or proposed
related to no fly-no buy prior to this date June
22nd?

B 1 don't remember, but it
came -- it would -~ it used to come in the form of,
like, a content calendar or content for the week,
whatever, that was going to happen, and so when
this happened, obviously all of that changed
because 1t was a current event that was a hot topic
especially amongst people in New Mexico and around
the country, and I belleve Boulder wanted to
capitalize on thatf So they decided to, to start
drafting the content, and it was actually kind of
assumed -~ when they sent us this for approval or
for, you know, to look at or whatever, they called
it approval, but basically it was like if Aaron or
Steve Fitzer can take a look at these, that's
great; if not, they're going to, like, move forward
anyway, and if something was wrong with the e-mail
or whatever, they'd just, like, blame it on us and

say you didn't approve it or you didn't look at it
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or whatever, but yveah, I mean I think it was Jjust
sort of assumed that because that was happening,
given the nature of, like, how e-mail programs
work, like, there's this underlying assumption
about e-mail programs, right, and it's, like, you
plan as much as you can, but if a big topic happens
or something or something happens in the press or
whatever and there’s an opportunity to communicate
with your supporters or grassroots voters or
anything like that, then you take what's in the
news cycle and you try to add additional
information or your way of talking about the issue
or whatever the case may be. And so given that
common understanding, when Boulder had presented
this to us, even if it did deviate from whatever
the proposed calendar had been, we were kind of
just, like, okay, you know, this is the direction
they want to go because they have that technology
HubSpot and they have other congressional clients
who are probably also talking about the same thing,
and there were many other members of Congress

talking about this issue and organizations and the
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news and everything like that. So it was, like, a
common understanding that, vyeah, obvicusly they're
going to draft an e-mail about this because if, if
they were to send out an e-mail from Congressman
Lujan’'s account saying like, oh, how great are
puppies, you know, like, they would sound tone deaf
to everything that's going on, so, and then, you
know, once you start an e-mail program the people
who receive your e-mails expect to get an e-mail
from you especially if there’s like something big
happening, right, at that particular point in time,
right. So Boulder Strategies was well aware of
that, and that was the reason that they started to
generate this type of content because the news ‘
cycle was completely filled by this subject matter.

MR. PAYNE: So after they generated this
and sent it to you whét did you do with this e-mail
or with this draft I should say?

B 1 don't remember, but I
probably leooked at it, and I -~ I don't know. I
might have said, hey, I'm good with this; this

locks good or, you know, I might have made some
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line edits, but that's what I would do, you know,
in e-mails that I was sent if I had time.

MR. PAYNE: The first sentence here says,
"Today I Jjoin countless colleagues on the House
floor to demand action that will make our country
safer.”

S vo-nom.,

MR. PAYNE: Did you have any role in
drafting that language?

B vo. 1 didn't draft that
language. That was Boulder Strategies, and I don't
know, that -- I didn't draft that language, but,
like, at the time, 1f you remember the news
coverage from that time, it was like 24/7 of
basically this debate on the floor. So I think
that that's why Boulder Strategies wrote that.
That's just an assumption.

MR. PAYNE: Did you have any
communication with Representative Lujan concerning
an e-mail related to this sit-in?

B o, not about the sit-in,

but this is different from the sit-in. This is the
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bill.

MR. PAYNE: Okay. Did you have any
communications with Representative Lujéan concerning
this e-mail?

-: No, not that I recall.
Maybe he -- I mean he -- I think he forwarded an
e-mail that he thought was, like, a good idea or
something that, like, he liked, the way that they
were talking about the, about the, the subject
matter, but like I said before, when it came to
Boulder Strategies' role in this, you know, a
hundred times out of a hundred they were already
like drafting e-mails about what the subject matter
that the Congressman might have said, oh, this
locks like a neat idea or something like that.

Like they were already on it. So that's not
necessarily even an idea I would have gone back to
even tell Boulder, like{ hey, this is what the
Congressman wants to say because I never did that.
It was just because I knew that Boulder was already
sort of on the case based on what they were, what

they were drafting and what was being sent around
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by other members of Congress and all that kind of
stuff, right, to prevent that the, the optics of
being tone deaf on what's geing on around the
country. I knew that they were professional enough
to know that they better be focusing on this
because everyone else was.

MR. PAYNE: Okay. And let me make sure I
follow it. So in the first sentence it talks about
today I joined countless ceolleagues on the House
floor. You're saying that does not refer to the
sit~in?

—. I don't think so. I think
it refers to this bill because at the time, and
again, I'm just trying to remember this all right
now, there were countless people on the floor
giving speeches about gun violence in America, and
that was prompted by the Orlando shooting at the
time, and, and so, yeah, members were on the floor
or at the time talking about gun violence.

MR. PAYNE: Can you turn to the second
page, and this may refresh your recollection. 1In

the next-to-the-last sentence, paragraph I should
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say, it says, "Stand up if you support our sit-in."

—: Oh. So then maybe the
sit-in must have started by that time.

MR. PAYNE: And so does that refresh your
recollection that this e-mail was related to the
sit-in as well as the no fly-no buy legislation
that you just mentioned?

_ Well, to me it seens like
a contradictory e-mail that we screwed up because
it refers to two separate things, and so that just
means to me that, you know, as Boulder was drafting
stuff that they wanted to get as much content in an
e-mail as possible to prompt people to click on the
e~mail and read it.

MR. PAYNE: ©Now, did you have any
discussions with Representative Lujan about the
sit~in?

—: Not about the sit-in.

MR. PAYNE: What about?

~: Not about the sit-in.

MR, PAYNE: About anything else -~

. o~ o
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MR. PAYNE: -- around this time period?

MR, SVOBODA: Excuse me. And you mean
apart from the e-mail also. Apart from any issues
related to e-mail or fundraising, whether he had
any communications with the Congressman --

MR. PAYNE: That's correct.

MR. SVOBODA: -~ generally about the
sit-in --

MR. PAYNE: That's correct.

MR. SVOBODA: -- at the time it was
occourring.

MR. PAYNE: That's right.

B r cion't have any
conversations with the Congressman about the
sit-in. As a matter of fact, he wasn't even
around, so --

MR. PAYNE: What do you mean he wasn’t
arcund? )

—: He wasn't anywhere where

could talk to him. So I didn't have any -~

=

MR, PAYNE: Where was he?

Bl 1 believe he was on the
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floor or in his office because all this was
happening.

MS. EISNER: And where were you?

—: I was in my office at the
DCCC.

MR. PAYNE: And you believe he was in the
House floor and his office, what, during this
entire day on the 22nd?

_: Like whatever he does on
the official side, meetings or votes or anything
like that, like, while I get to watch votes on the
television or anything like that, I never have
conversations with him while he'’s on the official
side. The conversations I have with him are
whether I'm wailting outside for someone to come
pick me up, his driver, so that I could sit with
him in‘the car or when he comes to the DCCC and we
have meetings in his office or my office and if I'm
traveling with him somewhere and we get face time
on an airplane or in a vehicle, those are the times
T have conversations with him.

MR. PAYNE: Okay.
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MS. EISNER: How do you find out when
he's ready to meet you to, you know, for you to be
picked up to travel from one location to the next?
Who communicates that te you?

—: So the DCCC has a driver
that's hired to drive the Congressman around, and
he is part of his scheduling team. Now, schedulers
are allowed to see both sides of the schedule, and
the driver will tell me, I'm on the way to pick up
the Congressman; meet me here in five minutes,
because he is part of the scheduling team. That's
how I find out.

MS. EISNER: So this communication comes
from the driver?

—: That's paid for by the
DCCC who is part of his scheduling team.

MR, PAYNE: With this e-mail here you see
there's a contribution --

B vo-nmn.

MR. PAYNE: -~ block at the bottom? How

did that come to be in the e-mail?

—: I rhink that might
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actually just, is something that's permanent.

MR. PAYNE: Such that any e-mail that
they send may have that "contribute" button at the
bottom?

—: Yeah. Like sometime -- I
think it's just like one of the, like the Face book
or Twitter button, it's like something that's,
like == so, for example, if the subject of an
e-mail ils climate change is bad, you know, get
involved in your local community about climate
change, that "contribute® button is always just at
the bottom next to the Twitter and the Face book,
but if the communication is, give me five dollars
because today is the fifth anniversary of whatever,
right, that's a direct ask, that "contribute”
button is always there as well. So I think it's
just something that's permanent. I don't know.
You'd have te ask Boulder Strategies why they put
that there. I don't know.

MR. PAYNE: I want to show you an e-mail,

and the document is Bates stamp THRLO09S.

BN oo
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MR. PAYNE: Can you walk me through this
e-mail? It's an e-mail that is from Ben Lujén to
vou dated June 2Znd.

B s

MR. PAYNE: And if you could just walk me
through what this means. Sc he says to you, get
something out.

IR o

MR. PAYNE: What did that mean to you?

_: To me that just means he
thought this was an idea that he liked. Like I
said, he would forward me e-mails from members and
organizations all the time because he liked the way
they talked about an issue or something like that,

and so I already, you know, at this point in time I

already knew that Boulder was drafting this because

given the subject matter of everything that was
happening. 8o it was sort of just like, hey, this
is a way I like to talk about the issue or
something like that. I would almost describe it as
like, you know, if you're, if you're on the

Internet or you're walking around or something and
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you see something that's like really neat, like,
hey, we should do that, like, hey, we should go eat
there sometime or whatever. It's not a directive.
It's kind of just like an acknowledgement that he
may have liked the way that this e-mail read or
locked or whatever.

MR. PAYNE: And how did you respond when
he sent this that says get something out?

EEmmm: 1 don't think I responded
at all,

MR. PAYNE: Is it common for you not to
respond when the Congressman sends you an e-mail?
“‘: Sometimes, yeah.

MR, PAYNE: And when you say that they
were already working on something, it was your
understanding that they were working on e-mail
about the no fly-no buy legislation?

—: No. It was my
understanding that they were working on e-mails’
surrounding gun violence in America, that the
specific subject matter, you know, while obviously.

the coverage of the House floor probably had a lot
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to do to influence it and all that kind of stﬁff,
it was the Orlando shooting that had started the
whole new shift in communications from the e-mail
program.

5S¢ they could have general -- you know, I
don't know what the time is on this, but if I
remenber correctly from what happened that week,
everyone knew that all of the Democrats were going
to be talking about gun violence in America because
up to that point there had been so many things that
had happened with regard to gun violence that the
Orlando shooting shined a spotlight on gun violence
generally, and obviously that's a hot topic of
debate, and CHNN was covering this, this no fly-no
buy bill, but that was sort of a more specific
subject matter of the larger subject of gun
violence as a whole in America.

So when, when I received this e-mail
message from Congressman Luijan, I took it to mean,
oh, he thought this was a good way to talk about
gun violence or something to his grassroots e-mail

list knowing that because Boulder Strategies was a
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firm in charge of our e-mail program and knowing
that they're not tone deaf that they were probably
already drafting something regarding guns; it just
happened to be the no fly-no buy bill.

MR. PAYNE: Okay. And can you read the
subiect line of this e-mall that was forwarded to
you -—-

§: on, this one. Okay.

MR. PAYNE: -~ the subject line from =--

B subject, Update: House
Dems are staging sit-in.

MR. PAYNE: Okay. And then what was the
sit-in?

—: Well, first, that was
probably the subject line of this e-mail thaﬁ was
sent out by Michelle Lujan Grisham, not the subject
line that Congressman Lujan typed in the subject
box.

MR, PAYNE: Okay. And dees that subject
say anything about gun violence?

R

MR. PAYNE: So once you received this
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e-mail from the Congressman with the subject line
stating a sit-in, are you saying that you felt as
though the e-mail that was going to be about gun
violence addressed what he wanted you to be
concerned about?

— Well, I don't know if he
wanted me to be concerned about anything. I think
he was just forwarding me this e-mail which the
subject of this e-mail, and I don't know who
Michelle Lujén Grisham's online consultant is or
whatever, is update: House are staging a sit-in,
and I don't think that was a signal to me at all.
What I think the Congressman was trying to convey
was the fact that a member had sent out an e-mail
regarding qun violence. The specific issue in this
e-mail was no fly-no buy, but the fact that all of
this stuff was happening on the House floor and
people were trying to sort of capture the greater
subject matter of gun violence and, and regulation
on keeping guns out of the hands of people that
don't have guns as a general subject matter, that

that's what he was trying to convey by forwarding
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me this e-mail.

MR. PAYNE: Now, he sent you an e-mail
that talks about the sit-in. The e-mail we just
looked at before that was drafted by Boulder
Strategies mentions a sit-in.

B v

MR. PAYNE: Did you communicatekanythinq
about the sit-in to Boulder Strategies to include
in the e-mail that they sent?

": No, I don't think so.

MR. PAYNE: How did Boulder Strategies
come up with the idea to put the sit-in in the
e-mail that they sent?

B o ke T said before,
Boulder Strategies has many clients including other
members of Congress. In addition to that the way
that the e-mail communication consultant world
works, just like many other consulting practices in
different industries, is that people tend to start
speaking the same language. Like there's sort of
group think, if you will, in terms of like what to

talk about and what the hot topic issue is of the
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time period or anything like that. So I knew given
my previous work with Boulder that they were
probably already drafting material based on what
was happening in the news cycle, and what was
happening in the news cycle was first Orlando, then
whatever was happening on the house floor, and then
all of a sudden the sit-in started popping up on
the TV, right, and people were, like, live
streaming and doing all that kind of stuff, and I
knew that they were paying attention. So that's
probably how that got into these e-mails.

MR. PAYNE: I'm just thinking back to
what you said where you're the main point of
contact at this time period for Boulder Strategies.

“: No. I said early on I was
the main point of contact.

MR. PAYNE: And you said that was in

2016.

—: The early 2016, like in

March or in April of 2016. I would have more
regular conversations with Boulder at that time

than at this time because at this time they had
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already been doing Congressman Lujén's e-mail
program for several months. So I didn't need to
speak with them frequently. I was concentrating on
other things. I would, you know, if I got a
chance, review any of the e-mails. Like if thére
was a hot topic or something, I might suggest, you
know, hey, we should try to do something with this
or whatever, but I wasn't necessarily their main
voint of contact.

Like they did -- they did pay attention
if I gave feedback for sure, absolutely, because
they knew that, like, I had been involved in New
Mexico politics, and I had worked on the Chairman's
campaign once upon a time and that kind of stuff.

MS. EISNER: So who was the main point of
contact then on June 22nd, 201672

—: I don't know. Steve
Fitzer perhaps.

MS. BEISNER: So ==

-: I don't necesgsarily know.
if there was -~ sadly enough to say, I don't even

know if there was a main contact for Boulder
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because, like, they had been hired to do this
e-mail program, and they would keep everyone in the
loop by showing us content and showing us calendars
and things of that nature, but there was never a
designated main point of contact, like this is the
person you always talk to.

T kind of, like I said before, when I sat
in on the interviews and things of that nature
regarding the Congressman's campaign or if I were
to ever participate in conference calls or anything
like that, I knew that I had an open door to
participate in the campaign regardless, and if I
found time to do that in my day, I would do it, and
on particular days like this, it was a day where I
was helping the campaign, so I did.

MS. BISNER: Okay. So I'm looking at
this same document and, you know, the forwarded
e-mail from Ben Lujén is sent just to you.

B vo-hon,

MS. EISNER: So maybe you can help me
understand, you know, why did he have the

expectation that you were the individual that he
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should e-mail as far as get something out?
B . Well, I mean I would
often be the main person he contacted for a number
of reasons, like if he needed to get something
figured out with his campaign or anything like
that. So this, this tc me just wasn’t like, oh, my
God, go get an e-mail out right now. It was just
more of him sort of like communicating with me aé

he normally did about ideas that he had. It could

MS. EISNER: So the --

—: -~ be anybody.

MS. EISNER: ~- get something ocut, who
would have gotten something out then? Who was he
expecting to get something out?

—: Boulder Strategies
probably, mm-hmm.

MS. EISNER: BSo, so his expectation, and
correct me if I'm wrong then, is he was sending vou
an e-mail with an expectation that you would
communicate to Boulder Strategies; is that correct?

MR. SVOBODA: Well, to be clear, you're
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asking him --

[ W

MR, SVOBODA: ~- for his understanding --

MS. EISNER: His understanding.

MR. SVOBODA: ~- of what the
Congressman’'s expectations.

MS. EISNER: I'm asking for your
understanding of his expectations,

_: No, I don't think that's
what he meant because, again, it comes back to a,
sort of like a nuanced view of 1like how the, how
the Congressman communicates with me because I've
worked with him for so long, right.

MS. EISNER: Mm-hmm.

“: So like I said before,
there were many times when we would be, you know,
at a campaign rally or doing anything, and he would
be, like, oh, that's a greet idea; we should do
something like that. That's what I meant him to
say in this e-mail. I didn't -~ I didn't interpret
this to be a directive of go right now, go to your

computer, write something about fly-no buy, and
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then hit "send.”™ That's not what I meant -- I
thought he meant by this, and then your guestion
about who was in charge of getting something out,
it was Boulder Strategies. They were in charge of
his entire e-mail program. They are the people who
physically clicked “send” with thelr technelogy
HubSpot or whatever they used to, like, message
test and see which e-mails get more clicks and less
clicks and how to include e-mail solicitations and
all that other stuff, right. They were sort of the
keeper of the keys when it came to that kind of
stuff.

MR. PAYNE: Are you saying you saw this
as an FYI, like he's sending this to you as a for
your information with no action that was supposed
to be taken on your part?

B eon.

MR. PAYNE: And get something out to you
means take no action?

B waic. You have to
understand that the Congressman and I have, have a

longstanding working relationship, and I know the
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way he sort of like talks in like free, free lingo
speak right. This was not a direct proper sentence
to tell me to do something. This was him just like
expressing that he thought this was either a good
way to talk about the issue, or maybe he thought
the e-mail looked good or scmething, kind of often
left up to my interpretation a little bit. This
was not a directive to go get something out. This
was more like, hey, we should think about doing
scomething like that.

MR. PAYNE: Mm-hmm.

MR. SVOBODA: Kedric, I know we've been
going for almost an hour, and I'm gathering we're
prebably not qguite fo the goal line yet.

MR. PAYNE: We're getting close. We're
getting close. I'm about to move on to anothef
question.

MR. SVOBODA: Aaron, how are you doing?
Do you need water or anything?

0 o, 1've got my coffee.
I'm good.

MR. PAYNE: Yeah. Like I said, I never
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intended this to take too much time. Let's move
on. Well, do you havke any more guestions?

MS. EISNER: Go ahead.

MR. PAYNE: I want to talk about, you
mentioned that there were two e-mails that were
sent —--

By vo-non.

MR. PAYNE: -~ related to this subject
matter. One is this one we just mentioned here.
What was the second one that you recall?

_: So I recall the no fly-no
buy one because of this graphic. That's why I
recall that.

MR. PAYNE: Mm~hmm.

“ And then I recall a second
one that was definitely during the time after the
sit-in, after the sit-in.

MR. PAYNE: Okay. And when you say
"after the sit-in,” you mean after =-- well, what do
you mean by "after the sit-in®?

mz I mean by after the sit-in

because at that time, because by this time Boulder
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and I were communicating, right. We're
communicating through these e-mails, and everyone
was watching what was happening on the House floor,
and there was 24~hour coverage and everything like
that, and then it was being reported that the
Republicans were going to end the sit-in on CNN.

So given the sake of time I, I probably
communicated to Boulder Strategies like, hey, you
know, the Republicans are going to end the sit-in
as it's being reported; like we should probably try
to get another e~mail out that just basically
expresses the same sort of sentiment, because
remember, the sit-in was prompted by the Orlando
shooting and the string of gun violence well before
the actual sit-in. That's why == and that's what
was being reported on TV, and that's what the
organizers of the sit-in were saving on TV, and so
given the discussion that was shown on CNN about no
fly-no buy and then given what was being reported
on CNN about the fact that the Repuﬁlicans were
going to use a rule or something of that nature to

end the sit-in, then I probably told Boulder, .like,
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hey, we should try to get something out as soon as
possible regarding everything that's happening.

MR, PAYNE: Did you have any
communication with Representative Lujédn before you
sent that communication to Boulder Strategies about
another e-mail?

B o

MR. PAYNE: 8o for twe days you had no
communication with a Representative Lujéan?

“: That's correct.

MR. PAYNE: And at this point you're
directing Boulder Strategies to send out an e-mail.
So are you the point of contact at that point to
tell them what e-mail should ke sent and which ones
should not?

B vo-hom. As T ostated
before, they knew that I was somebody who had
worked on the campaign for a very long time, and I
probably had as good a read of anybody as to what
was going on or like ideas for communicating with
constituents or pecple on the e-mail or grassroots

people or voters or whatever. So yeah, they, they
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trusted me at that particular point in time
probably as somebody that they should pay attention
to 1f I had an idea. So if you want to call that
the main point of contact and in the context of
them taking my idea and doing something with it,
then yeah, because it was probably my idea.

MR, PAYNE: And did you take part in
drafting that e-mail that you requested Boulder
Strategies to send the following day June 23rd?

B 1 aidn't draft it. I, I
may have made some line edits. I didn't draft the
entire thing; and then I think I said, hey, I'm
good with this.

MR. PAYNE: Let me show you a copy of it.
This is a document Bates stamped THRLO041 through
0044,

N oo

MR. SVOBODA: Aaron, you'll want to read
the whole thing closely.

N sure. Okay.

MR. PAYNE: Okay. So is this the e-mail

that you're referring to, the second e~mail that
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was sent?

o

MR, PAYNE: And then what were your edits
to 1t? What section did you edit? What did you
add?

~ Oh, I don't know.

MR. SVOBODA: Do you recall whether you
edited at all?

B vell, no.

MR. PAYNE: Well, you just stated that --

—: I said I might have. I
said I might have, but you know --

MS. JACOBS: Ask the court reporter to
read it back.

MR. PAYNE: That's not necessary. I just
-~ I mean -~

MS. EISNER: i think you said you may
have made line edits and said, hey, I'm good with
this.

_: Mm-hmm. So I don't --

ME. EISNER: Do you recall specific line

edits?
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—: Looking at this

specifically I don't remember any specific line
edits, I don't. I don't remember specific line
edits that I made to this.

MR. PAYNE: Okay. With either of these
e~mails, the first one, the second one, did you
have those conversations that you mentioned before
with Representative Lujén following them being sent
out with him having any type of comments on the
e-mails?

MR. SVOBODA: During what time frame,
Kedric? I'm sorry.

MR. PAYNE: Any time frame. So, well,
I'11 divide it. So during this time period 2016
did you have any communications with Representative
Lujédn about these e-mails after they were sent?

0

MR, PAYNE: Mm~-hmm.

B o vear of 2016,

MR. PAYNE: Mm-hmm.

B so several weeks after, or

I don't know if it was several weeks or several
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days, but some time had occurred after, after all
of this had happened, right, like, and everything
was great, like, you know, we were moving forward,
and then a blogger, some blog raised issue with the
e-mail and said that they thought something was
wrong with it, and then a news story came out about
the e-mail particularly because they were raising
issue with a number of things that were happening
at the particular point in time. I guess there was
some issues with the live streaming and other
things that were happening at that particular point
in time. This e-mail was mentioned in that news
story. When that news story occurred, Congressman
Lujén obviously saw the news story and then became
concerned that there might be something wrong with
the e-mail. That -~ I remember that specifically
happening regarding, regarding this.

MR. PAYNE: And what did he say?

—: He saild, is there
something wrong with the e-mail? You know, if
they're ~- 1if they're sayving that there's something

wrong with it, is there? Like is there something
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wrong with it? And then in addition, like, they
knew that, like, this group that did the blog
before the news story was, like, a right wing group
that always would raise issues about anything and
kind of hype them up and blow things out of
proportion and that kind of stuff. So he -- but he
was generally concerned that something might have
been wrong.

MR. PAYNE: And what was your response
when he asked is something wrong with the e-mail?

B vy response was, I don't
know. Let me go find out.

MR. PAYNE: - And what did you find out?

EE ve1l, T othink -

MR. SVOBODA: You'll want to be careful
here not to talk about conversations with your own
attorneys about that with the DCCC, but beyond that
T mean obviously you should answer the guestion.

‘: Well, specifically I, I
thought I read in the news story, I don't remember
specifically, but I thought I read in the news

story that they had referenced the fact that there
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was a plcture of the House floor in the e-mail, and
so what I did is I went back to Boulder Strategies,
and I asked: Where did yvou get this picture of the
House floor? And if you recall what I said early
on in the interview was that they were pulling
plctures off the Internet and putting them in
e-mails without properly citing them, and so I, I
asked: Where did you get this picture of the House
floor, and they said they had gotten it from a news
story, a CBS news story or an AP news story and
that they had properly cited it in the e-mail and,
vou know, I had forgotten all about the e-mail at
that point, and so then I went back and looked, and
there was a citation on the bottom of the picture
that says where Boulder Strategies got the picture
from.

MR, PAYNE: And did you have any
conversations with Representative Lujdn at that
time in 2016 about whether there was concern with
the appearance that this e-mail was sent from him

on the House floor?

B o, never, because e-mails

PLANET DEPOS
888.433.3767 | WWW PLANETDEPOS.COM

17-8362_0129




10

11

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

160

Transcript of Interview of
Conducted on March 1, 2017

67

are never sent from him. So, so no. We were never
concerned that people thought he was sending
e~mails from the House floor because he wasn't.
Boulder Strategies in Boulder, Colorado was in
charge of drafting content and physically hitting
"send”™ on their HubSpot or whatever it's called,
and so no, never.

MR. PAYNE: I want to show you ancther
e-mail, and that's Bates stamped THRLO0SO through
82. Feel free again to read the entire e-mail, but
I'm going to ask you questions about the first two
sentences.

ooy

MR, SVOBODA: The first two sentences of
Nick Passanante's e-maill or the first two sentences
of the draft e-mail that was being sent to people?

MR. PAYNE: Nick Passanante's?

MR. SVOBODA: Got it.

B 0oy

MR. PAYNE: So in this e-mail Nick is
discussing the sit-in e-mails as well as an e-mail

related to the immigration case, and it says,
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gquote, But it's ready to go when the boss wants to
send it, end quote.

B v,

MR, PAYNE: What is your understanding in
this e-mail to you about who Nick considered to be

the boss?

—: Sure. So this is Nickk not
understanding how,khow we do e-mail I guess. The
boss was, boss, I consider the boss, Congressman
Lujén, was never involved in saying hit "send” on
this, don't hit "send" on that or anything. = He
provided his feedback after the fact, and so this
is Nick just not understanding that Congressman
Iujén is not involved in the process.

MR. PAYNE: And where do you think he got
that misunderstanding from? I mean -- I mean you
mentioned earlier that you were the one who
basically showed him the ropes in the beginning --

MR. PAYNE: ~- understanding his voice

and everything else on how everything works.

—: I don't know. I really
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don't know. I don't know if it's appropriate to
talk about our relationship with Boulder right now,
is it?

MR, SVOBODA: Do you need to ~- do you
need to take a break and confer before we do that?

B veon.  That would be
great, if we could talk about it.

MR. SVOBODA: Could we have just like two
minutes?

MR. PAYNE: Sure.

MR. SVOBODA: Thank you very much.

(A brief recess was taken.)

(A discussion was held off the record.)

MR. PAYNE: So my guestion for you isg
just can you provide us with some context of the
relationship between the campaign and Boulder
Strategies?

B 5o there was a formal
relationship with Boulder Strategies. They were
hired as the e-mail and online consultant for
Congressman Lujén's campaign, and they were hired

by the campaign manager.
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MR. PAYNE: And has that relationship
been a positive relationship, or had there been
some concerns?

w I think one of the biggest
struggles with the relationship just viewing how
Boulder created content and sent content and
things, one of the biggest struggles during the
time that they were under contract with the
campalilgn was sometimes, sometimes they weren't
always as organized as, as I think people would
have liked them to have been,

MR. PAYNE: Okay. ‘

" And that in partiéular
leads me to my answer to this guestion that Nick
doesn't know what he's talking about because they
were unorganized, and so obviocusly Congressman
Lujan for however many months up until now that
Boulder had been déinq his e-maill program had never
once personally approved an e-mail to go out. So
why he's asking this guesticn now is confusing to
me, so that's all.

MR. PAYNE: Okay. Helen, do you have any
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questions?

MS. EISNER: Yeah. -Just one follow-up
area, and going back to the e-mail. I think you
still have it in front of you, the HRL98, the
e-mail that the Congressman wrote with get
something out.

— Mm-hmm.

MS. EISNER: What actions were taken in
response to this statement, "get something out"?

- Nothing. I mean this,
this did not prompt any specific actions that were
not already occurring based on what was happening
on TV with the understanding that Boulder was
probably already drafting things and that we would
probably get to review whatever content they had
put together shortly. So, so nothing. Like I
think everyone expected that Boulder would try to
generate some sort of e-mail regarding what was
happening on TV.

MS. EISNER: CQCkay. So the Congressman's
statement Yget something out” generated no action?

iy ot from me, and I was the
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only one on the e-mail. Again, I took it‘to mean
like, hey, this is a good idea; this, I like the
way this looks, like up for sort of interpretation
to me almost as if, you know, people see something
that they like and say, you know, I like that or,
you know, we should try that one day or something,
you know. It was -- it was not a directive. It
was just more of a suggestion.

MR. SVOBODA: But you're not saying you
ignored him. You're saying that their wheels wére
already moving to achieve the outcome you would
have wanted.

—: Yeah. I mean based on,
based on what was happening I knew that there, thaf
they were aiready doing theilr thing here to create
content, and so I, I didn't do anything. I mean I
didn*t do anything.

MS. EISNER: Okay. And then besides the
two e-mails that we've been discussing from the
22nd and the 23rd what other contact was already
in -- you know, wheels were in motion, as you said.

What other content was generated by Boulder
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Strategies that you thought, you know, was already
in motion based on this statement "get something
out?"

“: I have no idea. I don't
know what Boulder was drafting at the time. I
Just -- I Jjust knew or assumed based on having seen
how Boulder operated before and knowing that what
was on CNN and on the TV and being reported was a
huge toplc that our e-mail list was very interested
in and knowing that Boulder knew that because they
had been our online consultants or the Chairman’s
online consultants for many months, I assumed that
they were already drafting something that
referenced what was happening on TV.

MS. EISNER: Okay. But besides drafting,
because I understand the statement you don't know
exactly what they were drafting.

—: Mm-hmm.

MS. EISNER: But as fax as any type of
outreach, anything that actually went out, what,
you know, cutreach, e-malls, communications,

besides the two we've already talked about which
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you've explained were sort of part of that same
process, what other e-mails or communications went
out that would have been a part of that same
process?

“ Like formally like this?k

M$. EISNER: Formally what are you aware k
of?

_ I don't think there were
any others, but I don't know.

MR. PAYNE: And you said during this
first day on Saturday, on the 22nd, vyou assumed
that they were drafting, you knew they were
working, so you didn’'t have to tell them to do
anything.

“ Mm-hmm.

MR. PAYNE: Why was the next day
different when it was still on CNN, still in the
news media, why did you then have to tell them to
write another e-mail and frame it as, quote,
another e-mail?

B cecause T ohad seen on TV

that the house Republicans were getting ready to
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move on from the media attention that was happening
by ending the sit-~in, by not having a vote or
whatever was happening on the House floor at that
time because that was being reported on CNN, and
before the move, the news cycle moved te ancother
subject which it often does very quickly I had
suggested to them that we should probably send out
another e-mail based on everything that was going
on because the news cycle was probably about to
shift.

MR. PAYNE: = And you were watching the
sit-in during this entire time?

— Mm-hmm.

MR. PAYNE: Even on Wednesday?

- I watched -- I watch‘CNN
all day every day;

MR. PAYNE: Like most of America.

MR, SVOBODA: Poor man.

~: So, so yeah. I mean I
watch day and night all the time. So I'm sure I
was watching.

MR. PAYNE: And so did you see
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Representative Lujan there during the sit-in from
where you were watching?

_ I-don't recall seeing him.
There were a bunch §f members down there. No, I
don't recall seeing him on TV,

MR. PAYNE: -But you knew he was
participating in the sit-in?

MR. PAYNE: ' Ckay.

- I knew he was
participating in the sit-in because I had not had
contact with him for many,kmany hours.

MR. PAYNE: Any more questions?

MS. EISNER: That's all I have.

MR. PAYNE: Okay. All right. Well,
thz:mk you so much, - I know this went a
little longer than we anticipated, but the
information provided is going to be helpful for the

board, and we appreciate it.
¥

—: Okay. Great. Thank you.
(The interview of — .

concluded at 5:18 p.m.)
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February 28, 2017

So Kedric Payne here with Helen Eisner. We are interviewing President of
Boulder Strategies and his counsel, Eric Kleinfeld, is also on the telephone.
President of Boulder Strategies is appearing over the telephone as well. Itis
5:03 PM on Tuesday, February 28th, 2017, President of Boulder Strategies,
you did receive the False Statements Act and you signed the
Acknowledgment Form. Is that correct?

That is correct.

Okay. I just want to first start with a little bit of background. Where are you
currently employed?

I'm the president of Boulder Strategies.

And what is Boulder Strategies?

We are digital consulting firm that works with political and non-profit
organizations, primarily in regards to digital advertising and marketing, as
well as with e-mail communications and fundraising.

And how long have you been employed with Boulder Strategies?

Boulder Strategies was founded in October of 2013 and I've been employed
as the president since then.

You mentioned that your clients are political and non-profit organizations.
Can you give me an example of those clients? I don't necessarily need
specifics, but I just need something more detailed.

Sure. We work for ... we have relationships with the Democratic
Congressional Campaign Committee, for example. We work for members of
Congress on the campaign side, not the official side, and we also work with
organizations like environmental groups, trade organizations, things like the
American Heart Association, Healthier Colorado, groups like that, that are
either 501C3 or 501C4 with an advocacy tint...plan to them.
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Okay. You mentioned the broad services that the company provides. What
specific services do you personally provide?

So in my role,  manage a team of staff that does the primary writing and
content developments for our clients. | also provide general consulting
advice in terms of message development and overall strategy on the digital
side of the campaign, or the digital side of the organization.

And Representative Lujan is one of your clients. Is that correct?

He is not any longer. He was a client from February of 2016 through
December 31st of 2016.

And how did it come to be that you were working with Representative Lujan?

We responded to a request for proposal in, I believe it was June of 2015, and
P'll have to check that date, It called for a request for a proposal for new
digital side ... digital consultant for their campaign operations. We went
through a process of pitching them our services and then we became under
contract with them in February of 2016, again on the campaign side.

Okay, so the contract was with whom specifically?

it was with People for Ben, which is his campaign committee.

Who were your points of contact with People for Ben?

We had four primary points of contact. One of them was Aaron Trujillo.
Another was Angela Ramirez. Another was Steve Fister. And the final was
Andrew Stoddard.

And did you have any communications with Representative Lujan?
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Not day to day. The only communications that we had were on occasional
conference calls, typically once a quarter and before we were under contract
during the pitch process to obtain the contract.

And during those quarterly conference calls, what type of discussions did
you have with Representative Lujan?

They were typically with multiple consultants that handle everything from
polling and research, to digital, to campaign activities in his district on a field
level. So we typically covered our respective roles in terms of what the
congressman gave us, his updates, and on the campaign operations. We also
would discuss goals and benchmarks for digital fundraising activities and, in
general, we would cover certain overarching themes that we would be
talking about, but we would never ... beyond that, all the day to day activities
went through our other four staff contacts.

Okay. So who would provide you guidance on the type of campaign e-mails
they wanted from your company?

So the typical process would be that we would propose a monthly calendar,
as topics and e-mails and social media content, etc. They would then have
the opportunity to review our ideas and our thoughts about what those
topics should be and provide feedback. This was always done by the same
four points of contact that I IDed earlier, Aaron, Andrew, Angela and Steve.
And then we had the approval process in place in terms of, once we actuaily
got topics approved or they decide if they want to interject other topics
besides what we had proposed. They could do that at any point during the
course of the week or during the course of the month. We would do our best
to get that into the pipeline and then we would have the approval process
that, once we wrote the content, my staff wrote the content, they would then
have a period of time to review all that content and provide edits or
feedback and then the final approval on actually sending e-mails on their
behalf.

And with respect to that final approval, what was your understanding of
Representative Lujan's role in any type of final approval?
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1 have no knowledge of his role in any type of approval. Our approval
process was strictly related to the staff contacts.

So you mentioned that you would have the monthly calls, I'm sorry, monthly
plan, but were there other ways that a solicitation may be initiated, where
something may come up that was not necessarily on the monthly plan?

Yes, absolutely. The typical process would be for them to e-mail or call one
of us, either myself or a project manager, They would get that different topic
into our pipeline.

Okay. You say that one of those four people you mentioned before would
contact you and then would request a different topic or different focus?

That's correct.

And did you ever self-initiate during that monthly period to do a different
type of E-mail that had not been covered or not been requested by those
four?

No, sir.

Of those four individuals you mentioned, Angela, Steve, Aaron, Andrew,
which one of those, or what percentage of the time did you hear from those
four as far as initiating a solicitation that wasn't going through the normal
calendaring process?

Aaron Trujillo would be the most common point of contact on that, Angela
would be the second, and Andrew would be the third. Steve almost very
rarely would interject in that way.

And how often would they give you something that was not on the monthly
plan? ’
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I don't have that information off-hand. [ would have to go back through e-
mails to find that.

But do you have a sense that it was quite frequent for them to give you
something that was a little different or that was more of a rare occurrence?

I would say that it was ... common to me that would be get maybe two or
three of those requests every month.

1 want to ask about a particular e-mail. Do you recall the sit-in
demonstration that occurred in the capitol around June 22nd, 20167

tdo.

And are you familiar with an e-mail that was sent by People for Ben?

lam, yes.

Okay. And can you explain to me how that all came about?

So, can you [inaudible 00:09:50] of which e-mail you're speaking of around
that particular time period?

Okay, no problem.

1 will refer you to the document ... and you did receive the packet of
documents that we sent to your attorney?

1did, yes.

The first one, which is at the very bottom, you'll see bates stamped
THRLO009?
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Yes, okay.

And, | think this is an initial draft of the email, but it still is, for the most part,
the core email. This is the email we're referring to from june 22, 2016.

Correct. Okay. T understand.

Okay.

This email, let me just read it real quickly. This email was a continuation of a
series of emails that we had been doing on “No Fly, No Buy” which was the
concept that if you could not, if you were on the No Fly List, then you
shouldn't, also be able to buy a gun. We had done a series of emails about
this topic already. Then when the sit-in began on the House floor, we simply
took an email that was already in the pipeline, we were already planning to
send an email of this type, and we simply inserted the first line of the email
that talked about him being on the floor to make it relevant for the day’s
topic.

And, about how ... Let me see how to phrase this. Basically, I'm trying to see
with a series of emails on this topic, help me understand how long that
series had been going? Are we talking about a few weeks before this? Or that
had been going on for months?

This series had been a planned part of the monthly calendar. It was
something that we had been doing for at least a week prior before the sit-ins
began. I believe, I'd have to go back and check, but I believe we sent at least
two or three emails prior to this email that were on this topic.

Okay.

Prior to this email, how successful had that effort been as far as raising funds?

I do not have that information off hand.

Page 6 0f 17

17-8382_0170



[T

Relies BN (>3} Ut W

[
[ -

oy
w

ot
[ZRS

P e
[== BN S Y

DI b
[ JNe]

NN N
WM

[
[N

26

Helen Eisner:

Pres. Boulder Strat.:

Kedric Payne:

Pres. Boulder Strat.:

Kedric Payne:

Pres. Boulder Strat.:

Kedric Payne:

Pres. Boulder Strat.:

Kedric Payne:

201

Transcript of Interview of President of Boulder Strategies
February 28,2017

Do you have a general sense? We're not looking for dollars and cents, just
was it raising a significant amount of money? Or was it an unsuccessful
approach? Just your general read on how that campaign solicitation was
working as far as outreach and funds that were coming in.

Sure. I can say that this line of messaging has been very successful for the
preceding days. It was one of the reasons why we were continuing with it,
irregardiess of what was going on in Washington that day. It was part of the
extended plan because it had a very high engagement rate in terms of open
and clicks, which we judge ourselves on, as well as from a fundraising
standpoint.

Who drafted the language that you just mentioned to make it relevant, that
first sentence?

I inserted that myself.

And did you have any contact or communication with Representative Lujan
when you drafted that?

I did not.

Did you have any communication with anyone in his Congressional office
when you drafted that?

As you can see in that emalil thread, everybody on our point of contact list
was involved in that in terms of seeing it as well. So, Andrew, Aaron, Angela,
and Steve were all involved in that, definitely.

Had any of those people you just mentioned instruct you or request that you
include that first sentence?
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I do not believe that it was ... I do not recall if it was a specific instruction. 1
do believe that we were instructed to make it relevant to the topic at hand
that day, which was the sit-in.

And did you have an understanding that Representative Lujan wanted an
email to be sent that day during the sit-in?

1 can't speak to whether or not the Congressman would have specifically
requested that. | can only speak to the fact that we were instructed to send
an email that day that was relevant to the topic at hand by the staff.

Who specifically in the staff instructed you to make that email relevant to
the topic at hand?

1 do not recall, but it would typically have either ... It would have typically
come from Aaron Trujillo.

What was Andrew Stoddard’s role in that email?

Andrew was typically the first edit process in all the emails. He was involved
in their communications. He would typically edit emails before we got
approval from Aaron and Angela to actually send those emails.

Okay. There's a line in that email that says, "Immediate dollar sign, dollar
sign, after action, after the form submit.” What does that mean?

It means that if they had clicked on ... Somebody had read that email and
clicked on the link that says "Sign or Pledge”, once they actually got to the
website, and they filled out the form on the website to add their name, then
it would automatically redirect to a contribution page to where they would
then be able to make a contribution if they so choose.

Okay. Did anyone direct you to add that feature to this particular email?
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No, they did not. That would be standard practice for most petitions that are
related to things like this where we're trying to take an action and then
immediately push them for an upsell into a contribution.

Okay. I want to ask you now about an email on June 23rd. You can go to the
documents that were sent to you. It is bates stamped THRL00397

Three Nine ... Okay, yes  have it.

Can you take a look at it? Thatis an email that is from Aaron to you dated
June 23rd, 2016. If you can just take a look at it and then just explain to me
what it means and what happened.

Yes. This would be the email. After we had sent the previous email that we
just discussed, the day earlier. That email had performed quite well. This
was an email from Aaron in the morning of June 23rd, at 9:29 am. That
basically instructed us to prepare another rapid response email. So this was
an email that was not on the calendar. It was not one that we had already
prepared. It was one that they asked for specifically to be added to the
schedule for the morning. They wanted it out as quickly as possible. That
was him specifically saying the members have been on the floor for 24 hours
as of 11:00, and he specifically wanted to do a money ask surrounding that
issue,

Was it also standard for Aaron to give you a telephone call to discuss these
details or to give you more context of the type of email or what they wanted
you to do?

That was quite rare. It was almost always done over email.

Okay. Did you get any indication from Aaron that this particular second
email was something that the Congressman wanted to go out?

He never specified that specifically and I did not have that conversation with

him.
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You mentioned that Drew Stoddard would take a first draft at emails such as
this. Did he take a first draft, or review this email, or provide you any edits?

He did not. This second email, because it was a rapid response email, our
internal protocol for that we have approval processes that are written in, or
that are in place that he requires. On standard emails, we have a two thumbs
up approval process, which means that at least two of the four contacts
needed to sign off an email before it gets sent. On a rapid response email, we
only have a one thumbs up approval process, which means that only one
person needs to say, "Yes” and ready to go. Because this was rapid response,
we wrote it very quickly, We inserted it into the email system, and we got
approval just from Aaron. Aaron gave the approval and then we pressed
send. Nobody else was involved in the editing.

Did you have any communication with Representative Lujan-

Did you have communication with Representative Lujan during the drafting
of this second email?

1did not.

Can you also take a look at the email that is stamped THRLO080? It is from
you to Aaron, dated June 23, at 11:33 am.

Okay.

1t says in there, "But it's ready to go when the boss wants to send it.” Who
was the boss that you were referring to there?

F'm referring to Congressman Lujan.

Then was it standard for him to approve certain emails before you would
send them?
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No, itis not standard. 1 believe I was simply saying that ... Hold on. Let me
read this second email for a second. It was not a practice for the
congressman to actually to read or approve the emails as far as I know. |,
again, was not involved in that process on their end. We, our process, is only
about the staff approval side of things. However, I believe there was a
conversation prior to this about the congressman wanting to time this email
appropriately. Therefore, I wrote that in the email to say that it was ready to
go whenever it was actually approved on their end.

Who told you about a desire to have it timed to the congressman’s wishes?

Because it's not in the email, specifically, I don't recall, but T would always
assume that that instruction came from Aaron. That was our primary point
of contact on things like this.

Did you receive the go-ahead from the congressman on this email?

I did not receive any notification from the congressman. [ also do not recall
offhand if the email went out, but I have to say I believe it did, however,
because it was the immigration case, and that was something that we had
been planning for, So it was something that ... This was an email that had
already been written more than a month earlier in expectation of the case
being decided. We had two different emails, one that, if it came down one
way, one if it came down another way, and it was simply about the timing on
their end of when they wanted to send it. I believe this email did go out, but I
do not have any knowledge of the actual approval from the congressman
from their end.

What phone conversations did you have with Aaron that day or that
morning about this email or the approval process?

I'truly do not recall, being that was many months ago, about this particular
instance.

Any more questions?
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Going through these different emails and talking about june 22 and June 23,
and the solicitations that went out, after those dates, what conversations did
you have, | guess we'll start with the four individuals, with Aaron and
Andrew, and Angela and Steve, about these solicitations after the emails had
already gone out?

The only conversations that we had had about these emails after they had
gone out was about the usage of an AP photograph in the fundraising email.
That was the only conversation that we had about this, beyond they went
out,

What was the nature of that conversation about the AP photograph?

It was simply a conversation about whether the usage met certain standards.
There was basically a conversation about whether or not that was
appropriate at the time. Also, we basically set up a.. We agreed not to use
further images from the house floor, regardless of their sourcing, going
forward, despite that the email went through the appropriate approval
process.

How do you know that it was an AP photograph? What's the basis of that
statement?

It was a photograph that we sourced publicly from an AP article that was
syndicated in thousands of papers across the country that day. It was an AP
source photograph. On their website it was sourced, and it was sourced as ...
Thave pull it up here a second. It was sourced as "Credit to House Television
via AP.” We kept the exact citation for that in the email itself, as well, for that
sourcing, practices of that. Because that's typically ... If it was publicly
sourced, it's our understanding that we can utilize publicly sourced images
in emails, with those citations.

Just so we're clear, the picture that you're referring to, is that the same
picture that is on document number THRL0042?

That is correct.
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We talked about conversations that might have occurred with staff after
June 23. What about with the congressman?

I had no direct conversation with the congressman.

Were there any conversations after the emails were sent concerning the
nature of the language referring to the member being on the House floor
when the solicitation was made?

There was no conversation about the language. There was only
conversations about the image.

Have you been contacted by Representative Lujan’s office with respect to
this Office of Congressional Ethics review?

Only as a heads-up that it was occurring.

Did you provide any documents, whether those are emails, letter or
correspondence to Representative Lujan's office or anyone acting on his
behalf?

I don't know if we want to answer that question directly. I mean, there has
been attorney conversations that we're not going to divulge.

Well, what I'm referring to are documents being sent from your client to the
congressman or the congressman’s representatives. So not to his attorney
and not regarding any legal advice.

Okay. Well, he can answer a question as to whether he sent any documents
directly, not through an attorney, to the congressman or the congressman's
staff.

Idon't see how you're seeing the attorney-client privilege that way. I also
will point out that, with the House of Representatives, attorney-client
privileges do not even apply. Nevertheless, I'm respectful of not needing to
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ask for information I don't need, so I'm absolutely not trying to get into any
advice that you gave him, because you're the only attorney for the client. I'm
just trying to see whether or not there's been any production of documents
that were given the congressman.

Either directly or indirectly.

Again, we object to any question relating to whether attorneys may have
provided documents to each other.

The situation is that, with our proceedings, this is not a ... And, Eric, I know
you haven‘t dealt with our office before. This isn't a proceeding before a
court, so there's no objection that can be made. Again, you've been-

Well, I certainly can instruct him not to answer the question.

You actually cannot. Let me just set the tone here. 'm not trying to .. We're
at the end of the interview, and I'm not trying to delay or cause any issue.
But just to set the legal restrictions clear. If you have your client not answer,
then we can find that he is not cooperating with this federal investigation,
Now, that is not where I want to take this, but my final question for this
interview Is just to understand whether there's been a production of
documents. Maybe I can do it this way. Would you prefer, Eric, that I sent
you a request for information for all documents that are in your client’s
possession related to this matter, and do it that way? [ just think that is going
to be more cumbersome, I'm just trying to see whether or notany
documents have been provided to Representative Lujan's office.

Well,  understand what you're saying, and we're not trying to interfere with
the spirit of the question. But my pointis ] think a narrowly tailored
question or a more narrowly tailor is appropriate, but to say indirectly, |
think that goes beyond what | would allow my client to answer.

I mean, this is our process. It's your client’s choice whether he wants to be
cooperative or not. He's been incredibly cooperative and answered all of our
questions. It's extremely relevant to our board to understand when any
witness in our review process has shared any information with another
witness. | think anyone who understand the basics of investigations would
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see that it's just a matter of understanding what information has been
shared between key individuals who are relevant to our review. The
question that Kedric asked was whether or not your client provided
documents to the congressman’s office. That would include whether he
provided them directly of whether he gave them to counsel, and those were
provided in turn to the counsel for the congressman's office or to staffers.

1 think that, if we went back to our board and said a witness would refuse to
answer whether or not documents were shared between key witnesses,
that's something that they would consider very seriously. I don't think that
we're trying to ask any type of trick question here. We're just trying to
understand what information might have been passed between individuals.
You've been very cooperative. If you want this request to come in a more
formal way, I think Kedric suggested we're willing to work with you to figure
out an avenue that make your feel comfortable. But this is an important part
of our process. President of Boulder Strategies, we really appreciate you
answering all of our questions. As a witness to this review, we're just kind of
leaving it up to you. This is the final questions. Really, [ think we've gotten
everything else we need from you. So it's really up to President of Boulder
Strategies whether you want to answer the question or not.

How about, since we're doing this by telephone ... Again, I totally understand
what you're saying, and yeah, President of Boulder Strategies does want to
be cooperative, and I think you've recognized that. How about this? Is there
an avenue by which President of Boulder Strategies and I can confer, and
then we can get back to you?

Yes. You can confer with your client on this. I'm just point out the fact that, if
he does not answer, you know the consequences. I just want you to
understand that there's no basis for objection. But, clearly, feel free to speak
to your client. This is moving very quickly. We have to present it to the board
on this Friday. Would you be able to go get back to me no later than
tomorrow?

Fwas actually thinking something faster.

Okay.
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President of Boulder Strategies, are you somewhere where you can step
away from the telephone and I can call you on your cellphone?

I'm actually on my cellphone, but you can call me on the number and I can
just put this one on hold and take that one.

Yeah, okay. I'm going to step away and confer with my client, if you can bear
with us.

Sure.

Sure.

For five minutes.

Okay.

And we're going to go ahead and pause the recording during that time
period.

Thank you.

Okay, we're back on the record now. You had a chance to confer with your
client on that question?

All right, and ...

We're ready to answer the question. Do you want to restate the question?
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Sure. President of Boulder Strategies, have you provided any documents to
representative Lujan’s office or anyone acting on his behalf related to this
matter that we've been discussing with you?

I have not provided any documents to the congressman or to his staff
directly. I did provide one document to my attorney and [ can assume that
that was passed along to the congressman's attorneys.

What was that document?

It was a screenshot of a confirmation page within our email system which is
called HubSpot. It was simply a confirmation page that showed that | myself
was the one that officially hit send on the email to be sent on the mass email
tool.

Okay. Well that concludes all of our questions. If there's anything else you
think you want to share that you think would be helpful to the board justlet
me know.

No, I think I covered itall.
Okay. All right. Thank you. Oh, do you have another -

Okay, we're going to go ~
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Transcript of Interview of Former Communications Director

February 28, 2017

So | just started the recorder, this is Kedric Payne and Helen Eisner, and we
are joined over the phone with Brian Svoboda and Rachel Jacobs, who are
representing Former Communications Director. Former Communications
Director, you sald that you did receive the false statements act, and you are
aware that the false statements act is applicable during this conversation?

Correct,

Okay. We are beginning the interview at 2:34PM and I just want to first start,
Former Communications Director, with asking you where you're currently
employed.

Alliant Energy.

And what is your title there?

It is .. Marketing and communications partner.

How long have you been employed with Alliant Energy?

I started here October 17th, 2016.

Okay. And prior to your employment with Alliant, where were you employed?

Congressman Ben Ray Lujan's office.

How long were you employed with Congressman Lujan?

For about six years I started working for him in January of 2011.

And what was your title during that time period?
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I'was a .. Deputy Chief of Staff and Communications Director.

And you kept that title the entire time?

1actually started out as Communications Director and then ... shortly after ]
had been there, I got the title of Deputy Chief of Staff as well.

Okay, and to whom did you report?

To Angela Ramirez, the Congressman's Chief of Staff.

And did you have any direct reports?

No. .. I'm sorry, if you could just clarify what you meant by direct reports?

Did anyone report to you?

Not directly, no.

Okay. In which office did you work for the Congressman?

F'worked in his D.C. office.

And why did you leave employment with Congressman Lujan?

Because I was looking for an opportunity to move to the Midwest and be
closer to family.

While you were employed in the congressional office did you perform any
campaign work ... Let me rephrase that so it's clear. During that time period
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from 2011 to 2016, did you work on any campaign work for the
Congressman?

Yes, on a volunteer basis on my personal time.

And what type of work did you perform?

Iwould ... write speeches, press releases, edit material that the campaign
was producing,

Anything else?

Those would be kind of the broad strokes, I mean, I reviewed fundraising e-
mails that the campaign was sending out. I made phone calls close to
Election Day, and went out and knocked on doors, those sort of things.

And for those fundraising e-mails, can you walk me through the type of work
or drafting you would do for getting those out?

Sure. Generally we would have our ... consultants that ... Boulder Strategies I
believe is the name, or our finance team would usually draft up e-mails, and
then I would ... they would send the others to review, and 1 was one of the
people that generally would look at them and review them and sometimes
offer edits.

And you would review them looking for what? What type of edits were you
making?

There's some punctuation, grammar stuff. Also things that were, you know,
consistent with Congressman Lujan had been saying.

And when you say, "What he's been saying”, what do you mean?
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Just things that would not be contradictory to ... a position that he’s taken, or
a comment that he's made.

You mentioned Boulder Strategies was involved, who were the contact
people for Boulder Strategies?

Nick... I do not know how to say his last name, Passanante?

Right, yes, that's it.

Yeah. There were other various members of his team that were included on
e-mails, but  don’t remember their names.

And the finance team? Who were the members of the finance team?

Steve Fitzner was the Congressman’s finance person.

And when you say finance, I mean it can have multiple meanings, what do
you mean by the finance team? Finance people?

Fundraiser.

Steve Fitzner, and anyone else on the finance team?

It really was only him, | guess team is not the best way to put it. He was more
with the fundraiser and handled that duty for our Congressman.

What typically initiated these campaign solicitations that you would review?

Usually the way the process worked is that they would send me something
when they had an idea for something they wanted to da.
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And when you say, "They", you're referring to?

It could be either Nick that had an idea, or Steve might've had an idea, Or
something they wanted to do, and they would send it for review.

Would you ever come up with an idea and have them begin a draft or send
something to them to review related to the campaign solicitations?

i don’t recall any specific instances, but... I certainly couldn't say that that
never could've happened.

What about anyone else from the staff? Would anyone else have come up
with an idea and then pass that along to either Nick or Steve, or someone
else on the finance team to then initiate a solicitation?

Aaron Trujillo, who was with the DCCC, was also someone who'd be on those
e-mails for review, and who might also offer ideas to them. Angela Ramirez
was also one who would be on there for review.

And what was Representative Lujan’s role in these campaign solicitations in
general?

I know at times he would review some of them, but that wasn't always the
case. I...] don't remember specific instances, but he may have at times took
suggestions for things to do.

And when that would happen, when he would review them or he would
make suggestions, that would take place with you meeting with him in your
office, or some other type of way? How would those type of conversations
occur?

T usually was not part of reviewing them with him. My role generally, |
would revise my edits back to Nick or Aaron, and someone else usually ...
that would kind of be the extent of my role. They may have been some
instances where I would mention we were working on it, but 1 left kind of
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the review process to the campaigning consultants if they felt he needed to
be involved.

When you provided your comments to Nick or Aaron would you meet with
them and discuss your comments or have a telephone conversation? How
would that typically occur?

Usually it would be via email.

Where was Aaron located for the most part? Was he typically in the office
when these types of things were going on or did you have to communicate
with him in a different type of way?

Well he worked over at the DCCC so | would either have to communicate
with him via email or phone.

And Nick? Where was Nick located?

I believe he was in Colorado but I ... L just know that he was remotely and not
in the area.

If you did have any type of edits and you conveyed that to Nick or Aaron you
said that at that point if they were going to bring something to the
Congressman's attention it would go through them but not through you.
What's your understanding of their process then for discussing any draft
solicitation with the Congressman?

I don't really know for sure,

Even if you don't know for sure, what's your understanding just based on
working with them over a number of years of how it might have occurred?

Tdon't want to speculate too much but in from my time working with them |
think it developed into particular complexity or something they felt they
needed to make sure the Congressman was aware of or wanted to make sure
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they were saying something the way he would want it said then they may
review it with him.

How would they review it with him?

I don't know for sure. I would email or in person or over the phone, could
have been a couple different ways. [ don’t know for sure.

Do you recall the sit in demonstration that happened in Congress on or
about June 22, 20167

Yes.

Do you recall emails that Representative Lujan's campalgn sent concerning
that sitin?

Approximately how many emails were sent? I'm referring to the emails that
were these campaign solicitations.

Do you mean specifically that the campaign sent out or email as I've seen
from the documentation you provided and from what I remember there
were emails back and forth with edits, so do you mean all of those or just
emails that went out from the campaign to [inaudible]?

The emails that went out from the campaign to potential donors.

I believe there were two of them.

Okay. Can you walk us through each one? Walk us through the first one that
you recall or the first one that was sent out.
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Sure. There was one that I believe that Nick had put together that he sent
around for our review that I did send edits to and sent back to him and that
is my only recollection of that one.

Do you have the documents that we sent over in front of you? I want to draw
your attention to a particular one.

Yes.

The document Bates-stamped T-H-R-L-0-0-3-6 which is an email from you to
Nick dated June 22, 2016, can you take a look at that?

Former Communications Director that will be page seven of the PDF that
you were sent and what Kedric called a Bates number is the number in the
lower right hand corner of the document.

Okay. I'm sorry. Could you say the Bates number one more time?

Thirty-six. T-H-R-L-36.

Okay. Yep, | have that one.

You see the draft email at the bottom of this document. Is that the one that
you were referencing just a moment ago?

Yes.

Okay. What was your rele again with this email? What did you do? I know
you mentioned that you made edits but just walk me through what
happened. How did you receive it and then what occurred after that?
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Ireceived it from Nick, looks like asking for us to review it and so I would
have went through it for content as well as any grammatical or punctuation
issues and then sent back a couple of edits that T add to it.

Do you know what initiated Nick drafting this email?

Tdon't recall what would have started that.

When you made your comments did you discuss those comments with
anyone other than what's on this email? What I mean is did you have any
phone conversations about those edits that you put into this email?

I don't recall having any conversations with anyone ahout that.

Did you discuss the email with Representative Lujan at that time?

1 don't recall having any conversations with him about this when 1 was
editing it.

Is it possible that you spoke with him about it or communicated with him via
email or some other way at that time?

I'mean I don’t recall but it's possible that when I saw him I might have told
him that we were working on this. I do recall that throughout that evening |
had a number of materials that | was working with him on from speeches
and social media stuff that I was telling him about and it's possible I may
have told him about this but I don't recall. | just don't recall a conversation
about it.

When you say working with him that evening were you present speaking
with him in person or was this through the phone? How were you
communicating with him?

I was certainly speaking with him in person.
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I'may have .. There could have been some emails from my official account on
things that we were working with ... Things that we're doing on the floor as
well but I don't recall but I do know that T was speaking with him in person.

Those conversations in person, where did those occur?

Those would have either been on the floor of the House or probably right off
the floor.

You were staffing the Congressman throughout that entire sitin
demonstration?

Not the entire time. I was with him for a significant portion of the time but
was not there the entire time.

Do you happen to know approximately when you were no longer there, even
if you don't know the precise time? Did you stay around midnight, after
midnight, or well before then? .

I was with him kind of shortly after everything started, which in my best
recollection is it was kind of early afternoon. I was kind of with him off and
on throughout the night because he wanted something ... To help him writea
possible speech that he may give on the floor or some remarks or if there
was other information pertinent to this that he wanted- So I was kind of
back and forth ... The floor to our office and my desk and 1 believe [ was
there ... Pretty sure I didn’t leave before 1 o'clock in the morning but I might
have been there as late as two-ish that morning.

And was any other staff with you providing the same kind of service, staffing
the congressman on the floor?
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Angela Ramirez would've also been on the floor at certain parts. | can’t recall
exactly when but she also staffed the congressman generally when he was
on the floor. Sometimes we would switch off, sometimes we would both be
there. So, I think it's highly likely that during some of that point she was
probably down there.

Anyone else?

Myself and Angela are the only two that had a pass to get on the floor.

And I know it's kind of hard to remember exactly the time going back a
number of months now but you left approximately one or two am. Do you
know what time you came back the next morning?

It was probably nine or ten-ish in the morning, but probably close to nine to
my best recollection.

And at that point, what were your responsibilities when you returned to the
office that morning?

I think at that point it was probably unclear whether the congressman
would be making more speeches on the floor so I think I was probably trying
to figure out if I needed to write anything else. Also, considering if | needed
to write anything more for social media or any press releases about what
transpired throughout the evening and what was going to continue to
transpire through the rest of the day.

Going back to June 22nd, that first day of the sit in, during your
conversations with the member over the course of the day and evening, did
he indicate to you that he wanted an email to go out on this topic?

I do not recall any conversation to that effect.

So you mentioned a moment ago that there were two emails that you recall.
Let’s go to the second one that was sent regarding the sit in, what do you
recall about that emall? How it started and your role with getting it out.
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Well, 1 don't remember seeing this email until after it was sent out, maybe
even a couple of days later. I think with everything that had been going on
with the late night and then continuing in the morning, | don‘t think I had the
chance to ever look at that email and I think other people reviewed and
approved it and it went out and it wasn't until much later that I saw that it
had been sent.

And when you say "this email” are you referring to the email that's on
document bates stamped THRLO0417

Yes, 41, pages 41 and 42.

Okay. Do you recall having any conversations with representative Lujan
about this email?

I don't think I had any conversations with him, I don't recall any.

And are you aware of Representative Lujan requesting that this email be
sent out on the 23rd?

Not to my knowledge.

T want to ask you about the document bates stamped THRL80? Probably the
fast document that you have.

Page 15 of the PDF.

Got it. Okay.

There's an email from Nick to Aaron and you and Angela and Steve and Amir
and ! wanted to have you ... if you'll read that first paragraph and 'l ask you
a question.
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Mm-hmm (affirmative}, okay.

Okay, first who is Amir Salehzadeh?

I believe he works, or worked at the time, for Boulder Strategies.

And do you know his role with Boulder Strategies?

You know, I can't remember. I think he ...  don't know for sure,

In this email you see where Nick is discussing a ... An email related to DACA
but then he says see, he wants to "But it's ready to go when the boss wants
to send it”

Mm-hmm (affirmative}, mm-hmm (affirmative).

With him sending this email to you, what was the understanding of "who the
boss is” when it comes to this email?

My understanding from this would be that the boss is congressman Lujan
however he wouldn't always be involved in the decision on when exactly to
send something.

And in this case, why would representative Lujan need to "0K” whether or
not these particular emails were sent?

He wouldn't necessarily have to, someone else could have given Nick the
"OK" to send that without necessarily showing it to the congressman or
reviewing it with him.

We touched on this before but let me make sure I understand it. When it
comes to representative Lujan reviewing emails at this time period, around
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June 2016, would it be 50% of the time he would need to review them? More
than 50% or less than 50%?

I'm really not sure because f don't remember kind of ... Let's see .. [ don't
know what others would have decided to show him for his reviews, I'm just
not sure.

Would you say he was quite involved with the email solicitations and
knowing what was going on, what was being sent?

What do you mean by “quite involved™? Is there a more precise way [ can get
you to phrase that?

Well, I'll ask Former Communications Director. Former Communications
Director, how would you rate his involvement with the review, and just
awareness of email solicitations of this nature being sent.

Then I weould ... I would put kind of on the lower end. He wasn't reviewing
everything that was going out. I don't know if others shared everything that
went out, or at Jeast after the fact. I mean, I know that they would update
him on what they were working on at times, but { don't know the extent of if
he knew every email that was going and what was in there.

Did you get the Impression that he wasn't that interested in knowing which
campaign solicitations were going out under his name?

No. I think he was interested in a broader picture, but I don't think he was
always felt like he had to read every last one of them.

Ithink you sort of explained your awareness and involvement in the two
emails we've been discussing for June 22 and June 23. What about any
conversations that you had with the congressman after they were sent?
What can you tell us about those conversations?

I don't know remember having any conversations with the congressman
about it. I did have conversations with Angela Ramirez about the second

Page 14 of 21

17-8362_0204



O W ~3 o wnr £ W B e

e T T o S = S = S
L R N = A A S -~

b et
o~

19

235

Transcript of Interview of Former Communications Director

Kedric Payne:

Former Comm. Dir.:

Helen Eisner:

Former Comm. Dir.:

Helen Eisner:

Former Comm. Dir.:

Helen Eisner:

Former Comm. Dir.:

Helen Eisner:

Former Comm, Dir.:

February 28, 2017

email, which would be number 42 and some initial discussion on the use of
that picture, It was a discussion that it was from a news account and not
directly from the floor.

When were you told that that it was from a news account and not from the
floor?

I don't remember specifically, but I believe it was Nick, Bolder Strategies,
told us that's how they got it.

How did Nick communicate that to you?
f don't remember if it was either email or if we had a call to talk about that.
Okay. When was that call, approximately, or email?

I don't remeraber, because, again, I don’t think ! even saw that email for
maybe even a couple days after.

Let me just make sure { understand. When you say you didn’t see the email,
you're talking about the second solicitation email, the number 42 one that
you mentioned. But when you're talking about Nick and communicating
about a picture, that's a separate communication? When would that
communication have occurred, whether it was email or phone cali?

A couple days after the solicitation was sent, when [ would have seen it for
the first time, sometime after that there was some sort of communication
about it.

Okay. What else can you tell us about that communication?

Not much. I mean I don't think that there's much more to add to what I've
already said.
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Did Nick discuss anything else besides information relevant to the picture?

Not that I recall.

Was anyone else involved in the communication from Nick?

it's possible that Angela Ramirez and Aaron Trujillo would have also been
involved.

Did there come a time when you became aware of not only the concern
about the picture but also of the nature of the solicitation being connected
with the house floor proceedings?

1 didn't follow that. I'm sorry.

F'm sorry. We had a train going by in the background. Sometimes that makes
our questions hard to hear.

Former Communications Director, did you understand the question?

1 think I did. Maybe you could just repeat it one more time.

When did you become aware of concerns about the nature of that
solicitation being connected with the member’s presence on the House floor?

I think the first time that would happen was when there started to be some
news reports about that sort of activity and Republican members talking
about it and bringing up issues surrounding it. I think that was the first time
I became aware.

Did you have conversations with Angela about that, similar to the one you
had about the picture?
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Yes, I believe we discussed the issues around it

What did she say?

Tdon't remember specifically. 1 believe that .. Let's see. I just don't
remember many details of our conversations. I think we talked about the
rules as we understood them and why we thought everything was okay with
what we had done.

Did you inform the member of this issue?

I don't recall having a conversation with him about it. 1 believe someone else
informed him of it?

Who do you think informed him?

T don't want to speculate too much, but T think something like this. It would
have probably been Aaron who would have done it.

You mentioned some emails or potential emails. Did you perform a search of
your Gmail account for any documents related to this matter?

Did you provide those emails to anyone?

No.

Okay. Approximately how many emails were you able to pull?
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1 Former Comm. Dir:  Ithink.. Well, it kind of depends on how you count them, because Gmail
2 kind of puts those of similar subjects together. I think there were maybe two
3 or three.
4
5  KedricPayne: What was the content of those emails? What are they discussing?
6
7  Former Comm.Dir. Iknow found one wherel .. I don't remember who I sent it to, but where |
8 said that I hadn't seen or reviewed this second solicitation due to everything
9 that had been going on. T hadn't seen it prior to going out.
10
11 Kedric Payne: The others?
12
13 Former Comm.Dir:  The others were similar to what you have there. Edits, peoples’ comments
14 on there. Those are the ones that I looked at.
15
16 Kedric Payne: Do any of those emails have Representative Lujan as a recipient or a sender?
17
18  Former Comm.Dir.:  Let's see. I think at one point ... Well, after the second solicitation had been
19 sent, I think I forwarded it to him,
20
21 Kedric Payne: Okay. What's the date of that email?
22
23 Former Commt. Dir:  have to look it up.
24
25 Brian Sveboda: Let's let the record to establish, Kedric, I'm not aware that Former
26 Communications Director’s received a request for documents. Was one
27 tendered in your initial contact with him?
28
29  Kedric Payne: It was not. In the initial contact with him, there was not a request for
30 : documents, just be patient for about a moment or so and that will occur.
31
32 Brian Svoboda: Fjust want the record to be clear that he hasn't somehow failed to meet
33 some sort of request that's already been tendered.
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Absolutely not. This is in no way to imply that he's been anything but
cooperative. I've had multiple conversations ... Well, one conversation with
Former Communications Director, and he's always been cooperative. In no
way are we trying to imply that he has not. Do you see the date there,
Former Communications Director?

Tam tooking for it now. Okay, it looks like on ... Let's see if this is actually the
right one. On June 27, I forwarded the email from Nick with the second
solicitation to the congressman.

Okay. Was there any other email that you were able to locate that had
Representative Lujan as a recipient or as a sender?

That is the only one that I see right here. That looks to be the only one.

The email that you forwarded to the congressman on June 27, you
forwarded an email from Nick. When did that email ..What's the date on the
email from Nick that you then forwarded on June 27?7

june 23. The email that you have, document 41, that's what I forwarded on
to the congressman on the 27.

Okay. Former Communications Director, this is going to what Brian just
mentioned. We are requesting documents from you at this moment. We
request all of your emails from the date of June 21 through June 24,
including this June 27 email, which is a little bit outside of it.

Kedric, it may be helpful if you would tender that request, actually, to me. An
email will be fine, but I'd like that in writing so that we can receive itand
know exactly what he needs to comply with. And the June 27 email is
actually a great example. | mean, it's either inside the scope or it's not. 1
mean, we have no concern one way or the other, but if he's going to receive a
request for information, I'd like it to be in writing so that we can help him
objectively determine how he can comply with that.
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I agree, and I always intended to put it in writing, but I just want to let you
know now what that will look like when we ... Well, I'm requesting it now,
but I'll put it in writing. Former Communications Director, we're going to
request your emails from that date range, June 21 to June 24, 2016 and the
emails that are related to campaign solicitations for Representative Lujan.
We will point out the June 27 email that you just mentioned is also what we
would like to see. Let me just make this clear, again. You're saying that you
have not already provided any documents to your counsel?

I have not.

Okay.

Kedric, to be clear, we'll see if, when the written request comes over, that
you're not asking Former Communications Director for all of his emails on
any subject between June 21 and June 24, correct?

F'll put it in writing, Brian. We will not doing anything that is over board,
because we have a limited amount of time. So, no. What I'm requesting are
limited to what you received for the other witnesses.

Okay.

Allright.

Okay, great. We'd be glad to entertain that request and respond properly.

Okay. Thank you so much. Former Communications Director, we don't have
any more questions. If there anything you want to share because you think it
just would inform what we are trying to collect, so that we can provide it to
the board, please let us know.

Thank you. I don’t think I have anything else to provide at this time.

All right, Thank you.
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Kedric, if  could have on the record just a request that, if OCE transcribes
Former Communications Director's with the possibility of future publication,
that he might receive a copy of that for his review.

Okay. You are on the record, and that is our standard policy, to let you view
itand provide any errors or so that you see in there. All right. Thank you,
everyone. I am ending the record at 3:22 pm.
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The Honorable Susan W, Brooks, Chairwoman )

The Honorable Theodore E. Deutch, Ranking Member

U.8. House of Representatives Committee on Ethics

1015 Longworth House Office Building

‘Washington, DC 205153

Re:  Review No. 17-8362
Dear Chairwoman Brooks and Ranking Member Deutch: k

On behalf of Representative Ben Ray Lujén {“the Congressman™), we wrile in response to the
above-referenced referral from the Office of Congressional Ethics (“OCE™. We respectiully
request that the Committee on Ethics (“the Comuatittes™) dismiss this matter and take no Rirther |
action.

INTRODUCTION

This referral is about whether Representative Lujdn—after cooperating completely with OCE in
its review—should face continued investigation over three emails:

1. The first email was sent by a campaign vendor in Colorado. It was writien in the
Congressman’s “voice™ and said he was on the House floor. But the evidence is clear and
uncontroverted: the Congressman did notwrite the email, he did not see it before it was
sent, and the vendor sent it from privaie space more than a thousand miles away from the
U.8. Capitol. Still, OCE alleged that Representative Lujan may have solicited a
contribution from a federal building in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 607.

2. The second email was also sent by the campaign vendor. It contained a photo of the
House floor that the vendor took from a news article. Again, the evidence is clear; the
Congressman did not write or approve the email, the vendor sent it from Colorado, the
Congressman did not know about the email beforehand, and his represesitatives latet took
steps to see that the vendor used nio such images in future communications. Stll, OCE
alleged that Reppesentanve Lujén miay have solicited a contribution from & federal
building and used an image of House floor proceedings for political purposes.

e

The third email was three words fong, sent by Representative Lujdn to a campaign aide:
“Get something out.” The record does not show that the Congressman was in Hotise
space when he sent that email. Rather, it shows that he was in and out of the Capitol
building during that afternoon. The record also shows that there was no conneetion
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between this email and the other two emails at issue in this review, because the campaign
vendor had already planned to email about this same topie, and the Congressman’s
campaign aide said consistently that he fook no action on the Congressman’s emiail, Still,
OCE alleged that Representative Lujén may have “conducted campaign or political
activity from the House floor.”

QCE appears to have been unsure about the basxs for further investigation. Its Roard divided ov er
whether to send the referral in the first place.’ Tts Findings could not even consistently state one
of the allegations.” Its Board found “that Representative Lujdn was coopexame throughout the
review”; that “the evolving nature of elecironic communications and campaign solicitations
sometimes presents novel issues that are not directly addressed by the House Ethics Manual™;
that the “review raised difficult questions about the application of House rules to solicitations via
email™; and that “Members may benefit from additional guidance regarding campaign activities
and electronic communications.™

However, Representative Lujan’s complete cooperation with OCE gives the Committee a full
record that should allow it to resolve and close this matter. A correct review of that record should
lead the Committee to find that the referral was erroneous, and that the facts and the law fail to
support any of the alleged violations. The Committes should immediately dismiss this referral
and take no further action.

FACTUAL BACKGROUND

On June 22 and June 23, 2016, Representative Lujdn participated in a “sit-in" on the House floor
regarding gun legislation with many of his Democratic caiicagues He “was onthe floor off and
on until the next moraing.” For c‘iamp%, he sat on the House floor “for a period-of tirmé and
then [he] had a tunch or [he] had a meeting outside ofthe bmidmg " He also “left for a bit of
time and then [he] came back to the floor during the night.”” The Congressman recalls that
“[t}here were people gathering outside the Capitol, so members would leave périodically to 20
and either just stand with the crowd or speak to°the crowd™ and he would take bathroom breaks,
take waiks “outside to the front of the building of the Capitol, just get a breath of air, and then go
back in. Represemame Lujén and other members would “go inside and outside of the Capitol

.S‘ew Report and Findings at 1.

? Compare Report and Fmdm% at 2 (V1L Repreésentative Lujédn may have violated House rules and standards of
conduet by requesting that a campawn commitiee solictation [sic] be issued while in a House building™y withid a1 5
(UL Represenmwe Lujdn may have violated House rules, standards of conduct, and federal law by requesting thata
campaign committee ication be isswed while on the House floor™y (emphases added).

? Report amd Findings §48.

Sve Report and Findings, Exhibit 1, page 22, lines 13-18 (17-8362_0024).

* Report and Findings, Exhibit I, page 23, lines 19-20 (17-8362 C)()?b)
¢ Report and Findings, Exhibit 1, page 23, lines 20-22 {17-8362_0025).

? Report and Findings, Exhibit 1, page 24, fines 2-3 (17-8362_0026).
# Report and Findings, Exhibit 1, page 24, lines 4-10 (17-8362_0026}.

Parkins Qo LLP
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Building to the front there, in front of the steps or in iron)i just to chat with another member. | just
to get a little bit of that cold air on your face that night,”

This review involves three emails sent during those two days. Two of them were drafted and sent
by Boulder Strategies, a private political consulting firm to People for Ben, the Congressman’s
principal campaign committee. The campaign hived Bouldcx Strategies for “online fund-raising
and digital strategy” during the 2016 election eyele.'? Boulder Strategws \wuld send email
petitions and solicitations for contributions to People for Ben supporters.’’ Like many other

candidates, Representative Lujdn participated only occasionally in thxs process, largely entrusting
the review and dissemination of these emiails to his campmgﬂ team.'? The third email was a
private enail that Representative Lujén sent to a campaign aide on a private device froma
personal account.

L The June 22 campaign email sent by Boulder Strategies

Sent-on June 22, 2016, the first campazgn email sent by Boulder Strategies was one that the
vendor was “already planning to send”" when the sit-in unfolded. That email said:

Friend,

Today I join countless colleagues on the House floor fo demand action that will make our
country safer.

Facts matter — and the facts are that right now a suspected terrorist can go into a’gun
store and purchase a military-style assault tifle. fn what world do we thmk that’s a
good idea?

Sign our pledge if vou demand a vote on the bipartisan No Fly, No Buy bill.

My Republican colleagues would rather go on a4th of July recess before voting on this
time-sensitive bill. That’s why we're on the House floor demanding action.

Enough is enough — no bill, no break. Full stop. SIGN HERE.

I'm a strong believer in our Second Amendment rights to bear arms, but also recognize
that our system is broken when it's too easy for a powerful gun to get in the hands of
someone who wants to hurt us,

? Report and Findings, Exhibit 1, page 25, lines 12 16 {17-8362_0027).
“Repm and Findings, Exhibit 1, page 6, lines 1-3, m(w -§362_0008).
See Repert and Findings, Exhibit 1, page 9, lines 19-22 (17-8362_001 1),
2 See Report and Findings, Exhibit 1, page 11, lines 1-6 (17-8362_0013); Report and Findings, Exhibit 2, pages 23-
27 (17-8362_0086-90); Report and Findings, E\dntutci pages 3-4 (17-8362_0167-68),
¥ Report and Findings, Exhibit 4, page 6, lines 16-17 (17-8362_0170).
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The Orlando shooter, who was interviewed by the FBI just a couple years carlicr, was
able to Jegally purchase an AR-13, military-grade assault rifle.

Stand up if vou support our sil-in.

At a minimum, we must come together, put aside our politics, and pass this
COMINONSENse measure,

Thank you,
Ben Ray”

The email asked supporters to sign a petition and contained a “Contribute” button, which was a
standard feature of the vendor’s emails, even those that were not intended to raise funds.’® It was
sent through the campaign’s normal process. Under that process, Boulder Strategies would work
with campaign representatives to develop a monthly calendar of emails to send for the campaign;
the staff at Boulder Strategies “wrote the content™ and then campaign representatives would
“review all that content and provide edits or feedback and then the final approval bnactually
sending e-mails on their behalf,”'® Representative Lujan did not have a role in final approval of
these emails. Rather, Boulder Strategies™ “approval process was strictly related to the staff
contacts” at the campaign.”

When this first email was drafied, it “was already in the pipeline.”'® The President of Boulder
Strategies inserted the “first line of the email that talked about {Representative Lujén] being on
the floor to make it relevant for the day’s topic.”" This language was submitted without any
contact or communication with Regreseatative Lujén or his staff” Representative Lujan had no
role in the language being drafted.”' He did not review or approve the email before it was sent.?

1L The June 23 campaign email sent by Boulder Strategies
The second campaign email sent by Boulder Strategies was sent the next morning on June 23,

2016, and was prompted by an email sent from a campaign aide to the President of Boulder
oy L N . 23 e i N »
Strategies, as would happen from time to time.™ Specificaily, the campaign side requested that

" Report and Findings, Exhibit S (17-8362_0184) {emphasis original).

' Report and Findings, Exhibit 4, page 9, lines 1-3 (17-8362_0173).

** Report and Findings, Exhibit 4, page 3, tines 21, 31-34 (17-8362_0167).

i Report and Findings, Exhibit 4, page 3, lines 36-37 and page 4, lines 1-2 (17-8362_0167-68).

¥ Report and Findings, Exhibit 4, page 6, line 16 (17-8362_0170).

" Report and Findings, Exhibit 4, page 6, lines 17-19, page 7 lines 14-17 (17-8362_0170-71}.

i Report and Findings, Exhibit 4, page 7 lines 19-22, 31-32, page 8, tines 1-3 ( 17-8362_0171-72),
*! See Repart and Findings, Exhibit 1, page 36, lines 14-16 (17-8362_0038).

= Report and Findin, hibit I, page 36, lines 17-21 {17-8362_0038).

* Report and Findings, Exhibit 4, page 3 lines 27-28 (17-8362_0167).
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Boulder Strategies “get another email ready for this morning. The members will ?ave been on
the floor for 24 hours, as of 11:00 this morning. We need to do a $% ask on this ™ This second
email said the following:

Friend,

As we pass the 11am hour in Washington DC, my Democratic colleagues and I have
now been on the House floor for greater than 24-hours, staging a sit-in to demand a
vote on the bi-partisan No Fly, No Buy bill.

Despite the fact that Speaker Ryan has turned off the cameras and the microphones, T will
stand with my colleagues to call for a vote on commonsense legislation that keeps guns
out of the hands of those on the FBI Terrorist Watch List,

Do you stand with us? Chip in $24 towards our emergency fundraising goal ~ $1
for every how we've been in the well of the House Chamber demanding action.

A moment of silence on the House floor is simply not enough to honer the lives of -
those we have lost. We need action to keep guns out of the hands of suspected terrorists
and it begins with a vote right here on the House floor.

Tell the GOP: It’s simple -- No Fly, No Buy, No Break. Click to contribute $24 (or
whatever you can) right now to show vour support!

As I said in my email last night, this is a matter of national security. We must come
together to pass this commonsense bill,

Thanks for having our back,

-Ben Rayx’
This second email also contained a photograph of the House floor. The email cotitained no audio
or video of floor proceedings. Rather, the photograph was a still image of the House floor that
was drawn from a QBSNews.com/AP story, which in twn credited that image to “House

Television via AP

As with the first campaign email sent by Boulder Strategies, Representative Lujan was not
consulted regarding the drafting of this email, nor was he aware of the use of the image.”’ At

* Report and Findings, Exhibit 6 (17-8362_0186).

2f Report and Findings, Exhibit 7 (17-8362_0188-89) {emphasis original).
* Report and Findings, Exhibit 7 (17-8362_0188-89).

¥ Report and Findings, Exhibit 4, page 10, Tines 17-20.
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10:48 am, the President of Boulder Strategies sent a draft of the email to the campaign aide and
other members of Representative Lujdn’s campaign team at their personal email addresses, but
not including Representative Lujan.®® Representative Lujan had no role in the email being sent,
He did not read a draft of the email before it was sent, did not approve of the sending of the
email, and did not request that the email be sent.”

I, The June 22 email sent by Representative Lujdn to 5 campaign aide

The third email at issue in this review was sent by Representative Lujdn to a campaign aide on a
private device and private account, According to the enail, it was sent at 4:02 pm on June 22,
2016.% Representative Lu%‘a'n forwarded an email he had received from another Member's
campaign about the sit-in.”' He said simply: *Get sométhing out. "™ This was the sort of
communication the Congressman would sometimes sénd to the campaign aide, Who was the
“person that [he] would communicate with things like this.*> Despite the email™s terseness, it
represented no command or specific direction. Rather, “once every few weeks” Representative
Lujan would forward an email along this [campaign aide] or someone elsé to say “hey...this
looks like something we should consider.”* As the Representative acknowledged, “just because
[he] sent it didn’t always mean that Boulder [Strategies] would do something with that idea that
[he] would see anyway.”® “[S]emetimes they, Boulder Strategies, would send something out,
sometimes they wouldn™t,”

The record does not establish where Representative Lujén was when he sent this email. While he
was participating in the sit-in, he “was In'and out of the Capitol quite a bit” and does not
“remnember exactly where [he] was when [he] sent” the email.¥ Under repeated questioning by
OCE, Representative Lujén said that *it’s possible™ that he sent the email to the aidé while he
was “within the House, Capitol Building” but he did not “remember where [he] was.”

OCE asked sbout the email between Representative Lujén and his campaign aide only because
the Congressman produced this same email himself voluntarily to OCE. As the OCE Board
noted, “Representative Lujdn was cooperative throughout the review.””® Nonetheless, OCE used
the email as the basis for a third allegation against Representative Lujén that had not been

* Report and Findings, Exhibit 7 (17-8362_0188-89).
* Report and Findings, Exhibit 1, page 38, Tines 21-22; page 39 lines 1-9 (17-8362_0040-41),
;‘: Report and Findings, Exhibit 2 (17-8362_0061),
Id
2 rd
** Report and Findings, Exhibit 1, page 27, lines 14-15 (17-8362_0029).
* Report and Findings, Exhibit 1, page 20, lines 11-12, 14-15 (17-8362_0022).
» Report and Findings, Exhibit 1, page 20, lines 16-18 {17-8362_0022).
* Report and Findings, Exbibit 1, page 30, lines 3-4 (17-8362_0032).
7 Report and Findings, Exhibit 1, page 34, lines 11-14(17-8362_0036).
% Report and Findings, Exhibit 1, page 34, lines 11, 15-17 (17-8362_0036).
* Report and Findings ¥ 46.
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previously disclosed to him in the review—that the Congressman himself “conducted campaign
or politival activity from the House floor ... ™ OCE referred the allegation even though the
record showed Representative Lujdn may have been outside the Capito! or House buildings when
he sent the three-word email.

LEGAL DISCUSSION
L None Of The Ewails In This Matter Violated 18 US.C. § 607

There is no factual or legal basis to allege that Representative Lujan “solicited 2 campaign
contribution from a federal building,”™' While cooperating completely with OCE, Representative
Lujan proved beyond a reasonable doubt that the two campaign emails sent by a private
campaign vendor were indeed sent by Boulder Strategies from private space in Colorado— more
than 1,000 miles away from the Capitol** The third email, from Representative Lujan to his
campaign aide, presents no issues whatsoever under 18 U.S.C. § 607, as it does not solicit a
contribution at all. The Committee should dismiss summarily this baseless allegation.

Federal criminal law makes it “unlawful for an individual who is an officer or employee of the
Federal Government, including. .. Membeérs of Congress, to solicit or receive a donation of
money or other thing of value in connection with a Federal.. .election, while in any room or
building occupied in the discharge of official duties by an officer or employee of the United
States, from any person.™* This law prohibits (1) a Mémber of Congress (2) from soliciting or
receiving money or a thing of value from any person (3) in connection with 4 federal election (4)
while in any room or building occupied in the discharge of official duties by an ‘officer or
employee of the United States. Thus; a Member is prohibited from soliciting a campaign
contribution in his House office, or in another building of the House of Representatives where he
is performing official duties as a Member of Congress.

The Committee has made clear that 18 U.8.C. § 607 was “designed to address coercive
activities— that is, political *shakedownsdirected at Federal employees.”™* That statute is
“designed to prote¢t Federal employees from coercion vis-g-vis political solicitations and ... this
protection extends to the workplace—a Federal building.”™ For this reason, in 1985 the
Committee found that the statute did not apply when a private DCCC contractor sent a
fundraising solicitation with two Members® signatures and on the letterhead of the DCCCs

o Compare Letter from Omar 8. Ashmawy to Representative Lujdn {Feb. 6, 2017) (statement of the nature of
review”) with Report and Findings at 1 (“nature of the alleged violation™),

*! Report and Findings at 1.

”” About Us, Boulder Strategies, hitp:/fswww. bonlderstrategiestic.comvabout (last visited May 25, 2017).
FISUS.C§ 607

:' H. Rep. No. 99-277, at 4 (1985) (emphasis in original),

Yid
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Chair to other Members of Congress inside their House offices.”® Although the use of House
staff or office space to send a political fundraising solicitation would “represent an inappropriate
use of resources” covered by official allowances, the specter of coercion is necessary Tor the
solicitation to violate 18 U.S.C. § 607.%

Besides quoting the text of the statute,” OCE offers no exegesis of it, nor any éxplanation of
how it could apply to any of the three emails at issue in this review. In fact, the Findings provide
a subtle hint that OCE was divided over whether the statute applied. The Findings™ Table.of
Contents refers to “a campaign committee soliciation [sic],” while the cortesponding body text
refers only to “a campaign committee commumication.”™

In any case, none of the emails meets any of the elements of 18 U.S.C. § 607, The record shows
that the June 22 and June 23 campaign emails were sent not by Representative Lujan, but by
Boulder Strategies, a private political consulting firm operating in private $pace in Boulder,
Colorado, No federal officer sent these emails; and no federal building was tivolved. Despite
OCE’s suggestion to the contrary, 18 U.S.C. § 607 cannot extend to the conduct of third parties
in private space that is merely “contempotraneous” with when the Member is “on the House
floor.? Otherwise, every time a Member votes on the floor, or attends a committes hearing; or
sits in her office, she would have to worty about what her campaign’s telemarketers are doing at
that moment in their offices, or what her carpaign’s direct mail consultants are sending from
theirs. OCE offered no authority to support such an expansive reading of the statute——and there
is none.

Nor does Representative Lujan’s June 22 email to his campaign aide meet any of the elements of
18 U.8.C. § 607. The record strongly indicates that this email may have béen sent from outside
federal space. Moreover, that email was nieither a solicitation nor a request for a solicitation. The
Congressman’s three-word communieation—*Get something out™—cannot be conistived as a
solicitation, nor as a request for a fundraising solicitation, because the record shows the
Congressman’s campaign often emailed for purposes besides findraising.” Even if the email
could be construed as a request for a solicitation, the statute would not reach it. Rather, 18 USC §
607 reaches only the actual solicitation and receipt of contributions—which makes sense, given
its purpose of presenting shakedowns. Finally, none of the emails is even alleged to have
involved any sort of coercion, making the statute inapplicable to all of them.

* See id. at 34, 18,

7 kd at 17418,

“* Report and Findings at 6.

* Compare Report and Findings at 2, 5 (emphasis added).

* Report and Findings § 47,

' See, e.g., Report and Findings, Exhibit 3, p. 20, lines 5-12 (17-8362_(083),
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Neither the facts nor the law support the fanciful allegation that Representative Lujan “solicited a
campaign contribution from a federal building.” The Comumitice should summarily dismiss this
allegation.

1L A Vendor’s Use of a Still Photo From a Commercial News Qutlet Does Not Violate
the Restrictions on Using Video Coverage of House Proceedings

The June 23 campaign email sent by Boulder Strategies contained a photograph of Democratic
Members on the House floor during the sit-in. Boulder Strategies took this photograph from a
CBSNews.com/AP story and inserted it into the email, crediting the image t¢ “House Television
via AP.” Moreover, they did so without the Congressman’s knowledge. The facts and law
provide no basis for further action against Representative Lujan for use of this photograph.

House Rule 5 regulates “a system for complete and unedited audio and visual broadcastmg y and
recording of the floor proceedings of the House.™ To implement this system, Rule 5 prohibits
Members from using coverage and recordings “for any partisan political campaign purpose.”™
The rule’s purpose is to promote decorum in House debate by minimizing the likelihood of its
future political use. The rule also buttresses the general prohibition on the use of official
resources for political purposes. There is no clear authority that extends the prohibition to the use
of a still photo obtained from a private, non-House source that itself was only indirectly derived
from floor video coverage.”

Thus, House Rule 5's prohibitions do niot clearly apply to the email at issue in this review. Even
if they did apply, the record shows that Repreésentative-Lujdn did not knaw that the photo would
be used, and that he disapproved of its use when he learned of it later.™® Members can be held
responsible for the conduct of their vendors and agents; and they should take reasonable steps to
ensure compliance. Still, in a case like this, a vendor’s departure from the Member's
expectations of compliance and the own ? Member" s {ack of knowledge weighs against the °
Member’s responsibility for the vendor’s conduct,”

Finally, even if House Rule 5 covered the email, and even if the Member were appmpnatelv held
responsible for the resulting lapse, that would be the sort of matter that the Committes would
normally handle in an advisory fashion. Each election cycle is replete with charges and counter-

Report and Findings at 1.

" Rule 5, cl. 2{a), Rules of the House QFRe;}:ewmatzwsii Hth Congress),
* T Rule 5, cl. 2(e)(1).

* See House Ethics Manual at 128 (advising simply that “[blroadeast coverage and recordings of House floar
pmceedmgs may not be used for any political purpose under House Rule's, clause 2(cX1).™).

* See Report and Findings, Exhibit 1, pages 39-41(17- 8362_0041-43); Report and Findings, Exhibit 3, pages 65-66
(17 $362_0128-29); Report and Findings, Exhibit 4, page 1207 -8362_0176).

¥ See, e.g., H. Rep. No. 99-277, at 19 (“since the DCCC had no knowledge of Willelm's actions on its behalf, it
follows that the DCCC should not be held liable for whatever actions Withelm took vis-g-vis the solicitation efforts

S

Parlunts Do LLP



252

June 2, 2017
Page 10

charges that Members and Members-elect have used actual video of the House floor in campaign
television ads. Such claims are commonly, wisely and proportionately resolved without resort to
public investigative processes like this one, To engage in months of investigation over a
campaign vendor’s single use of a still phofograph obtained from a non-House source is
unprecedented overkill—especially when the Member’s representatives, after learning of the use,
disapproved and took steps to prevent recurrence.”

The facts and the law do not support OCE’s recommendation of investigation over the use of the
photo in the June 23 campaign email sent by Boulder Strategies.

Il The Record Does Not Sapport a Finding Against Representative Lujdn Over His
June 22 Email to His Campaign Aide.

Because Representative Lujdn cooperated completely with OCE’s review, he produced to OCE
an email he sent from a private device and a private account to a campaign aide. Forwarding a
separate email that he had received from another Member’s campaign, the Congressman told the
aide simply: “Get something out.” From this lone email, OCE assumed that Representative Lujan
requested a campaign communication while in a Hoyse building and used official resources for
political purposes.

However, as noted above, the record does not show that Representative Lujdn was in House
space when he sent the email. Even if he had been in House space, a single three-word email sent
on a private device without using House staff or equipment would not provide a sufficient basis
for continued investigation and enforcement.

Representative Lujén does not dispute that official House resources may not be used for
campaign or political purposes,™ nor that this prohibition extends to House buildings.® As the
House Ethics Manual says, these prohibitions stem from 31 U.8.C. § 1301(a), which provides
that “[a]ppropriations shall be applied only to the objects for which appropriations were tade.
Because “public funds may be used only for the purpose or purposes for which they were
appropriated,”® and because “unauthorized items” may not be charged “to any appropriation,
House buildings are considered “official resources™ and hence cannot be used for non-
appropriated purposes.®

81

263

** See Report and Findings, Exhibit 4, page 12, lines 16-19 (17-8362_0176).

* House Ethics Manual at 123-24.

% el at 127, 145.

* 1d at 145:31 US.CL§ 1301(a).

“ Principles of Appropriations Law, LS. Governmend Accountability Office 4.6,
S d,

5 House Ethics Manual at 127.
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Still, OCE’s referral fails to present any substantial reason to believe that Representative Lujan
would have committed an actionable violation, even if he had been in House space when he sent
the email. First, he used a private account and private device to send that email. He used neither
House staff nor House equipment to send it. Second, without seeking in any way to undérmine
the general prohibition on using official resources for campaign activity, drafting and sending a
three-word email involves less use of appropriated resources than certain activities the rules
expressly permit, like the “Member-to-Member solicitations”™ in House buildings that the
Committee has expressly and consistently permitted.*® The Committee properly and aggressively
prohibits the use of official space for political meetings, events, receptions, photo and film
shoots, and the like.* Still, it has not gone so far as to suggest that enforcement lies against a
brief, isolated, one~way aside to a third party, which happens every day in the House.
Representative Lujan’s three-word communication to his campaign aide was simply an
electronic version of such remarks, in a world where face-to-face irnteractions are rapidly giving
way to digital communications, whether by text message or email, Furthermore, there is nothing
on the record to indicate that any action was taken as a result of, or in response to; Representative
Lujan’s three-word communication. There was no response to his email, no reference to his
email in the communications between the campaign and Boulder Strategies, and the campaign
email sent on June 22, after Represeritative Lujan’s three-word communication was seit, was
already in the pipeline.

IV.  The Findings Contain Misstatemenis and Clear Errors by OCE in This Review

The Findings present misstatements and errors that were prejudicial to Representative Lujén and
others involved in the review:

First, OCE’s Report and Findings repeatedly mischaracterize witness testimony to create the
illusion of a violation. For example, regarding the June 23 campaign email sent by Boulder -
Strategies, OCE said that “the President of Boulder Strategies told OCE that he believed “there
was a conversation prior to [sending the émail] ... about the Congressman wanting to time the
email appropriately.”™ Yet a closer look at the transcript reveals that the email to which the
President of Boulder Strategies was referting was a different email entirely—a document Bates-
numbered THRLOOSO, which was about an immigration case decided ar the Supreme Court™
Thus, the Findings give the misimpression that Representative Lujan was involved in decisions
about the June 23 campaign email, when all of the testimony and documents confirm that he was
not.

* See House Ethics Manual at 145-46,

* House Rihics Manual at 127,

"f" Record and Findings, 141

® See Record and Findings, Exhibit 4, page 10, line 22; page 11, lines 18-27 (17-8362_0174-75).
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Likewise, OCE labors to establish a causal connection between Representative Lujdn’s June 22
email to his campaign aide, and the June 22 and-Juge 23 campaign emails sent by Boulder
Strategies, Thus, for example, the Findings say:

“In contrast to the [campaign alde’s] testimony, the President of Boulder Strategies told
the OCE that he was ‘instructed” to send a campaign email on behalf of Representative
Lujén’s campaign committes on-June 22, 2016 and that although he could not recall
specxf' cally who issued the instruction, typically it would have been from the [campaign
aide].®

The plain implication of this statement is that the campaign aide shared Representative Lujan’s
email with Boulder Sirategies However, the President of Boulder Strategies™ direct testimony
clearly says that the June 22, 2016 email “was already in the pipeline™ and that he “simply
inserted the first line of the email theﬁ ta tked about [Rtpresemmwe Lujén] being on the floor to
make it relevant for the day’s topic.”™ The campaign aide testified separately that Boulder
Strategies was already working on an email that day, that he did not see the Congressman’s
email as a “directive,””" and that he did riot think he commumuted any thing about the sit-in to
Boulder Strategies to include in the e=mail that they sent.” Onee again, OCE drafted its fi indings
to create the misimpression that the Congressman was involved in an errant emaﬁ«when the
testimony and documents make clear he was not.

Second, OCE’s Findings identify a cooperating withess and misstates the capacity in which he
was acting. Specifically, the F mdmgb repeatedly refer 16 Representative Lujdn’s campaign aide
as “the DCCT Chief of Staff,”™ even though the testimony makes ciear that he was acting as &
volunteer for Representative Lujén’s camipaign in his personal capacity”™ and had a velationship
with Represmtatm‘ Lujén that long preceded his involvement with the DCCC. ™ The effect was
to create the misimpression that the DCCC was Somehow involved in this matter, when in fact it
was not. Moreover, in direct contraverition of the OCE Resclution’s anonymity protections, the
Findings juxtapose anonymized references to this same witness with images-of emails that
contain his name, thus stripping him unnecessarily of the anonymity to which he is entitled under
House rules.

 Report and Findings, § 30.

n Report and Findings, Exhibit 4, page 8, lings E6a19 page 7, lines 14-17 (17-8362_0170-71).

™ Report and Findings, Exhibit 3, page 46, line 3 (17-8362 0109,

= Repert and Findings, Exhibit 3, page 30, lines 7-10 (17-8362_0113); page 51, lines 1-4 (17-8362_0114),
See e.g Report and Findings, $22.

. ™ See Report and Findings, Exhibit 3, page 7, mf: 8 {17-8362 0070N

5 Report and Findings, Exhibit 3, page 6, lines 13-14 {17+ 836"’ 40693,
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These matters may not be dispositive, and they do not affect the credibility of the underlying
documents and testimony, which provide a sound basis for summary dismissal,”® S, they show
the careless zeal with which OCE sought to ascribe violations to Representative Lujén, despite
the facts and law-—all over two emails sent by a campaign vendor, and a single three-word email
the Congressman sent privately to an aide.

CONCLUSION

The Committee on Ethics should summarily dismiss these allegations. The claim that
Representative Lujdn violated 18 U.S.C, § 607 s violation on soliciting contributions from a
federal building is factually and legally wrong. The clabm that the Congressman violated the
restrictions-on using video coverage of House floor proceedings is stretched beyond
reasonableness, involving as it did a single still photo that the vendor obtained privately from a
news report without the Congressman’s knowledge or participation. Finally, the claim that
Representative Lujén should be investigated further because he sent one email on a'private
device from a personal account to a campaign aide reptesents a draconian application of the
rules—if, indeed, he were even in House space at all when he sent it.

Representative Lujdn appreciates the opportunity to respond publicly to OCE’s Report and
Findings in this review and respectfully requests the Committee to dismiss this referral,

Very truly vours,

s o
“ﬁm(m \ f,/{/i‘\ Mwwwuw*"'
Brian G. Svoboda

Kate Sawyer Keane

Rachel L. Jacobs

Counsel to Representative Lujdn

ce: Tom Rust, Esq.
Patrick McMullen, Esq.
Representative Ben Ray Lujdn

* Also, when this investigation began, OCE would not even tell Representative Lujan which emails were the subject
of their review, The statement of the nature of the review OCE gave him on February 6 sald that, in June 2018, he
“sent a campaign solicitation email that contained an image of the House floor” Letter from Omar $. Ashmawy to
Representative Lujdn (Feb. 6, 2017). When the Congressman’s counsel asked OCE to identify that email, OCE
refused, saying that the Congressman dught t be able to identify the email himself through news accounis. These
tendentious and unsupportable interpretation of OCE’s confidentiality obligations made it harder for Repreésentative
Lujén to respond to the initial notice and resolve the matter at preliminary review, which ought 1o have besn
possible given the nature of the issues involved, and the fact that he cooperated completely with the review,
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Degclaration

1, Representative Lujén, declare under penalty of perjury that the response and factual assertions’
contained in the attached letter dated June 2, 2017, relating to my response to the May 12, 2017,
Committes on Bthics letter, are true and correct,

Signamr%e: Aﬂn /‘ «::\% i} B

Name: Representative Ben Ray Lujdn

Date:

135781080 1
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secoo T-Mobile LTE

<{®

Stilt here and am being
asked to speak during
the 7 o'clock hour

Any ideas

Draw Stoddard

| think you can repeat
the same basic
message. We've been
hear all day and all
night. This issue is not
going away and neither
are we,

And then hit again on
the main points. We
need a vote, The
American people should
not be silenced. It's time
oy act and keoen oiins

BRL 008G

COE . LUJAN. 000191
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Fram: Cralg Williams

Toi Shrist : faron Trdilke; Kelly Ward: Hawley Disrker: Nicoke Bynard: ngela Ramirer; Andow Soddard;
1an Bussell :

Subject: BRi. today

Data: Thursday, June 23, 2018 7:54:23 AM

Team, just dropped BRL off at his apartment. He's exhausted and will try to get an hour of
sleep or so and asked me to be back at 9:15.

NE I'told him that you said Kelly or Ian can do the Derrick call if we need to.

He wants to go back to floor but will probably do the PFB check drop at 9:45. He expects the
sit in to continue until at least 11 (the Leader wants to say we did it for 24 hours), Will update

with more info as I receive it.

Sent front my Verizon Wireless 4G LTE smariphone

BRL 00114

COE.LUJAN.000114
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From: Stoddard, Andrew

Sent: Wednasday, June 22, 2016 3:58 PM
Tot Ramirez, Angela

Cex Catechis, Jennifer

Subject: Re: & good heads up

Taking boss off. | talked to him about interviews and he wants to think about i,
Sent from my iPhone
Onjun 22, 2016, at 3:35 PM, Ramirez, Angela <Angela Ramirez@mail house.goy> wrote:

Rep. ORourke somehow live streamed something on facebook,” Might be a possibility. Drew, do you
think it’'s worth setting up a radio call?~it'd mean boss leaving the floor which is not ideal.

From: Catechis, Jennifer

Sent: Wednesday, June 22, 2016 3:33 PM

To: Ramirez, Angela; Stoddard, Andraw; ben hudan
Subject: RE: a good heads up

Any chance we could get a call into a local radio station? Give s live report?

From: Ramirez, Angela

Sent: Wednesday, June 22, 2016 1:12 PM

To: Catechis, Jennifer; Stoddard, Andrew; ben lujan
Subject: RE: a good heads up

Ah, that might be part of the reason Pve been spending my afternoon on our mainline! &

From: Catechis, Jennifer

Sent: Wednesday, June 22, 2016 2:59 PM

To: Stoddard, Andrew; Ramirez, Angela; ben lujan
Subject: a good heads up

Importance: High

From Laryha “Marshal” Martinez on Facebook {also 2 Planned Parenthood worker and & huge NM
LETBQ Community Organizer):

Friends

Right now Democratic Members of the House of Representatives are having a "sit in” to protest until
the GOP allows a vote on gun control legisiation. Sensible, reasonable things like backgrotind
checks, and no fegally sold weapons to suspected terrorists. Our New Mexico Champions Rep. Ben
Ray Lujart (Ph: (202) 225-6180) and Rep. Congressworman Michelle Lujan Grisharn {(202) 225+
6318} are both there! .

Call their offices and THANK THEM!! Let's show them we are Standing(or sitting) with them!!! Share
this message and help hold the House Republicans Accounitable on Gun Viclence! #ibbillnobreak

BRL 00083
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From: Craig Witiams

To: Cheisting Jonks: Aaron Truiilie
Subject: BRL status

Date: Thursday, June 23, 2016 ¢137:38 AM

He said he'll be a few minutes late to the 9:45. Will ping when I have more info or he's otw.

Sent from my Verizon Wireless 4G LTE smartphone

“BRL 00128
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M‘“\BOULDERSTRATEGES u.o

Badd Lendarship. Bof

i WV BOULDERSTRATEGIESLLO.COM

CONSULTING AGREEMENT

This Agreement is made and entered on by and between BOULDER-
STRATEGIES LLC, a Colorado-based fimited habuny company {Consultant™ and PEOPLE FOR
BEN, a New Mexico-based Political Comimittee *Client™.

As part of the consi ion for the ip b Consultant and Client, and for
continuation of such contractual refationship, and of the mutua! covenants contained herein, itis
hereby agresd as foliows:

1. Bervices to be Performed

During the term of this Agreement, Consullant’s services to the Client may include, but are not nec-
essarily limited to:

Ongoing Strategic Advising refated to campaign and national endeavors
Creation of and ongoing adjustments 1o comprehensive digital plan
Vendor management as refated to dighal compunents of campaign
Management of website and ct!g;!ai infrastmciure

Online fundraising and prospe

Digitat communication content, Digital imedia production, Digital media buying -

BRI 00551
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! W BOULDERSTRATEGIESLLO COM

6.3.2 Standard reports will be provided to Client at regular monthly and quarterly intervals.
Consultant will additionally produce on-demand reports, at no additional cost, at the request
of the Client with 48-hours notice,

6.4 Client agrees that any and all works ¢reated by the Consultant for the Client, may be used as
part of Consullant's promotional malerials and samples, without limitations or further expressed
consent,

8.5 The obligations set forth in this Section shall survive indefinitely the termination of this Agree-
ment,

7. Exclusivity

7.1 Client understands and agrees that Consultant may take on additional clients at its sole distre-
tion and at any time during the term of this agreement. At the Clignt's request; Consultant shall dis-
close other consulting arrangements, including general scope of work and identity of clients, en-
tered into during the course of this Agreement.

7.1.1 Without limiting Section 7.1, Consultant agrees in good faith to not entef Intoany
additional consulting agreement that is a direct conflict of interest to this agrepment, while
this agreement is intact.

7.2 By entering into this Agreement, the Client DOES give o Consultart and Consultant DOES ob-
tain, exclusive rights to provide to-the Client all digital communication seivices (dighal infrastructure
maintenance, social media entities, list:and data acquisition services, digital fundraising services,
display and rich media production for digital madiums, and digital adverlising placement), as cov-
ered by this Agreement. Excepting these stated items; the Clignt has the right to use pther consul-
tants or persons to perform any other services described (or not described) in this Agreement at the
sole discretion of the Client. )

8. Legal Compliance

8.1 Consultant acknowledges and agrees o comply with the applicable Federal Election Cokmmi&
sion regulations, as weli as any other applicable federal or state laws.

8. General

9.1 This Agreement shall be governed by arnid construed in accordance with the laws of thé State of
Colerado. Any action whatsoever to enforce any right hereunder shall be brought only In the tourts
of the State of Colorado. Any action arising in-connection with this Agresment, including but not i
ited to, any action brought fo remedy a breach of this Agreement, or to énforce the terms thereof,
shall be brought In the courts of the State of Colorado. Each party hereby agrees thatany such ac-
tion shall brought exclusively In the courts of the State of Colorado; consents o the jurisdiction of
such courts; and agrees that such courts shall be the proper venue for any such action,

initials: /

BRI 00588
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FH0F

ail - Fevd: Preview Message - Rieh Text - Friend - beae from Republics
PO BOX 31128
Santa Fe, NM 87594

Aaron Political grnail.con> Mon, Jun 27, 2018 at 4124 PM
Tor Nick Passananie’ botilderstrategiasiic.com>
Ce: andrew stoddand : gmail.com>, Angela Ramirez <IN @y mail,com>, Steve Fitzer

gmail.coms
As a standing rule from here out. We will not be Using any images of the house floor in any of our emails.

Bent from my iPhone
Quictad text hidden}

Nick P b i o> Mon, Jun 27, 2016 a1 4:40 PM
Tor Aaron Political railcome
Coiandrew stoddar miiLooms, Angeld Rainires _@gmif.cem>, Bteve Fitzer

inail.coms =
Yep. Re-sentwith & different erop of that headiine to remove.

Nick Passananiy

Founder & Principal

BOULDERSTRATEGIES LLC

{720)432-8743 - Colevado | (202} 599-0194 - 0C

Communications, Messaging and General Stralegy: Www. B eslle i
Full-Service Digital A ising & Website Design: + BoulderShrateglestlC.eomDigital
Onlinie Fundraising & Engagement: www.BolideiStrategiesL LG comyFundraising

Robust Grassroots Fiold Programis: www. ategiestL.CioomiCanvas

Small Business Services: www. fesllC. naiBiz

{Quotad text hidden]

Aaron Political o [@amail.com> Mon, Jun 27, 2016 at 5:32 PM
To:Nick Passanante otiderstrategiesiie.com> 5 E

Ce: antdraw stodda‘; grmail.cons, Angela Ramirez“gmaimﬂma Steve Fitzer

B ool oo |

T just wanted to re-enforce that point,

Sent from my iPhone
fQuiotod text hidden}

Aaron Political: grmail.com> Mon, Jun 27, 2018 at 613 PM
To: Nick Passanante! boulderstrategiasiic.com> s
e andrew stoddard @gmail come, Angela Ramirer -@gmii.coma Steve Fitzer ]

gmail.coms

Also - does Boulder have an understanding of house rules?

hitpsionad RO T 2 Rk RI S T

FYBIY T e drviom mpideq it Vi 1S506b 74 SRR 1359 5
COE.LUJAN. 000617
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From:

Tor

Ce A ; Mason. Gaham
Subject: updated schedule for today Wednesday, June 22, 3018,
Date: Wednesday, June 22, 2016 Hn1&41 AM
Attachments: fatian Ben Calendanics

~ FOR BRL schedule only™

BOSS: please see updated schedule for today Wednesday, June 22, 2018,

»  10:30am- canceled meeting with Kelly ~ Meeting was canceled today because Caucus
meeting time has been extended to till 10:45am.

®  11:30am- Lunch, Please let me know if we need to pick up lunch for you.

s Please review schedule for the day- note you are on the official side today until your
2:30pm POTUS Dinner Prep.

Wednesday, lune 22, 2018

Jure 2016
Su Mo TuWe Th Fr Sa

Bousy Ptentative  FOut of Office Nutside of Working Hours

& Wed, Jun 22

AlfDay  Vates
Before 730 AM  Free
[ | 730 AM-2:00AM  Drive Tin
Lujan, Ben

B 2:00 AM-~92:00 0  BEERESC oaliay

BRL 00014
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| | 9:00 AM - 9:30 AM

| 5:00 AM ~ 10:45 AM

1 1045 AM - 11:00AM
B 1100AM-11:30aM

| 11:30 AM ~ 11:45 AM
B 12:30 AM - 12:00 BM
B 12:00 PM ~ 12:20 PM

12:20 PM~ 12:30 PM

B 12:30 PM ~ 12:45 PM

12:45 PM = 12:50 PM
B 12:50 PM ~ 1:25 PM
| | 1:00 PM = 1:15 PM
i 1125 PM - 1:30 PM
B 1:30 PM - 1:45 PM
| 1:30 PM ~ 2:00 PM
| At 2:00 PM

COE.LUJAN. 000016

12:30 PM - 12:45 PM -

273

- { Street, N.W,

Lujan, Ben

Drlvelime

tujan, Ben

HVC-215

Garcla, Chiis

Frea

Seni . .

H-144

Lujan, Ben . .
BALHQ ‘ ‘
Lufan, Ben

Tungh

=

Lujan, Bén

Mg with fep. 3

H204

Ben Ray Lujfdn

Free

BRL-HO

Gargla, Chris

BRL-HQ

Garcia, Chiis

Fres

P _‘ . N
MWW P, R
Rayburn Room of the Capitol at 12:50 p.m.
Garcla, Cheis
BRL-HG
Lujan, Ben
Fres : ) :
BRL-HQ
Garcla, Chrls
Suaff it
BRL-HQ
Lujan, Ben
£Yis i ] O ; £
PATIENT SAEETY
HY(-215, The Capitol.

BRL 00015
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From: Angela Ramirez

To: Chis. Gary Christing Jones

Ce: Anclrew Stoddand

Subject: Boss heading to floor and then to the 12:30
Date: Wednesday, June 22, 2016 12:13:44 PM

BRL 00049
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Fron Andrew Stoddard

To: Anqels Ramires

Ce: Chas Garica; Chuisting Jones

Subjecty Re: Boss heading o fidoy and then to the 12:30
Date: Wednesday, June 23, 2016 12:37:48 PM

BRL says he will be on the floor for some time.
Sent from my iPhone

> On Jun 22, 2016, 8t 12:13 PM, Angela Ramireg sgriail.cone wrote:
- .

BRL 00051
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From: Christing Jonss

To: Missy Kurek

Cax StellaBoss; Fnance West: Aaron Tryiilie: Nicholas Jordan; Krista Zusgnak; Mary Plasendia
Subject: RE: POTUS preg

Date: Wednasday, June 22, 2016 1:85:00 PM

This is getting canceled now. Boss will stay on the floor.

From: Christina Jones

Sent: Wednesday, June 22, 2016 12:32 PM

Tor Missy Kurek

Ce: Stella Ross; Finance West; Aaron Trujiflo; Nicholas Jordan; Krista Zuzenak; Mary Plasencia
Subject: Re: POTUS prep :

Votes aren't supposed to be called tif after 3pm. Should expect to move Torward with 2230 time.

Sent from my iPhone

On Jun 22, 2016, at 12:30 PM, Missy Krék .a,_m_gam wrote:

if it happens | can be there
Do we think it will happen?

Missy Kurek (315) 372- 00

On Jun 22, 20186, at 12:28 PM, Stella Ross .@mﬁ» wrote:

For 2:30pm ET Prep with BRL today, Krista is able to call in at the
beginning to discuss arrival logistics {see directions emall { just sent youj
and the program.

Following program discussion, we should then discuss BRUs remarks,

We will print hard copies of the program and guest list for the meeting as
well.

' dial for as much as fean.

Thanks all

Call tine:
Diakin Number: {712) 7750
Access Code:

BRL 00064
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ESEI T Oemard - FINAL VERNON: Pwik: Preview Message - Riek Tow < the Figor
Pl A sames Trujitlo <ajxtrujilh iLe
{ aron James Trujilto <sjxtrujilo@gmail.come

FINAL VERSEON Fwd F’rev:ew Message Rich Text Staymg en the Floor

N:ck ulder igsie.coms Wed Jun 22 2036 at
Tou andrew stoddar @grmait.com>; Aaron James Truil WQmad com>, Angela Ramirez
groall.com>, Amir Salehzadeh “@gma; eome
Nick Passanante

Founder & Principal
BOULDERBTRA
{720 432-8743 - Colorado § {2

Commumications, Messaging and General Strategy: w
Full-Sarvice Digltat Advertising & Website Qesigm W
Osline Fundraising & Engagement: v

Small Business Services:

-------- mearded messag& m———

Date. Wed urt 22 2 Bats M By

Supiect Preview Massage - Rich Text - Staying on the Floor
e

Fo

i T s 9% W

(BEN RAY ..

LUJAN

Frisnd

Today 1 join countiess colleagues on the House floor to demand action that will make our
country safer,

Facts matter — and the facts are that right now & suspectad terrarist can go inta a gun
store and purchase a military-style assault rilfle. In what world do we think that's a good
idea?

Signour bk

5 Staying SIS G S I § 59 1

BRLOOOVDZ

THRL_0002
COE.LUJAN, 000644



Ky Republican colleagues would rafhes go on a 4t of July recess before voling on this
timg-sensitive bill. That's why we're o the Houss floor demanding action - this is a matier
of national security,

Encugh is enough — o bill, no break, Fuilt stop. BIGN HERE.

'm a strong believer in our Second Amendment rights to bear arms, but also revognize
that our system is broken when ¥'s 100 easy for a powearful gun t gat in the hands of
someone who wants to hurl us

eariiern wag able

The Orlando shooter, who was interdewed by the FBI just & couple yeal

y-gratle assaull rifle. We cannot alfow this to happen

1

e feg purchase ann AR-15, mi

svEr agan :

Stanclup i you support our sitin,

Ata mintmum, we must come together, put aside our politics, and pass this commornse

THEARLUTE

-

Thank your
Ben Ray

Paid for and authorized by People for Ben.

PO BOX 31120
Santa Fe. NM 87594

soisghe e ey S PR  SOS I S 2
BRLO0ODOZ
THRL_0003
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Gnoi! - FINAL VERSHOM: Fad Proview Message - Riok Toxt - Suaying on

i R % R SERAR B AR

BRLOGOODS

THRL_0004
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2%RNT Graail - FOR AFFROVAL Frevos Messs Fioh Tt~ UPDATE. 2¢ howrs and couning

; i Gma%s Angels Rambrey <ramireS7Bgmatl.com>

FOR APPROVAL: Preview Message - Rich Text - UPDATE: 24 hours and counting

Nick P B0 i Qo Thu, Jun 23 2048 &t 101 AM
Yo Aaeon Politica) enall, goms e
Car andrew stotdand @ninait onm>, Angals Raminss '@gma\icc\ma Stave Fitrer —j_‘aynaﬁx;m-ﬁ

Emal is oud

Secb

et ro-tisak

Ty Entering hatr 24 of B Glousel i, v s siniple

FE: My Demotratic colieagues and § have now besn on the Hovse Soar Raemang the s, daanding 2 vole o the bipartisan N By, No Buy bR Tal Soesker
Ryar and fhe GOP that you stand Wi us. Add yous name beres ¥ el benrig sk

e 0. Do e want e do aa alaroas send on ose? Or hold off 2 duy s g Ul ey

Al 0 just s Hhe DACATARA decision and hava ous emals b
space? Wi send lests shartly regardlass.

Kisk Pasyanante
Founger § Prisgipal
BOULDERSTRATES

1 432- Colorado §

Communicalions, Hessaging and Sensral Stategn v
Full-Servics Digital Advertising & Websits Dasign: woww,
Onliny isiig & e Boyh G
Robust Fiald Frog W, i
Sl Business Sarvices: v B

2 A, g wants

Rarg from my Phore

D dun 23, 2018, a8 10.48 AB, Nick .g aafie. Com> wote:

For fhix moring. See helw

e FOPUBECE TIRESHGE mreeer
From: i ubspot.com>
Date: This, Jay 23, 2015 at 845 AN

Subject: Preview Message - Rich Text » UPDATE: 34 howrs s counling
To bouldersiralagiesiic.com
BEN RAY .
Friond

Ag we pass ie Ve howr ; Washington DG, my Demoeratic colleagies and | have row
besn on the House floor for grester than 24-hours, staging a sitn to demand g vota

e A goig R AU 3 G Yaahis 1576 W

. BRLODOO4S

; THRL_0049
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palivusy gt - FOR APPROWAL. Praview Message - Rich Teat - UPDATE: 24 honst's and cparting

on tha bl-partisan No Fly, No Suy bill,

Despie the fact hat Speaker Ryar has wwrnes off the cameras and e wicrophones, Twil

Do you stand with us? Chip n $24 vids our emergency fundralsing goal - §1 for
every hour we've been in the wall of the House Chamber demanding action.

A momant of slfence on the Houss floor is simply not enough to honor the lives of
those we have losl, We need action o keap guns sut of the bands of suspected lerrarists
and it eging with a vaite nght hera on the House foor,

38 B S

Tell the GOP: It's simpls - No Fly, No Buy. No BIll, No Break. Click to contribute §24
{or whatever you can) right now to show your supporil

As 1said inmy emall last night, this is & matter of national security. We myst soma togather
o pass this commonsensa bill

Thanks for taving our back,

~Ben Ray

i action el wil

v T join courdiess colleagues on e Mouss Roor to &
maks cur country safer,

Facts matter - and the facts are that right now 3 suspected terrorist can go into &

Qun stare and purchase a military-style assault rifie, In what world do we think
that's & good kipa?
Rign our pladae ¥ vou Layuie on the binariisan Mo Fle Mo By hill,
s vt ey vl AR 2o ne & % SRERS Y et 58 dols 2
BRLOUUOSO
THRL_0050

COE.LUJAN. 000652



i3 a matter of national securily.

Enough is enough ~ ne bill, ne break, Full stop. SIGN HERE,

recognizé that our syste
e who wants to fut s,

s of 3

The Ordando shovter, who was interviewed by e FBI just a coupls years sarlise,
wis able to fegally purchass an AR-13, miltary-grade assaulf rifle. We cannol afiow
s 1o happen ever again

sl w3 you sepport o sitdn,

1 a minirean, wa must come fogather, pul Bside our politis, and pass this
CHTONSENss M

Thank you,
Ben Ray

Faid for and awthorized by Pecgle for Ben

POBOX 31129
Banta Fe, NM 8755

BRLOGOOST

THRL_0051
COE.LUJAN. 000693
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FUINT Gral - FOR ARPROVAL Proviaw Knesngs - Fush Yot - UROATE 34 bouts and couehing
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